# MASSACHUSETTS PORT AUTHORITY EMPLOYEES CONTRIBUTORY

RETIREMENT SYSTEM
AUDIT REPORT
JAN. 1, 2016 - DEC. 31, 2020



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Letter from the Executive Director	
Supplementary Information:	
Schedule of Allocation of Investments Owned	3
Administration of the System	4
Board Regulations	4
Actuarial Valuation and Assumptions	5
Membership Exhibit	6
Leased Premises	7
ndependent Audit Reports:	
KPMG, Year Ended December 31, 2020	8
KPMG, Year Ended December 31, 2019	40
KPMG, Year Ended December 31, 2018	73
KPMG, Year Ended December 31, 2017	105
KPMG, Year Ended December 31, 2016	138



#### COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS | PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT ADMINISTRATION COMMISSION

PHILIP Y. BROWN, ESQ., Chair

JOHN W. PARSONS, ESQ., Executive Director

Auditor DIANA DIZOGLIO | KATHLEEN M. FALLON | KATE FITZPATRICK | JAMES J. GUIDO | RICHARD MACKINNON, JR. | JENNIFER F. SULLIVAN, ESQ.

July 6, 2023

The Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission (PERAC) has completed a review of the audits of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' (MassPort) Retirement System conducted by the firm of KPMG LLP, Certified Public Accountants (KPMG). KPMG conducted these audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. The audits covered the period from January 1, 2016, to December 31, 2020.

We conducted an inspection of the work papers prepared by KPMG. We determined that the audits were conducted in a competent professional manner and the work papers demonstrated that audit tests and procedures were performed in sufficient detail to allow us to accept the final audit reports as issued.

We identified specific differences between these financial audits designed to provide an opinion on financial statements and our compliance audits performed in accordance with the accounting and management standards established by PERAC in regulation 840 CMR 25.00 and in compliance with the provisions specified in PERAC Memo #18/2019.

Accordingly, we supplemented the fieldwork conducted in the audits by KPMG with certain limited procedures designed to provide additional assurance that the accounting and management standards established by PERAC were adhered to and complied with. The specific objectives of our review were to determine: I) that the Board is exercising appropriate fiduciary oversight, 2) that cash balances are accurately stated, 3) that procurements of investments complied with 23B and that management fees paid were in accordance with contracts, 4) that travel expenses were properly documented and accounted for, 5) that retirement contributions are accurately deducted, 6) that retirement allowances were correctly calculated, and 7) that required member documentation is maintained.

To achieve these objectives, we inspected certain records of the MassPort Retirement Board in the above areas. Specifically, we reviewed the minutes of the Board meetings for compliance with fiduciary oversight, verified cash balances, examined a sample of investment procurements and recalculated management fees charged. We tested a sample of travel expenses for Board approvals, supporting documentation and proper accounting. We tested the payroll records of a sample of active members to confirm that the correct percentage of regular compensation is being deducted, including the additional two percent over \$30,000. We tested a sample of members who retired







MassPort Audit Report July 6, 2023 Page 2

during our audit period to verify that their retirement allowance was calculated in accordance with the statute. We also reviewed a sample of member files for accuracy and completeness.

In our opinion, the financial records are being maintained and the management functions are being performed in conformity with the standards established by PERAC.

We commend MassPort for the exemplary operation of the system.

It should be noted that the financial statements included in this audit report were based on the work performed by KPMG and the tests conducted for the periods referenced in their opinion. These audits were not performed by employees or representatives of PERAC. It should also be noted that the opinions expressed in these audit reports were based on the laws and regulations in effect at the time.

The financial statements and footnotes presented in this report were limited to the express results as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019, December 31, 2018, December 31, 2017, and December 31, 2016.

In closing, I wish to acknowledge the work of KPMG LLP who conducted these examinations, and the PERAC examiners who conducted limited procedures to supplement the field work and express my appreciation to the MassPort Retirement Board and staff for their courtesy and cooperation.

John W. Parsons, Esq.

**Executive Director** 

#### SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

#### SCHEDULE OF ALLOCATION OF INVESTMENTS OWNED

(percentages by category)

	AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2020		
		PERCENTAGE	
		OF TOTAL	
	MARKET VALUE	ASSETS	
Cash	\$799,771	0.1%	
Equities	15,638,311	1.9%	
Pooled Domestic Equity Funds	218,759,215	27.0%	
Pooled International Equity Funds	238,368,260	29.4%	
Pooled Domestic Fixed Income Funds	221,214,524	27.3%	
Pooled Alternative Investment Funds	63,494,333	7.8%	
Pooled Real Estate Funds	<u>52,881,130</u>	<u>6.5%</u>	
Grand Total	<u>\$811,155,544</u>	100.0%	

For the year ending December 31, 2020, the rate of return for the investments of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System was 16.78%. For the five-year period ending December 31, 2020, the rate of return for the investments of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System averaged 11.21%. For the 36-year period ending December 31, 2020, since PERAC began evaluating the returns of the retirement systems, the rate of return on the investments of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System was 9.24%.

The composite rate of return for all retirement systems for the year ending December 31, 2020 was 12.80%. For the five-year period ending December 31, 2020, the composite rate of return for the investments of all retirement systems averaged 10.38%. For the 36-year period ending December 31, 2020, since PERAC began evaluating the returns of the retirement systems, the composite rate of return on the investments of all retirement systems averaged 9.31%.

#### ADMINISTRATION OF THE SYSTEM

The System is administered by a five-person Board of Retirement consisting of the Secretary-Treasurer of MassPort who shall be a member ex-officio, a second member appointed by the governing authority, a third and fourth member who shall be elected by the members in or retired from the service of such system, and a fifth member appointed by the other four board members.

Ex-officio Member: John P. Pranckevicius

Appointed Member: Michael A. Grieco Serves until a successor is appointed

Elected Member: Betsy Taylor Term Expires: 1/10/2026

Elected Member: Jon Turco Term Expires: 1/10/2026

Appointed Member: James S. Hoyte, Chairperson Term Expires: 1/27/2024

The Board members are required to meet at least once a month. The Board must keep a record of all of its proceedings. The Board must annually submit to the appropriate authority an estimate of the expenses of administration and the cost of operation of the system. The board must annually file a financial statement of condition for the system with the Executive Director of PERAC.

The investment of the system's funds is the responsibility of the Board. All retirement allowances must be approved by the Retirement Board. The PERAC Actuary performs verification prior to payment, unless the system has obtained a waiver for superannuation calculations allowing them to bypass this requirement. All expenses incurred by the System must be approved by a majority vote of the Board. Payments shall be made only upon vouchers signed by two persons designated by the Board.

Retirement board members and employees are bonded by an authorized agent representing a company licensed to do business in Massachusetts. Fidelity insurance is the only required policy coverage under Ch. 32 §21 and §23 as well as 840 CMR 17.01. The policy is designed to cover specific intentional acts such as theft, fraud or embezzlement and also specify who commits such acts, most commonly employees of the system. This coverage reimburses the system for the losses it suffers as a result of its employees' actions. It does not insure the employees for their illegal acts. Statutorily required coverage is provided by the current fidelity insurance policy to a limit of \$3,000,000 with a \$100,000 deductible issued through Hartford Fire Insurance Company.

#### **BOARD REGULATIONS**

The MassPort Retirement Board has adopted Supplemental Regulations which are available on the PERAC website at <a href="https://www.mass.gov/mass-port-authority-retirement-board-regulations">https://www.mass.gov/mass-port-authority-retirement-board-regulations</a>.

#### **ACTUARIAL VALUATION AND ASSUMPTIONS**

The most recent actuarial valuation of the System was prepared by Stone Consulting, Inc. as of January 1, 2022.

The total actuarial liability was *  System assets as of that date were (actuarial value)	\$890,344,117 815,123,599
The unfunded actuarial liability was *	\$ <u>75,220,518</u>
The ratio of system's assets to total actuarial liability was	91.6%
As of that date the total covered employee payroll was	\$107,625,335

The normal cost for employees on that date was 9.88% of payroll The normal cost for the employer (including expenses) was 1.15% of payroll

The principal actuarial assumptions used in the valuation are as follows:

Investment Return: 6.75% per annum Rate of Salary Increase: 4.25% per annum

#### SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS AS OF JANUARY 1, 2022

Actuarial Valuation Date	Actuarial Value of Assets (a)	Actuarial Accrued Liability (b)	Unfunded AAL (UAAL) ( b-a )	Funded Ratio (a/b)	Covered Payroll ( c )	UAAL as a % of Cov. Payroll ( (b-a)/c )
1/1/2022	\$815,123,599	\$890,344,117	\$75,220,518	91.6%	\$107,625,335	69.9%
1/1/2021	\$744,137,258	\$781,431,022	\$37,293,764	95.2%	\$121,713,779	30.6%
1/1/2020	\$681,448,719	\$727,919,961	\$46,471,242	93.6%	\$123,193,742	37.7%
1/1/2019	\$645,818,828	\$677,247,590	\$31,428,762	95.4%	\$114,017,778	27.6%
1/1/2018	\$623,436,483	\$671,450,058	\$48,013,575	92.8%	\$110,221,357	43.6%

<sup>\*</sup> Calculated using the Frozen entry Age Cost Method basis. The funding method does not explicitly calculate an actuarial accrued liability. The actuarial accrued liability is calculated as the sum of the frozen initial unfunded liability plus the actual value of assets.

#### **MEMBERSHIP EXHIBIT**

	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020
Retirement in Past Years										
Superannuation	51	31	34	39	40	40	59	44	28	83
Ordinary Disability	0	I	I	0	0	I	0	2	0	0
Accidental Disability	1	0	4	0	3	1	1	2	I	0
Total Retirements	52	32	39	39	43	42	60	48	29	83
Total Retirees, Beneficiaries			,0,	400	740	770	770	004	070	020
and Survivors	630	655	686	698	749	779	779	884	872	930
Total Active Members	1,194	1,130	1,161	1,191	1,245	1,268	1,288	1,304	1,348	1,263
Pension Payments										
Superannuation	\$12,875,081	\$14,048,139	\$14,938,845	\$15,881,245	\$17,084,550	\$18,315,064	\$20,138,457	\$21,932,761	\$23,156,611	\$23,878,659
Survivor/Beneficiary Payments	1,594,931	1,770,145	1,916,187	2,006,878	2,164,704	2,268,580	2,330,781	2,394,483	2,543,179	2,794,428
Ordinary Disability	144,152	139,922	138,631	141,323	143,933	181,881	165,329	214,867	223,773	226,947
Accidental Disability	1,609,131	1,677,194	1,863,612	1,885,632	1,972,501	2,073,312	2,085,320	2,053,354	2,083,610	2,036,972
Other	259,714	296,073	328,375	346,291	413,617	550,830	641,629	628,293	678,270	600,727
Total Payments for Year	\$ <u>16,483,009</u>	\$ <u>17,931,473</u>	\$ <u>19,185,649</u>	\$ <u>20,261,369</u>	\$ <u>21,779,305</u>	\$ <u>23,389,667</u>	\$ <u>25,361,515</u>	\$ <u>27,223,757</u>	\$ <u>28,685,443</u>	\$ <u>29,537,732</u>

#### **LEASED PREMISES**

The MassPort Retirement Board leases space for its offices located at Suite 102, One Harborside Drive in East Boston. They signed an initial five-year lease which expired on May 31, 2019. The lease was extended commencing June 1, 2019 and ending May 31, 2024. The landlord is the Massachusetts Port Authority.

The following schedule displays the minimum lease obligations on non-cancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2020:

For the year ending:	<b>Annual Rent</b>
2021	\$ 294,734
2022	303,169
2023	311,956
2024 through May	<u>132,813</u>
Total future minimum lease payments required	<u>\$1,042,672</u>



Financial Statements, Required Supplementary Information, and Other Supplementary Information

December 31, 2020 and 2019

(With Independent Auditors' Report Thereon)

Financial Statements, Required Supplementary Information, and Other Supplementary Information

December 31, 2020 and 2019

#### **Table of Contents**

	Page(s
Independent Auditors' Report	1-2
Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)	3-9
Financial Statements:	
Statements of Fiduciary Net Position	10
Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position	11
Notes to Financial Statements	12-24
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)	
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension (Asset) Liability and Related Ratios	25
Schedule of Investment Returns	26
Schedule of Contributions	27
Notes to the Schedule of Contributions	28
Other Supplementary Information	
Schedule of Administrative Expenses	29
Schedule of Investment Expenses and Payments to Consultants	30



KPMG LTP Two Financial Center 80 South Street Boston, MA 02111

#### Independent Auditors' Report

The Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System Board:

#### Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System (the Plan) as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Plan's basic financial statements for the years then ended as listed in the accompanying table of contents.

#### Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

#### Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

#### Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Plan as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the changes in its financial position for the years then ended in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.



#### Other Matters

#### Required Supplementary Information

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that the management's discussion and analysis on pages 3 through 9 and the supplementary schedules of changes in net pension (asset) liability and related ratios, investment returns, contributions and notes to the schedule of contributions on pages 25 through 28 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

#### Supplementary and Other Information

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively comprise the Plan's basic financial statements. The schedules of administrative expenses and investment expenses and payments to consultants on pages 29 and 30 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The schedules of administrative expenses and investment expenses and payments to consultants are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedules of administrative expenses and investment expenses and payments to consultants are fairly stated in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

#### Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated April 21, 2021 on our consideration of the Plan's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on **the effectiveness of the Plan's** internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the Plan's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.



Boston, Massachusetts April 21, 2021

Required Supplementary Information

#### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2020 and 2019 (Unaudited)

This section presents Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System's (MPAERS or the Plan) financial activity and performance as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. The MD&A is unaudited and is intended to serve as an introduction to the Plan's basic financial statements, as well as to offer readers of the Plan's financial statements a narrative view and analysis of MPAERS' financial activities.

#### **Financial Highlights**

The fiduciary net position of the Plan as of December 31, 2020 totaled \$819.2 million, a \$103 million, or 14.4% increase, due to positive returns in all major asset classes. Fiduciary net position is the residual of the Plan's assets in excess of the Plan's liabilities as of the date of the Statements of Fiduciary Net Position. The Plan's assets are held in trust to meet future benefit payments.

**Total Plan "additions" of \$**142.4 million, comprised of \$29.1 million in contributions and transfers, and \$113.3 million in investment gains, were achieved for the year ended December 31, 2020. In comparison, the Plan experienced total additions of \$146.1 million and \$(5.1) million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The decrease in 2020 is primarily due to a reduction in investment gains and net transfers from other retirement systems as compared to the previous year. The increase in 2019 Plan additions is due to substantial investment gains as compared to the losses of 2018.

For the plan year ended December 31, 2020, total Plan deductions were \$39.5 million, an increase of \$2.0 million, or 5.2% over the last year, and are comprised of \$36.6 million in benefit payments, \$1.7 in transfers and withdrawals and \$1.2 million in administrative expenses. This \$2.0 million increase is primarily due to new retirements. This is compared to total deductions of \$37.5 million and \$35.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

For reporting purposes in accordance with the Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB), as of December 31, 2020, the Plan's fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability was 103,7%. As required by the Plan's charter, for funding purposes the Plan uses the Frozen-Entry-Age-Normal actuarial method which differs from that prescribed by GASB. Under the Frozen-Entry-Age-Normal method, the funded ratio of the plan as of January 1, 2020, was 93.6%.

#### Overview of the Financial Statements

The basic financial statements consist of the (1) Statements of Fiduciary Net Position; (2) Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position; (3) Notes to the Financial Statements; (4) Required Supplementary Information; and (5) Other Supplementary Information.

The Statements of Fiduciary Net Position report the Plan's assets, liabilities, and net position restricted for pensions at the end of the fiscal year calculated using the following formula: Assets — Liabilities = Net position restricted for pensions. The Statements of Fiduciary Net Position report the financial position of the Plan at a given point in time, in this case, December 31. Over time, the increase or decrease in fiduciary net position serves as a useful indicator of the Plan's financial health.

3

Required Supplementary Information

#### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2020 and 2019 (Unaudited)

The Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position report additions to and deductions from the Plan during the fiscal year. The formula here is, Additions – Deductions = Net Increase (Decrease) in Plan Fiduciary Net Position. The Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position report activity occurring over a specific period of time, in this case, the year beginning January 1 and ending December 31.

The Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the Plan's financial statements.

The Required Supplementary Information following the Notes to the Financial Statements consists of the schedules of changes in net pension (asset) liability and related ratios, investment returns, contributions and notes to schedule of contributions.

Other Supplementary Information details schedules of administrative expenses, investment expenses, and payments to consultants.

These statements and schedules are prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, including the accounting and financial reporting requirements found in GASB Statement No. 67.

#### **Financial Analysis**

Total assets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 were \$820.3 million and \$717.2 million, respectively, and were comprised of cash and cash equivalents; investments; accrued interest and accrued dividends receivables; and contributions due from Plan members, the Plan sponsor and other systems. Total assets increased by \$103.1 million or 14.4% from \$717.2 million as of December 31, 2019, due to investment gains in all major asset classes. Total assets increased by \$108.7 million or 17.9% from \$608.5 million between 2018 and 2019 also due to investment gains in all major asset classes.

Total liabilities as of December 31, 2020 were approximately \$1.2 million and total liabilities as of December 31, 2019 were approximately \$1.0 million. Total liabilities for 2020 were primarily comprised of payables for investment management fees, refunds to members, and payables to other state retirement plans. In 2019 total liabilities were also primarily comprised of payables for investment management fees, refunds to members and payables to other state retirement plans.

Total fiduciary net position held in trust for pension benefits totaled \$819.2 million which represents an increase of \$103 million or 14.4% over 2019. Fiduciary net position increased by \$108.5 million or 17.9% between 2018 and 2019. The increase in 2020 and 2019 are due to investment gains in all major asset classes.

Required Supplementary Information

#### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2020 and 2019 (Unaudited)

		2020	2019	Total \$ change	Total % change
Assets:					
Cash and	cash equivalents	\$ 799,771	1,198,283	(398,512)	(33.3)%
Investmen	its	810,355,773	713,727,317	96,628,456	13.5
Receivable	es	9,194,094	2,314,320	6,879,774	297.3
	Total assets	820,349,638	717,239,920	103,109,718	14.4
Liabilities:					
Payables		1,190,531	1,039,382	151,149	14.5
	Total liabilities	1,190,531	1,039,382	151,149	14.5
	Fiduciary net position	\$ 819,159,107	716,200,538	102,958,569	14.4 %

#### Condensed financial information

		2019	2018	Total \$ change	Total % change
Assets:					
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	1,198,283	515,799	682,484	132.3 %
Investments		713,727,317	605,931,824	107,795,493	17.8
Receivables		2,314,320	2,045,028	269,292	13.2
Total assets	-	717,239,920	608,492,651	108,747,269	17.9
Liabilities:					
Payables		1,039,382	815,859	223,523	27.4
Total liabilities		1,039,382	815,859	223,523	27.4
Fiduciary net position	\$_	716,200,538	607,676,792	108,523,746	17.9 %

#### Revenues - Additions to Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Additions to MPAERS' Fiduciary net position include plan member and plan sponsor contributions, transfers from other retirement systems and net investment gains. Contributions, net transfers and net investment gains for plan year 2020 totaled approximately \$142.4 million as compared to a net addition of approximately \$146.1 million in 2019.

5

Required Supplementary Information

#### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2020 and 2019 (Unaudited)

In 2020, member contributions increased by approximately \$524,000 or 4.2% due to the addition of new employees and the accrual of outstanding prior service buybacks. In 2019, member contributions increased by approximately \$1.0 million or 8.8% also due to the addition of new employees and the accrual of outstanding prior service buybacks.

Plan sponsor contributions of \$14.6 million increased by \$2.6 million or 21.7%, compared to a decrease of \$1.0 million or 7.8% in 2019. Both the increase in 2020 and decrease in 2019 in the Annual Required Employer Contribution (ARC) is due to fluctuations in funding requirements as determined by the Plan's actuary. Fluctuations in plan sponsor contributions are partially due to the incremental accrual by the Plan's actuary of market gains and losses over multiple years as well as changes to actuarial assumptions including mortality and interest rates.

Net investment income for the year ending December 31, 2020 was \$113.3 million representing a \$4.9 million or 4.2% decrease from 2019. The decrease in investment income in 2020 is due to a reduction in investment gains as compared to the previous year. Net investment income for the year ending December 31, 2019 was \$118.2 million representing a \$149.4 million or 478.8% increase from 2018. The increase in net investment gains in 2019 is the result of investment gains in all major asset classes.

#### Condensed financial information

Additions		2020	2019	Total \$ change	Total % change
Plan member contributions	\$	13,100,494	12,576,329	524,165	4.2 %
Plan sponsor contribution		14,641,803	12,029,098	2,612,705	21.7
Net transfers		1,373,043	3,223,099	(1,850,056)	(57.4)
Net investment gain (loss)	- 2	113,320,740	118,234,705	(4,913,965)	(4.2)
Total additions	\$	142,436,080	146,063,231	(3,627,151)	(2.5)%

#### Condensed financial information

Additions		2019	2018	Total \$ change	Total % change
Plan member contributions	\$	12,576,329	11,559,077	1,017,252	8.8 %
Plan sponsor contribution		12,029,098	13,043,069	(1,013,971)	(7.8)
Net transfers		3,223,099	1,499,370	1,723,729	115.0
Net investment gain (loss)	_	118,234,705	(31,212,130)	149,446,835	478.8
Total additions	\$_	146,063,231	(5,110,614)	151,173,845	2,958.0 %

6

Required Supplementary Information

#### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2020 and 2019 (Unaudited)

#### Expenses - Deductions from Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Deductions to the Plan include the payment of pension benefits to members and beneficiaries, refunds of contributions to inactive members, transfers of member contributions to other Massachusetts public retirement plans and the cost of administration. For plan year 2020, the total deductions were \$39.5 million, an increase of \$2.0 million or 5.2% over 2019. For plan year 2019, the total deductions were \$37.5 million, an increase of \$1.8 million or 5.0% over 2018.

Retirement benefit payments totaled \$36.6 million, an increase of approximately \$1.2 million or 3.5%. In 2019 retirement benefit payments totaled \$35.4 million, an increase of approximately \$1.7 million or 5.1% from the previous year. The increases in 2020 and 2019 are primarily due to new retirements but are also, to a lesser extent, attributed to cost-of-living adjustments granted in those respective years.

For plan year 2020, withdrawals by inactive members totaled approximately \$1.0 million, an increase of approximately \$513,000 or 96.2%. For plan year 2019, withdrawals by inactive members totaled approximately \$534,000, a decrease of approximately \$134,000 or 20.0%. The increase in 2020 is due to more inactive members, who may have been experiencing financial impacts related to the COVID-19 pandemic, withdrawing their contributions from the Plan. The decrease in 2019 is due to less inactive members seeking plan distributions. Transfers to other Massachusetts public retirement systems totaled approximately \$653,000, an increase of approximately \$241,000 or 58.5% from 2019. This is compared to a \$142,000 or 52.6% increase in transfers from 2018 to 2019. Year to year changes in transfer rates can be attributed to variations in public sector workforce movement between Massport and other government employers.

In 2020, administrative expenses totaled approximately \$1.2 million, a decrease of approximately \$63,000 or 5.2%, and in 2019 administrative expenses totaled approximately \$1.2 million, an increase of approximately \$34,000 or 2.8%. The decrease in administrative expenses for 2020 are due to a few COVID-19 pandemic related staff benefit reductions as well as lower professional services costs and communication, education and equipment expenses. The increase in administrative expenses in 2019 is due to increases in staff benefit costs, rent and equipment fees.

Condensed financial infort	nation
----------------------------	--------

Deductions		2020	2019	Total \$ change	Total % change
Retirement benefits	\$	36,624,674	35,377,808	1,246,866	3.5 %
Withdrawals by inactive members		1,047,163	533,670	513,493	96.2
Transfers to other state retirement	nt	653,203	412,233	240,970	58.5
Administrative expenses		1,152,471	1,215,774	(63,303)	(5.2)
Total deductions	\$_	39,477,511	37,539,485	1,938,026	5.2 %

Required Supplementary Information

#### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2020 and 2019 (Unaudited)

Condensed financial information

Deductions	2019	2018	Total \$ change	Total % change
Retirement benefits	\$ 35,377,808	33,648,705	1,729,103	5.1 %
Withdrawals by inactive members Transfers to other state retirement	533,670	667,246	(133,576)	(20.0)
plans	412,233	270,225	142,008	52.6
Administrative expenses	1,215,774	1,182,153	33,621	2.8
Total deductions	\$ 37,539,485	35,768,329	1,771,156	5.0 %

#### Changes in Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Changes in fiduciary net position as of December 31, 2020 were \$103.0 million, which represents a decrease of \$5.6 million or 5.1% from 2019. This decrease is primarily the result of investment gains combined with decreases in transfers from other systems and investment income. Changes in fiduciary net position as of December 31, 2019 were \$108.5 million, which represents an increase of \$149.4 million or 365.5% from 2018. This increase is primarily the result of investment gains in all major asset classes.

	C	condensed finan	cial information		
Changes in plan fiduciary net position		2020	2019	Total \$ change	Total % change
Total additions	\$	142,436,080	146,063,231	(3,627,151)	(2)
Total deductions	-	39,477,511	37,539,485	1,938,026	5
Change in plan					
fiduciary net position	\$_	102,958,569	108,523,746	(5,565,177)	(5.1)%
Fiduciary net position	\$	819,159,107	716,200,538	102,958,569	14.4 %

8

Required Supplementary Information

#### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2020 and 2019 (Unaudited)

		Condensed finan	cial information		
Changes In plan fiduciary net position		2019	2018	Total \$ change	Total % change
Total additions Total deductions	\$	146,063,231 37,539,485	(5,110,614) 35,768,329	151,173,845 1,771,158	2,958 5
Change in plan fiduciary net position	5_	108,523,746	(40,878,943)	149,402,689	365.5 %
Fiduciary net position	\$	716,200,538	607,676,792	108,523,746	17.9 %

#### **Overall Financial Position of MPAERS**

Due to investment gains in all major asset classes the Plan has experienced an increase in its investment portfolio for the year ending December 31, 2020. Management believes the Plan remains well funded and able to meet its obligations. As plan sponsor, the Massachusetts Port Authority bears the investment risk. When plan net position declines, the plan sponsor is statutorily obligated to offset the losses to fund the Plan's actuarially determined annual assessment.

#### **MPAERS Replacement Plan and Trust**

The MPAERS Board established the MPAERS Replacement Plan and Trust (the Replacement Plan) in 2012 to comply with Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Code. The Replacement Plan will provide benefits that cannot be provided under a qualified plan due to the limits of Section 415 on contributions and benefits. There were no benefits paid from the Replacement Plan in 2020 and 2019.

#### Subsequent Event

The COVID-19 pandemic and related restrictions have had adverse effects on the plan sponsor's business activities and revenues. Subsequent to year-end, the plan sponsor reduced its workforce by approximately 16.4% through a voluntary and involuntary separation program. The effect of this workforce reduction on the Plan's financial statements will continue to be evaluated and is not known at this time.

#### Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide an overview of MPAERS' finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report should be addressed to Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System, One Harborside Drive, Suite 200S, East Boston, MA 02128.

Statements of Fiduciary Net Position December 31, 2020 and 2019

	16	2020	2019
Assets:			
Cash and cash equivalents	S	799,771	1,198,283
Investments, at fair value:			
Common stocks		15,638,311	19,899,875
Commingled funds:		0/0 750 015	
Domestic equity		218,759,215	171,812,798
Fixed income		221,214,524	217,630,503
International equity		238,368,260	204,197,155
Real estate		52,881,130	52,556,104
Private Equity		63,494,333	47,630,882
Total investments, at fair value		810,355,773	713,727,317
Receivables:			
Plan member contributions		291,616	649,571
Plan sponsor contributions		7,320,900	-
Accrued interest and dividends		18,610	18,839
Other state retirement plans		1,537,112	1,482,138
Receivable for securities sold		20,963	134,502
Other		4,893	29,270
Total receivables	_	9,194,094	2,314,320
Total plan assets		820,349,638	717,239,920
Liabilities:			
Payables to other state retirement plans		679,031	622,838
Payable for securities purchased			43,041
Other payables		511,500	373,503
Total plan liabilities		1,190,531	1,039,382
Net position restricted for pensions	\$	819,159,107	716,200,538

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position Fiscal years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

	- 2	2020	2019
Additions:			
Contributions:			
Plan members	\$	13,100,494	12,576,329
Plan sponsor		14,641,803	12,029,098
Total contributions		27,742,297	24,605,427
Intergovernmental			
Transfers from other state retirement plans		173,112	2,395,964
Section 3(8)(c) transfers, net	_	1,199,931	827,135
Net intergovernmental	2	1,373,043	3,223,099
Investment income			
Interest and dividends		10,359,510	13,995,930
Net appreciation in fair value of investments		105,605,765	106,765,728
Less management and related fees	- 2	(2,644,535)	(2,526,953)
Net investment income		113,320,740	118,234,705
Total additions		142,436,080	146,063,231
Deductions:			
Retirement benefits		36,624,674	35,377,808
Withdrawals by inactive members		1.047,163	533,670
Transfers to other state retirement plans		653,203	412,233
Administrative expenses	-	1,152,471	1,215,774
Total deductions		39,477,511	37,539,485
Change in fiduciary net position		102,958,569	108,523,746
Net position restricted for pensions.			
Beginning of year		716,200,538	607,676,792
End of year	\$	819,159,107	716,200,538

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2020 and 2019

#### (1) Plan Description

The Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System (the Plan) is a single employer plan established on July 18, 1978, effective January 1, 1979, by enactment of Chapter 487 (an amendment to Chapter 32) of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts to provide retirement benefits for substantially all employees of the Massachusetts Port Authority (the Authority), and incidental benefits for their surviving spouses, beneficiaries and contingent annuitants. Prior to this enactment, Authority employees were members of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Contributory Retirement System and the funding of the pension liability was on a "pay-as-you-go" method. Pursuant to this enactment, the employees' then present rights and benefits were transferred to the new retirement system. The Plan is a contributory defined benefit plan to which the Authority and its employees contribute such amounts as are necessary to provide assets sufficient to meet benefits to be paid to plan participants. The Plan is administered by the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System Board (the Board), consisting of five members including one ex-officio member, two elected members, one member appointed by the Massachusetts Port Authority and one member appointed by the other four board members.

At January 1, 2020 and 2019, the Plan's membership consisted of:

	2020	2019
Retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits	872	858
Inactive members entitled to benefits but not yet		
receiving them	74	68
Current members:		
Active	1,348	1,304
Inactive	169	146
Total membership	2,463	2,376

Benefits are paid by the Plan from plan assets available for plan benefits. Plan participants are entitled at normal retirement age to benefit payments based upon length of service and earnings levels. Vesting occurs after 10 years of service.

Benefits to participants who retired prior to January 1, 1979 are paid by the Massachusetts State Board of Retirement. The Massachusetts State Board of Retirement is reimbursed for all such benefits paid after December 31, 1978 as these benefits represent obligations of the Plan.

Under Chapter 32, Section 3(8) (c), of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts (Chapter 32), the Plan is reimbursed for benefits paid to participants entitled to receive benefits for previous participation in other Massachusetts Chapter 32 plans. The Plan is also obligated to pay a proportionate share of benefits to participants entitled to receive benefits for subsequent participation in other Massachusetts Chapter 32 plans.

Also under Chapter 32, for members leaving the Authority's employment to work for other Massachusetts governmental units, the Plan transfers their accumulated account balances and creditable service to the

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2020 and 2019

retirement system of the new employer. Other such retirement systems are in turn required to make comparable transfers to the Plan for employees coming to work for the Authority.

Optional payment methods may be elected, including the contingent annultant method which provides for reduced payments during the life of the plan participant and continued payments to the participant's beneficiary after the death of the participant.

#### (2) Contributions Required and Contributions Made

Contributions are made by the Authority based on amounts required to be funded as determined by annual actuarial valuations and are designed to fund the Plan on a level cost basis, as a percentage of pay, over the average remaining working lifetime of the active participants and to fund operating costs of the Plan. For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, the Authority was required to contribute to the Plan \$14,641,803, \$12,029,098, and \$13,043,069, respectively. The balance of contribution receivable was \$7,320,900 and \$0 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Authority bears the risk that plan assets might decline due to fluctuations in the fair value of the Plan's investments and contributions by the Authority will increase.

Employees who became members prior to January 1, 1975 contribute 5% of their regular compensation through payroll deductions. Employees whose membership commenced on or after January 1, 1975 but prior to January 1, 1984 contribute 7%. Those employees whose membership began on or after January 1, 1984 but prior to July 1, 1996 contribute 8%. Employees hired after July 1, 1996 contribute 9% of their regular compensation. Employees who are hired after December 31, 1978 contribute an additional 2% of regular compensation over \$30,000. Employee contributions accumulate and, subject to certain restrictions set forth in Chapter 32, are refundable to employees upon termination of employment by the Authority or payable to another retirement system should the employee transfer to another government unit covered by Chapter 32 of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

Contributions totaling \$27,742,297 (\$14,641,803 employer and \$13,100,494 employee) and \$24,605,427 (\$12,029,098 employer and \$12,576,329 employee) were recognized by the Plan for plan years 2020 and 2019, respectively.

#### (3) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

#### (a) Basis of Accounting

These financial statements have been prepared with an "economic resources" measurement focus on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with generally accepted governmental accounting principles.

#### (b) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on deposit, and highly liquid short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

#### (c) Investment Valuation

Investments are reported at fair value. Securities traded on a national or international securities exchange are valued at the last reported sales price on the last business day of the plan year.

13

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2020 and 2019

investments traded on a national securities exchange for which no sale was reported on that date and investments in common and preferred stocks traded in over-the-counter markets are valued at the mean of the last reported bid and asked prices, or the last reported bid price. Mutual funds and commingled funds, including real estate and private equity investments, are valued based on net asset value (NAV) or unit value at year-end. Changes in fair value are included in investment income in the statement of changes in fiduciary net position:

#### (d) Contributions

Employer contributions are recognized when legally due. Member contributions are recognized by the Plan as compensation is earned by the Authority's employees.

#### (e) Retirement Benefits

Retirement benefits and refunds are recorded when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the Plan.

#### (f) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of additions and deductions during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from estimates. Fair values of real estate and private equity holdings are generally estimated absent readily available fair values, and such estimates may be materially different than values that would have been used if a ready market existed.

#### (g) Other

Purchases and sales of securities are reflected on a trade-date basis. Gain or loss on sales of securities is based on average cost.

Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date. Interest income is recorded as earned on an accrual basis. Income from venture capital limited partnerships is recorded using the equity method of accounting.

The Plan presents in its Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position the net appreciation in the fairvalue of its investments, which consists of the net realized gains and losses during the year and the change in unrealized appreciation and depreciation during the year on those investments.

#### (h) Investment Policy

The provisions of Massachusetts General Laws (M.G.L.) Chapter 32, Section 23(2) and the Board approved investment policy govern the Plan's investment practice.

Diversification is attained through varied investment management styles that comply with Massachusetts state law. This is accomplished through the retention of investment managers that adhere to M.G.L. Chapter 32, Section 23(3), the "Prudent Person" rule:

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2020 and 2019

The Plan has retained an investment consultant to work with the Board in a fiduciary capacity to assure that strategic investment diversification is attained, to employ investment managers with expertise in their respective asset classes, and to closely monitor the implementation and performance of the respective investment strategies.

The Plan is currently invested in stocks (domestic and international), fixed income securities (domestic and international), real estate and private equity

The target allocation for each major asset class is summarized in the following table:

Asset class	Target allocation
Domestic equity	27.50 %
International equity	27.50
Fixed income	30.00
Real estate	7.50
Private equity	7.50
Total	100.00 %

The Board's current rebalancing policy states that "The Board shall rebalance to the established targets during the quarter following the quarter ended whenever the asset class allocation falls outside the allowable ranges."

#### (4) Deposit and Investment Risks

The following discusses the Plan's exposure to common deposit and investment risks related to custodial credit, credit, concentration of credit, interest rate and foreign currency risks as of December 31, 2020 and 2010

#### (a) Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a failure of a depository financial institution, the Plan deposits may not be returned. Investment securities are exposed to custodial credit risk if the securities are uninsured, are not registered in the name of the Plan and are held by either the depository financial institution or the depository financial institution's trust department or agent but not in the Plan's name.

Although there is no Plan-wide policy for custodial credit risk associated with deposits, the Plan's investments are held by the Plan's custodian and registered in the Plan's name. All of the Plan's securities are held by the Plan's custodial bank in the Plan's name, except for investments in mutual and commingled funds, real estate properties, and limited partnerships, which by their nature, are not required to be categorized. Investments in the Short-Term Investment Funds (STIF) are held in a SEC-registered pooled fund that is managed by the master custodian bank. The fair value of the position in the pool equals the value of the pool shares.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2020 and 2019

#### (b) Credit Risk

Credit risk exists when there is a possibility the issuer or other counterparty to an investment may be unable to fulfill its obligations.

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the System's fixed income investments totaled \$221,214,524 and \$217,630,503, respectively. These investments are split between two commingled funds. Both funds are not rated

There are no Plan-wide policy limitations for credit risk exposures within the portfolio. The Plan's two fixed income investments are managed in accordance with an investment contract that is specific as to permissible credit quality ranges and the average credit quality of the overall portfolio.

#### (c) Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss that may be attributed to the magnitude of a government's investment in a single issuer. The Plan has no investments, at fair value, that exceed 5% of the Plan's total investments as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 other than pooled investments.

#### (d) Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. This risk is managed within the portfolio using the effective duration methodology. It is widely used in the management of fixed income portfolios in that it quantifies to a much greater degree the risk of interest rate changes. While there are no Plan-wide policy limitations as to the degree of interest rate risk taken, the Plan's one actively managed fixed income portfolio has guidelines which specify that the average duration of the Portfolio ranges between plus or minus 1.5 years of the average duration of the Bloomberg Barclays US Aggregate Bond Index. The other fixed income portfolio is in a passive index fund and the investment objective of this fund is to match the return of the Bloomberg Barclays US Aggregate Bond Index. It is believed that the reporting of effective duration found in the tables below quantifies to the fullest extent possible the interest rate risk of the Plan's fixed income assets.

#### Interest rate sensitivity – effective duration December 31, 2020

		Fair value	Effective duration (in yrs.)
Fixed income:	-	101 202 200	1000
Commingled fund – actively managed	\$	163,807,809	6.35
Commingled fund – passively managed	-	57,406,715	6.23
Total	\$_	221,214,524	

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2020 and 2019

#### Interest rate sensitivity – effective duration December 31, 2019

	Fair value	duration (in yrs.)
Fixed income:		
Commingled fund - actively managed	\$ 152,782,687	6.00
Commingled fund – passively managed	64,847,816	5.88
Total	\$ 217,630,503	

#### (e) Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely impact the fair value of an investment. From time to time, the Plan's external managers may or may not hedge the portfolio's foreign currency exposures with currency forward contracts depending on their views on a specific foreign currency relative to the U.S. dollar. While there are no Plan-wide policy limitations related to foreign currency risk, the Plan will not manage currency as a separate asset class or enter into speculative currency positions in its portfolios, except as it relates to specific cross-hedging activity, which may be permitted in certain investment manager guidelines. While the System has no investments denominated in foreign currencies, the following represents the investments denominated in U.S. dollars that can be subject to fluctuations in foreign currencies:

Currency		2020	2019	
International equity pooled funds (various currencies)	\$	238,368,260	204,197,155	

#### (f) Rate of Return

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the annual money weighted rate of return on plan investments, net of plan investment expenses was 16.14% and 19.64%, respectively. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance net of investment expenses adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

#### (g) Fair Value Hierarchy

GAAP establishes a fair value hierarchy for investments that prioritizes inputs used to measure fair value into three levels:

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for assets or liabilities;

Level 2 – observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted in active markets, but corroborated by market data;

Level 3 - unobservable inputs that are used when little or no market data is available,

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2020 and 2019

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs and the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs. In determining fair value, the Plan utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible.

Investments held through commingled funds for which fair value is estimated using net asset values (NAVs) as a practical expedient are not categorized in the fair value hierarchy

The Plan uses an independent pricing source to determine the fair value of investments at quoted market prices.

The Plan has the following fair value measurements as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:

			202	.0	
	-	Fair Value	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
Investments by fair value level:					
Equities	\$	15,638,311	15,638,311		
		15,638,311	15,638,311		
Investments measured at NAV:					
Commingled equity funds:					
Large Cap		202,870,808			
Small Cap		15,888,407			
International		238,368,260			
Commingled fixed income funds:					
Aggregate		57,406,715			
Core Bond	-	163,807,809			
		678,341,999			
Other investments at fair value:					
PRIT real estate fund		52,881,130			
PRIT private equity	1.6	63,494,333			
		116,375,463			
Total investments	\$	810,355,773	15,638,311		
			1		

18

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2020 and 2019

			201	9	
		Fair Value	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
Investments by fair value level:					
Equities	\$	19,899,875	19,899,875		
		19,899,875	19,899,875		
investments measured at NAV:					
Commingled equity funds:					
Large Cap		151,888,819			
Small Cap		19,923,979			
International		204, 197, 155			
Commingled fixed income funds	0				
Aggregate		64,847,816			
Core Bond	1	152,782,687			
		593,640,456			
Other investments at fair value:					
PRIT real estate fund		52,556,104			
PRIT private equity	,_	47,630,882			
		100,186,986			
Total investments	\$	713,727,317	19,899,875		C

The Plan categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. Equity securities classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in active markets for those securities. The Plan has no securities classified in Level 2 or Level 3.

The PRIT real estate and private equity funds are external investment pools that are not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission, but are subject to oversight by the Pension Reserves Investment Management Board (the PRIM Board). The PRIM Board was created by legislation to provide general supervision of the investments and management of PRIT. The PRIT real estate and private equity funds are not rated funds. The fair value of the PRIT real estate and private equity funds are based on unit value as reported by management of the PRIT funds. The PRIT funds issue separately available audited financial statements with a year-end of June 30. The Plan is required to provide a 24-hour redemption notice for the PRIT Real Estate fund. The PRIT Private Equity fund is not redeemable until notified by the PRIM Board.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2020 and 2019

The following represents the significant investment strategies and terms on which the Plan may redeem investments for those investments measured at the NAV (or its equivalent) as a practical expedient:

	Investments Measured at NAV							
	2020	2019	Redemption Frequency	Redemption Natice Period				
Commingled equity funds <sup>1</sup> Commingled fixed income	457,127,475	376,009,953	Daily to Thrice Monthly	1-30 days				
funds <sup>2</sup>	221,214,524	217,630,503	Daily	1-30 days				

- 1 Commingled equity funds: This type includes 5 funds that invest primarily in U.S. large and small cap equity funds and international equity funds.
- 2 Commingled fixed income funds: This type includes 2 fixed income funds that invest in U.S. corporate bonds, U.S. government bonds, U.S. asset-backed securities and foreign bonds.

#### (5) Operating Expenses

The Plan's administrative expenses as shown on the Statements of Changes in Plan Fiduciary Net Position are borne by the Plan and financed with investment income. These expenses include personnel and professional services, member communication and education, and other miscellaneous administrative expenses. Operating expenses are billed back to the Authority dollar for dollar as part of the annual assessment.

#### (6) General Termination Policy

Under Chapter 465, Section 25 of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts, in the event of dissolution of the Authority by the General Court, participants of the Plan who do not transfer to or enter service in a governmental plan in which a contributory retirement system was established under Chapter 32 shall continue as a member of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System and shall be entitled to benefits as outlined in the Plan. Effective upon the date of dissolution of the Authority, or default of its obligations under Chapter 32 of the General Laws, benefits to be paid to participants would become obligations of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2020 and 2019

#### (7) Legally Required Reserve Accounts

The balances in the Plan's legally required reserves at December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

All reserve accounts are funded at levels required by state statute

		2020	2019	Ригрозе
Annuity Savings Fund	\$	134,922,923	128,798,397	Active members' contribution balance
Annuity Reserve Fund		43,374,632	43,986,134	Retired members' contribution account
Pension Reserve Fund		561,341,358	450,658,615	Remaining net assets
Pension Fund		79,470,318	92,720,015	Amounts appropriated to fund retirement benefits
Military Service Fund	-	49,877	37,377	Amount appropriated to fund military service time
	\$	819,159,107	716,200,538	

#### (8) Operating Lease

The Plan entered into an operating lease with the Authority on June 1, 2014. The initial term of the lease is 5 years with an option term of 5 years commencing on June 1, 2019. The Plan pays a base rent of \$32.61 per rentable square foot of 2,832 totaling approximately \$7,696 per month and \$92,352 per year. The base rent is subject to escalation annually each October 1st in the term beginning on October 1, 2014 in an amount equal to the greater of (i) 100% of CPI and (ii) 3%.

During the term of the lease, the Plan pays an operating fee for the costs incurred by the Authority's support services to the Plan. The operating fee is \$5,851 per calendar month or \$70,212 per year. The fee is adjusted 5% each October 1st during the term.

The Plan also pays the Authority \$6,338 per calendar month or \$76,060 per year which represents the annualized level of debt service of the tenant fit-out costs amortized over 10 years with interest at 5.2%. The cost to fit out the Plan's space was \$592,114 and \$760,600 with interest.

The Plan also pays the Authority any other amount owed by the Plan to the Authority pursuant to the term of the lease or any other matter arising under the lease including, but not limited to, amounts paid or costs incurred by the Sponsor to cure the Plan's default under or other failure to comply with the lease.

All additional costs associated with the arrangement are billed back to the Authority dollar for dollar as part of the annual assessment.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2020 and 2019

Total lease expense for the years ending December 31, 2020 and 2019 was \$287,302 and \$279,508, respectively. The following is a summary of the future minimum lease payments under this operating lease obligation:

		Amount
Years:		
2021	\$	294,729
2022		303,163
2023		311,951
2024		159,373
	\$_	1,069,216

The Plan exercised its option to extend the lease for an additional five years commencing on June 1, 2019. The additional five-year term contains the same terms, conditions and provisions as the original term.

#### (9) Related-Party Transactions

The Plan invests certain cash in a money market fund, the People's United Bank Short-Term Investment Fund, which is sponsored by the Plan's custodial bank. The total value of funds held at December 31, 2020 and 2019 was \$779,771 and \$1,198,283 respectively.

#### (10) Net Pension (Asset) Liability

The components of the net pension (asset) liability of the System as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, is as follows:

	2020	2019
Total pension liability	\$ 789,991,629	734,985,262
Fiduciary net position	 819,159,107	716,200,538
Plan's net pension (asset) liability	\$ (29, 167, 478)	18,784,724
Fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability	103.7 %	97.4 %

#### (a) Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2020 and update procedures were used to roll forward the total pension liability forward from the valuation date (1/1/20) to the measurement date (12/31/20). The following actuarial assumptions were applied to the periods included in the measurement for 2020 and 2019:

- Inflation 3.0%
- Salary Increases 4.25% for 2020 and 4.50% for 2019

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2020 and 2019

- Investment rate of return 7.00% for 2020, net of plan investment expense and 7.25% for 2019, net of plan investment expense
- Cost-of-living increases 3.0% on a maximum base of \$14,000
- Mortality:
  - Healthy RP 2014 at 2006 Table Healthy Employees (sex-distinct) projected with MP 2018 Generational Mortality. Post-retirement the RP 2014 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) projected with MP 2018 Generational Mortality.
  - Disabled-RP 2014 at 2006 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) projected with MP 2018
    Generational Mortality set-forward 2 years. Mortality for accidental disability is assumed to be
    50% from the same cause as the disability
- Long-term Expected Rate of Return;
  - The long-term expected rate of return on plan investments was determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The best estimates of geometric long-term expected real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

	expected real rate of return				
Asset class	2020*	2019*			
Domestic equity	4.10 %	4.92 %			
International equity	4.74	5.30			
Fixed Income	0.95	2.18			
Real estate	4.67	5.17			
Private equity	6.43	7.49			

<sup>\*</sup> amounts are net of inflation assumption of 2.42% and 2.36%, respectively

23

(continued)

Long-term

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2020 and 2019

#### (b) Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 were 7.00% and 7.25%, respectively. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on those assumptions, the Plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on the plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

#### (c) Change in Benefit Terms

In 2018 there was a change to plan provisions resulting in a \$4.9 million reduction of the net pension liability due to a decision by the Contributory Retirement Appeal Board, vacation buybacks are currently not included in pensionable earnings when estimating the projected benefit payments. This matter has yet to be concluded and is presently before the appeals court.

#### (d) Sensitivity of the Net Pension (Asset) Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net pension (asset) liability of the Plan as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, calculated using the discount rate of 7.00% and 7.25%, respectively, as well as what the net pension (asset) liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one-percentage point lower or one-percentage point higher than the current rate:

			2020	
		1% decrease (6.00%)	Current discount rate (7.00%)	1% increase (8.00%)
Plan's net pension liability (asset)	5	62,403,932	(29,167,478)	(106,451,057)
			2019	
		1% decrease (6.25%)	Current discount rate (7.25%)	1% increase (8.25%)
Plan's net pension liability (asset)	\$	102,414,013	18,784,724	(51,963,886)

#### MASSACHUSETTS PORT AUTHORITY EMPLOYEES

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

Schedula of Charmes in Nat Person (Asset) Lies by and Fraised Ratios

		2020	2019	2018	2017	2016	2015	2014
This person sawly: Service code: Service code: Indexed: Change of penet terms Extension between a specified and actual experi- Change of beautiful and actual experi-	3	17.835.130 53.203.718 5.845.991 16,573,526	17.539.541 51.734.212 15.484 (13.789,423)	16,774,333 49,106,214 (4,691,422) 748,739	16,419,396 47,341,155 (1,474,367)	15,300,199 84,961,249 2,591,721 (1,478,760)	14,875,345 41,180,193 (1,394,649) 24,097,914	13.055,819 40,955,958 3,929,282
Benefits payments		(36,924,874)	(35,377,808)	(33.548,701) 561,899	209,547	(28,430,589)	(26,457,593)	(24 008,778)
Net change in total pension Lebery		55,006,367	22,Mil.J852	29,114,108	\$1,584,919	33,390,470	52,632,317	81,510,692
Total pension fieldity - beginning of year		794 (805, 262	712,586,410	583.462,302	651,927,383	618.536,913	565,904,596	534,320,904
Total pension liability - and of year (a)	- 10	780 901 629	734,985,262	712.596.410	683,482,302	651,927,383	618,536,913	565,904,590
Dranger in National New Delibios Contributions - employee New revestment income (tips) Barrell's permissis Administrative expermiss Open.		14,641,003 13,100,494 13,320,740 (36,024,074) (1,152,471) (337,325)	12,029,090 12,576,329 16,234,705 (35,377,008) (1,215,774) 2,277,196	13,043,009 11,559,027 (31,212,130) (33,648,705) (1,182,153) 501,839	13,252,250 11,242,327 92,225,853 (31,000,990) (1,148,892) 269,347	13,552,303 10,659,915 42,595,124 (28,330,889) (1,188,467) (178,330)	10,665,296 9,947,598 (4,572,336) (26,467,593) (1,188,190) 351,309	11,146,319 9,627,879 81,932,349 (34,408,776) (1,287,785) 141,411
Net change in fillionry heliposition		102,958,569	108,529 7.06	(40 878,943)	84,950,313	36 988,656	(11,073,816)	27,001,295
Fiduciary net position - beginning of year		716 200 588	607,676,792	648 555,735	583,805,422	526 821,786	537,895,582	510 834,237
Fiduciary net position - and of year (b)		819 150 107	716.200.588	607,676,792	649,555,735	583,605,422	526,621,766	537,695,582
Net pension (asset) liability – end of year (a)-(b)	3.	(29,167,478)	18,784,724	104,919,618	34,928,567	88,321,961	91,915,147	28,209,014
Filluctory IVM position as a percentage of the social pension liability		1037%	97-4%	15.3%	164.0%	10.0%	65 Th	05.0%
Covered payors  Net permin (annel) sobilty as a percentage of covered payors.	1	120.612.917	1 19.261,635 15 6%	114,541,433 91,6%	110,173,417	100,443,915	99.190,253 92.7%	94,339,995 29,9%

#### See accompanying independent auditors' report

#### Notes to Schedule

Benefit Changes

2011. Out of France abustments in I was of, including in an intrinsic of the persons in Europe 104 long \$3.0 million. Additionally, value on Europe and expensive were on long- and additionally asset of the persons and persons on the persons of th

Champes of Assumptions

- (0.0) The interest rate was changed to 1 00% from 7.2%. The salary in clease assumption was changed to 4.25% from 4.5%. Comparison limits under Section initial work recognized. The net of basis changes resulted in an increased to all paragraphs about your labelity testing \$15.6 million.
- 2019. The mortality assumption was changed to the RP20 M or 2008 Table Healthy Employees (revisiting beginning the MP2018 Generalism Mortality. The entralism of an acceptance of the manufacture of the ma
- 2010 The minimum retrement aga increased to age 50 for post \$430,0009 friest, resulting in a decreased net pention labelly locating \$1.5 million.
- 2015 Discount rate discremed from 7 fi25% fit 7.25%, resulting iff an indense lines person liability titaling \$24.1 million

25

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
Schedule of Investment Returns

	2020	2019	2018	2017	2016	2015	2014
Annual money-weighted rate of return, net of							
investment expense*	16.14 %	19.64 %	(4.83)%	16.51%	8.14 %	(0.82)%	6.36%

\*This calculation uses a mid-month assumption for all cash flows.

Note: This schedule is intended to present 10 years of data. Additional years will be presented when available.

## ASSACHUSETTS PORT AUTHORITY EMPLOYEES\* RETIREMENT SYSTEM Required Supplementary information (Unaudited)

Schirdule of Contributions

	2020	2019	2018	2017	2016	2016	2014	2013	2012	2011
	14/841/103	12,029,098	13,041,069	13.362.268	13,552,360	10.845,336	11:146:310	11.960.586	9,594,044	5,709,827
	14,841,803	12009.038	13.043.000	13.303.208	13,682,503	10,845,890	11,146,316	11,960,586	9.564,044	5,709,827
3										_
1	128,0,12,917	(19,201,635 (0.19)	114,511,435	110,173,417	106.445,911 1710	VA 190.303 LO MA	94,339,001	\$0.047.646	87,476.195 TV 000	35,941,(60

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited) Notes to the Schedule of Contributions

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

#### Valuation date:

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of January 1, 19 months prior to the end of the fiscal year in which contributions are reported. The January 1, 2019 valuation established the rate for the fiscal year 2020 contribution and the January 1, 2020 valuation established the fiscal year 2021 contribution. The following assumptions were used for the periods included in the funding for 2021 and 2020;

Actuarial cost method: Frozen Entry Age Normal Amortization method: 20 year level, closed Asset valuation method: 5-year smoothed market inflation:

Salary increases: 4:25% for 2020, 4.50% for 2019

Investment rate of return: 7.00%, net of plan investment expense for 2020 and 7.25%, net of plan investment expense for 2019.

Depending on age at retirement and "Group" classification 0.1%-2.5% per year of service times Retirement benefits:

highest three year average salary. A five year average salary is used for those hired after

April 1, 2012.

Post-retirement cost of living increases: The cost-of-living base is assumed to be \$14,000. Annual cost of living increases are assumed to

be 3.0% of the lesser of the base or annual benefits.

Withdrawal prior to retirement: The rates shown at the following sample ages illustrate the withdrawal assumption:

ite or withdrawai	
Groups 1 and 2	Groups 4
2.00 %	0.50 %
2.00	0:50
2.00	0.50
1.50	0.40
1.50	0.10
1,00	N/A
	1 and 2 2.00 % 2.00 2.00 1.50 1.50

Groups discussed above include the following categories of employees.

Group 2 includes airport gate guards and maritime port officers.

Group 1 includes general employees including clerical, administrative and technical workers,

laborers and all others not otherwise classified.

Group 4 includes firefighters, licensed electricians, first - and second class stationary

engineers, watch engineers, steam firemen, utility technicians and their supervisors

Mortality: Healthy-RP 2000 Table (sex distinct) projected from 2000 with Scale BB and Generational Mortality.

Post-retirement the RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) projected with Scale BB

**Generational Mortality** 

Disabled-RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) and Generational Mortality set-forward 2 years. Mortality for accidental disability is assumed to be 50% from the same cause as

the disability

Other Supplementary Information
Schedule of Administrative Expenses
December 31, 2020 and 2019

	-	2020	2019
Personnel services:			
Staff salaries	\$	435,780	413,838
Board member stipend		22,500	21,650
Benefits	-	109,529	129,783
Total personnel services	_	567,809	565,271
Professional services:			
Actuarial		38,316	42,796
Audit		82,000	78,500
Legal counsel		68,190	71,815
Total professional services	-	188,506	193,111
Communication:			
Printing		11,630	18,442
Postage		12,735	26,462
Education and training		1,950	31,264
Member services		24,602	21,015
Total communication		50,917	97,183
Miscellaneous.			
General and administrative		21,100	45,414
Rent and other		287,302	279,508
Technological support	7-	36,837	35,287
Total miscellaneous	_	345,239	360,209
Total administrative expenses	5	1.152.471	1,215.774

Other Supplementary Information

Schedule of Investment Expenses and Payments to Consultants

December 31, 2020 and 2019

	-	2020	2019
Schedule of investment expenses:			
Investment management fees	\$	2,460,359	2,343,631
Investment consultant fees		141,761	141,761
Custodial fees	-	42,415	41,561
Total investment expenses	\$	2,644,535	2,526,953
Schedule of payments to consultants*			
Independent auditors	S	82,000	78,500
Actuary		38,316	42,796
Legal	-	68,190	71,815
Total payments to consultants	\$	188,506	193,111

<sup>\*</sup> These payments are presented for analytical purposes, each amount is already included in schedules of administrative or investment expenses.



Financial Statements, Required Supplementary Information, and Other Supplementary Information

December 31, 2019 and 2018

(With Independent Auditors' Report Thereon)

Financial Statements, Required Supplementary Information, and Other Supplementary Information

December 31, 2019 and 2018

### **Table of Contents**

	Page(s
Independent Auditors' Report	1-2
Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)	3-9
Financial Statements:	
Statements of Fiduciary Net Position	10
Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position	11
Notes to Financial Statements	12-25
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)	
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios	26
Schedule of Investment Returns	27
Schedule of Contributions	28
Notes to the Schedule of Contributions	29
Other Supplementary Information	
Schedule of Administrative Expenses	30
Schedule of Investment Expenses and Payments to Consultants	31



KPMG LTP Two Financial Center 60 South Street Boston, MA 02111

#### Independent Auditors' Report

The Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System Board:

### Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System (the Plan) as of and for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Plan's basic financial statements for the years then ended as listed in the accompanying table of contents.

#### Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

#### Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

#### Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Plan as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the changes in its financial position for the years then ended in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.





#### Other Matters

#### Required Supplementary Information

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that the management's discussion and analysis on pages 3 through 9 and the supplementary schedules of changes in net pension liability and related ratios, investment returns, contributions and notes to the schedule of contributions on pages 26 through 29 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

#### Supplementary and Other Information

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively comprise the Plan's basic financial statements. The schedules of administrative expenses and investment expenses and payments to consultants on pages 30 and 31 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The schedules of administrative expenses and investment expenses and payments to consultants are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedules of administrative expenses and investment expenses and payments to consultants are fairly stated in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

### Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated April 17, 2020 on our consideration of the Plan's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on **the effectiveness of the Plan's** internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the Plan's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.



Boston, Massachusetts April 17, 2020

Required Supplementary Information

#### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2019 and 2018 (Unaudited)

This section presents Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System's (MPAERS or the Plan) financial activity and performance as of and for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. The MD&A is unaudited and is intended to serve as an introduction to the Plan's basic financial statements, as well as to offer readers of the Plan's financial statements a narrative view and analysis of MPAERS' financial activities.

### **Financial Highlights**

The fiduciary net position of the Plan as of December 31, 2019 totaled \$716.2 million, a \$108.5 million, or 17.9% increase, due to positive returns in all major asset classes. Fiduciary net position is the residual of the Plan's assets in excess of the Plan's liabilities as of the date of the Statements of Fiduciary Net Position. The Plan's assets are held in trust to meet future benefit payments.

**Total Plan "additions" of \$**146.1 million, comprised of \$27.8 million in contributions and transfers, and \$118.2 million in investment gains, were realized for the year ended December 31, 2019. In comparison, the Plan experienced total additions of \$(5.1) million and \$118.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The increase in 2019 is due to investment gains in all major asset classes, and the decrease in 2018 Plan additions is due to investment losses in most major asset classes.

For the plan year ended December 31, 2019, total Plan deductions were \$37.5 million, an increase of \$1.8 million, or 5.0% over the last year, and are comprised of \$35.4 million in benefit payments, \$946,000 in transfers and withdrawals and \$1.2 million in administrative expenses. This \$1.8 million increase is primarily due to new retirements. This is as compared to total deductions of \$35.8 million and \$33.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

For reporting purposes in accordance with the Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB), as of December 31, 2019, the Plan's fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability was 97.4%. As required by the Plan's charter, for funding purposes the Plan uses the Frozen-Entry-Age-Normal actuarial method which differs from that prescribed by GASB. Under the Frozen-Entry-Age-Normal method, the funded ratio of the plan as of January 1, 2019, was 95.4%.

### Overview of the Financial Statements

The basic financial statements consist of the: (1) Statements of Fiduciary Net Position; (2) Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position; (3) Notes to the Financial Statements; (4) Required Supplementary Information, and (5) Other Supplementary Information.

The Statements of Fiduciary Net Position report the Plan's assets, liabilities, and net position restricted for pensions at the end of the fiscal year calculated using the following formula; Assets – Liabilities = Net position restricted for pensions, The Statements of Fiduciary Net Position report the financial position of the Plan at a given point in time, in this case, December 31. Over time, the increase or decrease in fiduciary net position serves as a useful indicator of the Plan's financial health.

Required Supplementary Information

### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2019 and 2018 (Unaudited)

The Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position report additions to and deductions from the Plan during the fiscal year. The formula here is: Additions – Deductions = Net Increase (Decrease) in Plan Fiduciary Net Position. The Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position report activity occurring over a specific period of time, in this case, the year beginning January 1 and ending December 31.

The Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the Plan's financial statements,

The Required Supplementary Information following the Notes to the Financial Statements consists of the schedules of changes in net pension liability and related ratios, investment returns, contributions and notes to schedule of contributions.

Other Supplementary Information details schedules of administrative expenses, investment expenses, and payments to consultants.

These statements and schedules are prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, including the accounting and financial reporting requirements found in GASB Statement No. 67.

### **Financial Analysis**

Total assets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 were \$717.2 million and \$608.5 million, respectively, and were comprised of cash and cash equivalents; investments; accrued interest and accrued dividends receivables; and contributions due from Plan members, the Plan sponsor and other systems. Total assets increased by \$108.7 million or 17.9% from \$608.5 million as of December 31, 2018, due to investment gains in all major asset classes. Total assets decreased by \$40.9 million or 6.3% from \$649.4 million between 2017 and 2018 due to investment losses in most major asset classes.

Total liabilities as of December 31, 2019 were approximately \$1.0 million and total liabilities as of December 31, 2018 were approximately \$816,000. Total liabilities for 2019 were primarily comprised of payables for investment management fees, refunds to members, and payables to other state retirement plans. In 2018 total liabilities were also primarily comprised of payables for investment management fees, refunds to members and payables to other state retirement plans.

Total fiduciary net position held in trust for pension benefits totaled \$716.2 million which represents an increase of \$108.5 million or 17.9% over 2018. Fiduciary net position decreased by \$40.9 million or 6.3% between 2017 and 2018. The increase in 2019 is due to investment gains in all major asset classes. The decrease in 2018 is due to investment losses in most major asset classes.

Required Supplementary Information

## Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2019 and 2018 (Unaudited)

Condensed financial information

			2019	2018	Total \$ change	Total % change
Assets:						
Cash and	cash equivalents	S	1,198,283	515,799	682,484	132.3 %
Investmen	rts		713,727,317	605,931,824	107,795,493	17.8
Receivabl	es		2,314,320	2,045,028	269,292	13.2
	Total assets	-	717,239,920	608,492,651	108,747,269	17.9
Liabilities;						
Payables		-	1,039,382	815,859	223,523	27.4
	Total liabilities		1,039,382	815,859	223,523	27.4
	Fiduciary net position	\$	716,200,538	607,676,792	108,523,746	17.9 %

	E	Contract to the contract to th
Connoncon	tinancial	information

		2018	2017	Total \$ change	Total % change
Assets:					
Cash and	cash equivalents \$	515,799	1,508,453	(992,654)	(65.8)%
Investmen	nts	605,931,824	646,081,039	(40, 149, 215)	(6.2)
Receivable	es	2,045,028	1,847,126	197,902	10.7
	Total assets	608,492,651	649,436,618	(40,943,967)	(6.3)
Liabilities:					
Payables		815,859	880,883	(65,024)	(7.4)
	Total liabilities	815,859	880,883	(65,024)	(7.4)
	Fiduciary net position \$	607,676,792	648,555,735	(40,878,943)	(6.3)%

## Revenues - Additions to Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Additions to MPAERS' Fiduciary net position include plan member and plan sponsor contributions, transfers from other retirement systems and net investment gains. Contributions, net transfers and net investment gains

Required Supplementary Information

### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2019 and 2018 (Unaudited)

for plan year 2019 totaled approximately \$146.1 million as compared to a net addition of approximately \$(5.1) million in 2018

In 2019, member contributions increased by approximately \$1.0 million or 8.8% due to the addition of new employees and the accrual of outstanding prior service buybacks. In 2018, member contributions increased by approximately \$317,000 or 2.8% also due to the addition of new employees and the accrual of outstanding prior service buybacks.

Plan sponsor contributions of \$12.0 million decreased by \$1.0 million or 7.8%, compared to a decrease of \$319,000 or 2.4% in 2018. The decreases in 2019 and 2018 are due to the decrease in the Annual Required Employer Contribution (ARC) as determined by the Plan's actuary. Fluctuations in plan sponsor contributions are partially due to the incremental accrual by the Plan's actuary of market gains and losses over multiple years as well as changes to actuarial assumptions including mortality and interest rates.

Net investment income for the year ending December 31, 2019 was \$118.2 million representing a \$149.0 million or 478.8% increase from 2018. The increase in investment income in 2019 is the result of investment gains in all major asset classes. Net investment income for the year ending December 31, 2018 was \$(31.2) million representing a \$123.4 million or 133.8% decrease from 2017. The decrease in net investment losses in 2018 is the result of investment losses in most major asset classes.

Condensed financial information							
Additions	2	2019	2018	Total \$ change	Total % change		
Plan member contributions Plan sponsor contribution Net transfers Net investment gain (loss)	\$	12,576,329 12,029,098 3,223,099 118,234,705	11,559,077 13,043,069 1,499,370 (31,212,130)	1,017,252 (1,013,971) 1,723,729 149,446,835	8.8 % (7.8) 115.0 478.8		
Total additions	\$_	146,063,231	(5,110,614)	151,173,845	2,958.0 %		
Additions		2018	2017	Total \$ change	Total % change		
Plan member contributions Plan sponsor contribution Net transfers	\$	11,559,077 13,043,069 1,499,370	11,242,327 13,362,268 1,780,786	316,750 (319,199) (281,416)	2.8 % (2.4) (15.8)		

92,225,853

118,611,234

(123, 437, 983)

(123,721,848)

(133.8)

(104.3)%

(31,212,130)

(5,110,614)

Net investment gain (loss)

Total additions

Required Supplementary Information

### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2019 and 2018 (Unaudited)

#### Expenses - Deductions from Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Deductions to the Plan include the payment of pension benefits to members and beneficiaries, refunds of contributions to inactive members, transfers of member contributions to other Massachusetts public retirement plans and the cost of administration. For plan year 2019, the total deductions were \$37.5 million, an increase of \$1.8 million or 5.0% over 2018. For plan year 2018, the total deductions were \$35.8 million, an increase of \$2.1 million or 6.3% over 2017.

Retirement benefit payments totaled \$35.4 million, an increase of approximately \$1.7 million or 5.1%. In 2018 retirement benefit payments totaled \$33.7 million, an increase of approximately \$2.6 million or 8,5% from the previous year. The increases in 2019 and 2018 are primarily due to new retirements and to a lesser extent are also due to cost-of-living adjustments in those respective years.

For plan year 2019, withdrawals by inactive members totaled approximately \$534,000, a decrease of approximately \$134,000 or 20.0%. For plan year 2018, withdrawals by inactive members totaled approximately \$667,000, a decrease of approximately \$387,000 or 36.7%. The decrease in 2019 is due to a decrease in inactive members withdrawing their contributions from the Plan. The decrease in 2018 is also due to a decrease in inactive members withdrawing their contributions from the Plan. Transfers to other Massachusetts public retirement systems totaled approximately \$412,000, an increase of approximately \$142,000 or 52.6% from 2018. This is compared to a \$270,000 or 40.9% decrease in transfers from 2017 to 2018. Year to year changes in transfer rates can be attributed to variations in public sector workforce movement between Massport and other government employers.

In 2019, administrative expenses totaled approximately \$1.2 million, an increase of approximately \$34,000 or 2.8%, and in 2018 administrative expenses totaled approximately \$1.2 million, an increase of approximately \$33,000 or 2.9%. The increase in administrative expenses for 2019 are due to increases in professional services, communication and education expenses, rent and equipment fees. The increase in administrative expenses for 2018 is due to increases in staff benefit costs, rent and equipment fees.

Condensed	financia	information

Deductions		2019	2018	Total \$ change	Total % change
Retirement benefits	\$	35,377,808	33,648,705	1,729,103	5.1 %
Withdrawals by inactive members Transfers to other state retiremen	ť	533,670	667,246	(133,576)	(20.0)
plans		412,233	270,225	142,008	52.6
Administrative expenses	-	1,215,774	1,182,153	33,621	2.8
Total deductions	\$_	37,539,485	35,768,329	1,771,156	5.0 %

Required Supplementary Information

## Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2019 and 2018 (Unaudited)

	Condensed fina	ncial information		
Deductions	 2018	2017	Total \$ change	Total % change
Retirement benefits Withdrawals by inactive	\$ 33,648,705	31,000,590	2,648,115	8.5 %
members Transfers to other state retiremen	667,246	1,053,876	(386,630)	(36.7)
plans Administrative expenses	270,225 1,182,153	457,563 1,148,892	(187,338) 33,261	(40.9) 2.9
Total deductions	\$ 35,768,329	33,660,921	2,107,408	6.3 %

### Changes in Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Changes in fiduciary net position as of December 31, 2019 were \$108.5 million, which represents an increase of \$149.4 million or 365.5%. This increase is primarily the result of investment gains. Changes in fiduciary net position as of December 31, 2018 were \$(40.9) million, which represents a decrease of \$125.8 million or 148.1%. This decrease is primarily the result of investment losses in most major asset classes.

	1	Condensed finan	cial information		
Changes in plan fiduciary net position		2019	2018	Total \$ change	Total % change
Total additions Total deductions	\$	146,063,231 37,539,485	(5,110,614) 35,768,329	151,173,845 1,771,156	2,958 5
Change in plan fiduciary net position	\$_	108,523,746	(40,878,943)	149,402,689	365.5 %
Fiduciary net position	\$	716,200,538	607,676,792	108,523,746	17.9 %
	9	Condensed finan	cial information		
Changes in plan fiduciary net position		2018	2017	Total \$ change	Total % change
Total additions Total deductions	\$	(5,110,614) 35,768,329	118,611,234 33,660,921	(123,721,848) 2,107,408	(104.3)% 6.3
Change in plan fiduciary net position	S	(40,878,943)	84,950,313	(125,829,256)	(148.1)%
Fiduciary net position	5	607,676,792	648,555,735	(40,878,943)	(6.3)%

Required Supplementary Information

### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2019 and 2018 (Unaudited)

#### **Overall Financial Position of MPAERS**

Due to investment gains in all major asset classes the Plan has experienced an increase in its investment portfolio for the year ending December 31, 2019. Management believes the Plan still remains well funded and able to meet its obligations. As plan sponsor, the Massachusetts Port Authority bears the investment risk. When plan net position declines, the plan sponsor is statutorily obligated to offset the losses to fund the Plan's annual assessment. Management anticipates a modest increase in employer contributions in 2019.

### MPAERS Replacement Plan and Trust

The MPAERS Board established the MPAERS Replacement Plan and Trust (the Replacement Plan) in 2012 to comply with Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Code. The Replacement Plan will provide benefits that cannot be provided under a qualified plan due to the limits of Section 415 on contributions and benefits. There were no benefits paid from the Replacement Plan in 2019 and 2018.

#### Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide an overview of MPAERS' finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report should be addressed to Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System, One Harborside Drive, Suite 200S, East Boston, MA 02128.

Statements of Fiduciary Net Position
December 31, 2019 and 2018

		2019	2018
Assets			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	1,198,283	515,799
Investments, at fair value;			
Common stocks		19,899,875	18,248,156
Commingled funds:		121 214 244	244 April 244
Domestic equity		171,812,798	137,899,235
Fixed income		217,630,503	198,094,021
International equity		204,197,155	160,499,569
Real estate		52,556,104	47,518,467
Private Equity	-	47,630,882	43,672,376
Total investments, at fair value		713,727,317	605,931,824
Receivables:			
Plan member contributions		649,571	460,809
Accrued interest and dividends		18,839	26,421
Other state retirement plans		1,482,138	1,444,192
Receivable for securities sold		134,502	92,794
Other		29,270	20,812
Total receivables		2,314,320	2,045,028
Total plan assets		717,239,920	608,492,651
Liabilities			
Payables to other state retirement plans		622,838	475,628
Payable for securities purchased		43,041	14,507
Other payables		373,503	325,724
Total plan liabilities		1,039,382	815,859
Net position restricted for pensions	\$	716,200,538	607,676,792

See accompanying notes to financial statements

Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position Fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

		2019	2018
Additions Contributions: Plan members Plan sponsor	\$	12,576,329 12,029,098	11,559,077 13,043,069
Total contributions	-	24,605,427	24,602,146
Intergovernmental: Transfers from other state retirement plans Section 3(8)(c) transfers, net		2,395,964 827,135	533,054 966,316
Net intergovernmental		3,223,099	1,499,370
Investment income (loss): Interest and dividends Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value of investments Less management and related fees		13,995,930 106,765,728 (2,526,953)	14,324,757 (43,316,564) (2,220,323)
Net investment income (loss)		118,234,705	(31,212,130)
Total additions		146,063,231	(5,110,614)
Deductions: Retirement benefits Withdrawals by inactive members Transfers to other state retirement plans Administrative expenses		35,377,808 533,670 412,233 1,215,774	33,648,705 667,246 270,225 1,182,153
Total deductions		37,539,485	35,768,329
Change in fiduciary net position		108,523,746	(40,878,943)
Net position restricted for pensions Beginning of year		607,676,792	648,555,735
End of year	\$_	716,200,538	607,676,792

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2019 and 2018

### (1) Plan Description

The Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System (the Plan) is a single employer plan established on July 18, 1978, effective January 1, 1979, by enactment of Chapter 487 (an amendment to Chapter 32) of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts to provide retirement benefits for substantially all employees of the Massachusetts Port Authority (the Authority), and incidental benefits for their surviving spouses, beneficiaries and contingent annuitants. Prior to this enactment, Authority employees were members of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Contributory Retirement System and the funding of the pension liability was on a "pay-as-you-go" method. Pursuant to this enactment, the employees' then present rights and benefits were transferred to the new retirement system. The Plan is a contributory defined benefit plan to which the Authority and its employees contribute such amounts as are necessary to provide assets sufficient to meet benefits to be paid to plan participants. The Plan is administered by the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System Board (the Board), consisting of five members including one ex-officio member, two elected members, one member appointed by the Massachusetts Port Authority and one member appointed by the four board members.

At January 1, 2019 and 2018, the Plan's membership consisted of

	2019	2018
Retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits Inactive members entitled to benefits but not yet	858	826
receiving them	68	66
Current members: Active	1,304	1,288
Inactive	146	142
Total membership	2,376	2,322

Benefits are paid by the Plan from plan assets available for plan benefits. Plan participants are entitled at normal retirement age to benefit payments based upon length of service and earnings levels. Vesting occurs after 10 years of service.

Benefits to participants who retired prior to January 1, 1979 are paid by the Massachusetts State Board of Retirement. The Massachusetts State Board of Retirement is reimbursed for all such benefits paid after December 31, 1978 as these benefits represent obligations of the Plan.

Under Chapter 32, Section 3(8) (c), of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts (Chapter 32), the Plan is reimbursed for benefits paid to participants entitled to receive benefits for previous participation in other Massachusetts Chapter 32 plans. The Plan is also obligated to pay a proportionate share of benefits to participants entitled to receive benefits for subsequent participation in other Massachusetts Chapter 32 plans.

Also under Chapter 32, for members leaving the Authority's employment to work for other Massachusetts governmental units, the Plan transfers their accumulated account balances and creditable service to the

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2019 and 2018

retirement system of the new employer. Other such retirement systems are in turn required to make comparable transfers to the Plan for employees coming to work for the Authority.

Optional payment methods may be elected, including the contingent annuitant method which provides for reduced payments during the life of the plan participant and continued payments to the participant's beneficiary after the death of the participant.

#### (2) Contributions Required and Contributions Made

Contributions are made by the Authority based on amounts required to be funded as determined by annual actuarial valuations and are designed to fund the Plan on a level cost basis, as a percentage of pay, over the average remaining working lifetime of the active participants and to fund operating costs of the Plan. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, the Authority was required and did contribute to the Plan \$12,029,098, \$13,043,069 and \$13,362,268, respectively. The Authority bears the risk that plan assets might decline due to fluctuations in the market value of the Plan's investments and contributions by the Authority will increase.

Employees who became members prior to January 1, 1975 contribute 5% of their regular compensation through payroll deductions. Employees whose membership commenced on or after January 1, 1975 but prior to January 1, 1984 contribute 7%. Those employees whose membership began on or after January 1, 1984 but prior to July 1, 1996 contribute 8%. Employees hired after July 1, 1996 contribute 9% of their regular compensation. Employees who are hired after December 31, 1978 contribute an additional 2% of regular compensation over \$30,000. These contributions accumulate and, subject to certain restrictions set forth in Chapter 32, are refundable to employees upon termination of employment by the Authority or payable to another retirement system should the employee transfer to another government unit covered by Chapter 32 of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

Contributions totaling \$24,605,427 (\$12,029,098 employer and \$12,576,329 employee) and \$24,602,146 (\$13,043,069 employer and \$11,559,077 employee) were recognized by the Plan for plan years 2019 and 2018, respectively.

### (3) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

### (a) Basis of Accounting

These financial statements have been prepared with an "economic resources" measurement focus on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with generally accepted governmental accounting principles.

### (b) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on deposit, and highly liquid short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2019 and 2018

### (c) Investment Valuation

Investments are reported at fair value. Securities traded on a national or international securities exchange are valued at the last reported sales price on the last business day of the plan year; investments traded on a national securities exchange for which no sale was reported on that date and investments in common and preferred stocks traded in over-the-counter markets are valued at the mean of the last reported bid and asked prices, or the last reported bid price. Mutual funds and commingled funds, including real estate and private equity investments, are valued based on net asset value (NAV) or unit value at year-end. Changes in fair value are included in investment income (loss) in the statement of changes in fiduciary net position.

#### (d) Contributions

Employer contributions are recognized when legally due. Member contributions are recognized by the Plan as compensation is earned by the Authority's employees.

#### (e) Retirement Benefits

Retirement benefits and refunds are recorded when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the Plan.

#### (f) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of additions and deductions during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from estimates, Fair values of real estate and private equity holdings are generally estimated absent readily available market values, and such estimates may be materially different than values that would have been used if a ready market existed.

## (g) Other

Purchases and sales of securities are reflected on a trade-date basis. Gain or loss on sales of securities is based on average cost.

Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date. Interest income is recorded as earned on an accrual basis. Income from venture capital limited partnerships is recorded using the equity method of accounting.

The Plan presents in its Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position the net appreciation (depreciation) in the fair value of its investments, which consists of the net realized gains and losses during the year and the change in unrealized appreciation and depreciation during the year on those investments.

#### (h) Investment Policy

The provisions of Massachusetts General Laws (M.G.L.) Chapter 32, Section 23(2) and the Board approved investment policy govern the Plan's investment practice.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2019 and 2018

Diversification is attained through varied investment management styles that comply with Massachusetts state law. This is accomplished through the retention of investment managers that adhere to M.G.L. Chapter 32, Section 23(3), the "Prudent Person" rule.

The Plan has retained an investment consultant to work with the Board in a fiduciary capacity to assure that strategic investment diversification is attained, to employ investment managers with expertise in their respective asset classes, and to closely monitor the implementation and performance of the respective investment strategies.

The Plan is currently invested in stocks (domestic and international), fixed income securities (domestic and international), real estate and private equity.

The target allocation for each major asset class is summarized in the following table:

Asset class	Target allocation
Domestic equity	27.50 %
International equity	27.50
Fixed income	30,00
Real estate	7.50
Private equity	7.50
Total	100,00 %

The Board's current rebalancing policy states that "The Board shall rebalance to the established targets during the quarter following the quarter ended whenever the asset class allocation falls outside the allowable ranges."

### (4) Deposit and Investment Risks

The following discusses the Plan's exposure to common deposit and investment risks related to custodial credit, credit, concentration of credit, interest rate and foreign currency risks as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

### (a) Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a failure of a depository financial institution, the Plan deposits may not be returned. Investment securities are exposed to custodial credit risk if the securities are uninsured, are not registered in the name of the Plan and are held by either the depository financial institution or the depository financial institution's trust department or agent but not in the Plan's name.

Although there is no Plan-wide policy for custodial credit risk associated with deposits, the Plan's investments are held by the Plan's custodian and registered in the Plan's name. All of the Plan's securities are held by the Plan's custodial bank in the Plan's name, except for investments in mutual and commingled funds, real estate properties, and limited partnerships, which by their nature, are not required to be categorized. Investments in the Short-Term Investment Funds (STIF) are held in an

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2019 and 2018

SEC-registered pooled fund that is managed by the master custodian bank. The fair value of the position in the pool equals the value of the pool shares.

### (b) Credit Risk

Credit risk exists when there is a possibility the issuer or other counterparty to an investment may be unable to fulfill its obligations

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the System's fixed income investments totaled \$217,630,503 and \$198,094,021, respectively. These investments are split between two commingled funds, Both funds are not rated.

There are no Plan-wide policy limitations for credit risk exposures within the portfolio. The Plan's two fixed income investments are managed in accordance with an investment contract that is specific as to permissible credit quality ranges and the average credit quality of the overall portfolio.

### (c) Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss that may be attributed to the magnitude of a government's investment in a single issuer. The Plan has no investments, at fair value, that exceed 5% of the Plan's total investments as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 other than pooled investments.

#### (d) Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. This risk is managed within the portfolio using the effective duration methodology. It is widely used in the management of fixed income portfolios in that it quantifies to a much greater degree the risk of interest rate changes. While there are no Plan-wide policy limitations as to the degree of interest rate risk taken, the Plan's one actively managed fixed income portfolio has guidelines which specify that the average duration of the Portfolio ranges between plus or minus 1.5 years of the average duration of the Bloomberg Barclays US Aggregate Bond Index. The other fixed income portfolio is in a passive index fund and the investment objective of this fund is to match the return of the Bloomberg Barclays US Aggregate Bond Index. It is believed that the reporting of effective duration found in the tables below quantifies to the fullest extent possible the interest rate risk of the Plan's fixed income assets.

### Interest rate sensitivity – effective duration December 31, 2019

		Fair value	Effective duration (in yrs.)
Fixed income:			
Commingled fund – actively managed	\$	152,782,687	6.00
Commingled fund - passively managed		64,847,816	5.88
Total	\$_	217,630,503	
		7	

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2019 and 2018

### Interest rate sensitivity – effective duration December 31, 2018

	Fair value	Effective duration (in yrs.)
Fixed income:		
Commingled fund - actively managed	\$ 138,441,932	5.43
Commingled fund – passively managed	59,652,089	5.88
Total	\$ 198,094,021	

### (e) Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely impact the fair value of an investment. From time to time, the Plan's external managers may or may not hedge the portfolio's foreign currency exposures with currency forward contracts depending on their views on a specific foreign currency relative to the U.S. dollar. While there are no Plan-wide policy limitations related to foreign currency risk, the Plan will not manage currency as a separate asset class or enter into speculative currency positions in its portfolios, except as it relates to specific cross-hedging activity, which may be permitted in certain investment manager guidelines. While the System has no investments denominated in foreign currencies, the following represents the investments denominated in U.S. dollars that can be subject to fluctuations in foreign currencies:

Currency		2019	2018
International equity pooled funds (various currencies)	- \$	204.197.155	160,499,569

### (f) Rate of Return

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the annual money weighted rate of return on plan investments, net of plan investment expenses was 19.64% and (4.83)%, respectively. The money weighted rate of return expresses investment performance net of investment expenses adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

#### (g) Fair Value Hierarchy

GAAP establishes a fair value hierarchy for investments that prioritizes inputs used to measure fair value into three levels:

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for assets or liabilities;

Level 2 – observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted in active markets, but corroborated by market data:

Level 3 - unobservable inputs that are used when little or no market data is available.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2019 and 2018

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs and the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs. In determining fair value, the Plan utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible.

Investments held through commingled funds for which fair value is estimated using net asset values (NAVs) as a practical expedient are not categorized in the fair value hierarchy.

The Plan uses an independent pricing source to determine the fair value of investments at quoted market prices.

The Plan has the following fair value measurements as of December 31, 2019 and 2018:

		201	9	
	Fair Value	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
S	19,899,875	19,899,875		<u> </u>
	19,899,875	19,899,875		
	151,888,819			
	19,923,979			
	204, 197, 155			
8				
	64,847,816			
-	152,782,687			
	593,640,456			
	52,556,104			
	47,630,882			
	100, 186, 986			
S	713,727,317	19,899,875	<u> </u>	-
		Value \$ 19,899,875  19,899,875  151,888,819 19,923,979 204,197,155  64,847,816 152,782,687  593,640,456  52,556,104 47,630,882 100,186,986	Fair Value Level 1  \$ 19,899,875	Value     Level 1     Level 2       \$ 19,899,875     19,899,875     —       19,899,875     19,899,875     —       151,888,819     19,923,979     204,197,155       64,847,816     152,782,687     —       593,640,456     —     —       152,556,104     47,630,882     —       100,186,986     —     —

18

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2019 and 2018

			201	8	
		Fair Value	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
Investments by fair value level					
Equities	\$_	18,248,156	18,248,156		
		18,248,156	18,248,156		
Investments measured at NAV: Commingled equity funds:					
Large Cap		117,238,685			
Small Cap		20,660,550			
International		160,499,569			
Commingled fixed income funds:		17			
Aggregate		59,652,089			
Core Bond	_	138,441,932			
		496,492,825			
Other investments at fair value:					
PRIT real estate fund		47,518,467			
PRIT private equity	_	43,672,376			
	_	91,190,843			
Total investments	\$_	605,931,824	18,248,156		

The Plan categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. Equity securities classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in active markets for those securities. The Plan has no securities classified in Level 2 or Level 3.

The PRIT real estate and private equity funds are external investment pools that are not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission, but are subject to oversight by the Pension Reserves Investment Management Board (the PRIM Board). The PRIM Board was created by legislation to provide general supervision of the investments and management of PRIT. The PRIT real estate and private equity funds are not rated funds. The fair value of the PRIT real estate and private equity funds are based on unit value as reported by management of the PRIT funds. The PRIT funds issue separately available audited financial statements with a year-end of June 30. The Plan is required to provide a 24 hour redemption notice for the PRIT Real Estate fund. The PRIT Private Equity fund is not redeemable until notified by the PRIM Board.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2019 and 2018

The following represents the significant investment strategies and terms on which the Plan may redeem investments for those investments measured at the NAV (or its equivalent) as a practical expedient:

	Investments Measured at NAV						
	2019	2018	Redemption Frequency	Redemption Notice Period			
Commingled equity funds  Commingled fixed income	376,009,953	298,398,804	Daily to Thrice Monthly	1-30 days			
funds <sup>2</sup>	217,630,503	198,094,021	Daily	1-30 days			

- Commingled equity funds: This type includes 5 funds that invest primarily in U.S. large and small cap equity funds and international equity funds.
- 2 Commingled fixed income funds: This type includes 2 fixed income funds that Invest in U.S. corporate bonds, U.S. government bonds, U.S. asset-backed securities and foreign bonds.

### (5) Operating Expenses

The Plan's administrative expenses as shown on the Statements of Changes in Plan Fiduciary Net Position are borne by the Plan and financed with investment income. These expenses include personnel and professional services, member communication and education, and other miscellaneous administrative expenses. Operating expenses are billed back to the Authority dollar for dollar as part of the annual assessment.

### (6) General Termination Policy

Under Chapter 465, Section 25 of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts, in the event of dissolution of the Authority by the General Court, participants of the Plan who do not transfer to or enter service in a governmental plan in which a contributory retirement system was established under Chapter 32 shall continue as a member of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System and shall be entitled to benefits as outlined in the Plan. Effective upon the date of dissolution of the Authority, or default of its obligations under Chapter 32 of the General Laws, benefits to be paid to participants would become obligations of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

20

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2019 and 2018

### (7) Legally Required Reserve Accounts

The balances in the Plan's legally required reserves at December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

All reserve accounts are funded at levels required by state statute

		2019	2018	Purpose
Annuity Savings Fund	5	128,798,397	119,612,177	Active members' contribution balance
Annuity Reserve Fund		43,986,134	44,892,825	Retired members' contribution account
Pension Reserve Fund		450,658,615	335, 107, 166	Remaining net assets
Pension Fund		92,720,015	108,036,376	Amounts appropriated to fund retirement benefits
Military Service Fund	_	37,377	28,248	Amount appropriated to fund military service time
	5	716,200,538	607,676,792	

#### (8) Operating Lease

The Plan entered into an operating lease with the Authority on June 1, 2014. The initial term of the lease is 5 years with an option term of 5 years commencing on June 1, 2019. The Plan pays a base rent of \$32.61 per rentable square foot of 2,832 totaling approximately \$7,696 per month and \$92,352 per year. The base rent is subject to escalation annually each October 1st in the term beginning on October 1, 2014 in an amount equal to the greater of (i) 100% of CPI and (ii) 3%.

During the term of the lease, the Plan pays an operating fee for the costs incurred by the Authority's support services to the Plan. The operating fee is \$5,851 per calendar month or \$70,212 per year. The fee is adjusted 5% each October 1st during the term.

The Plan also pays the Authority \$6,338 per calendar month or \$76,060 per year which represents the annualized level of debt service of the tenant fit-out costs amortized over 10 years with interest at 5,2%. The cost to fit out the Plan's space was \$592,114 and \$760,600 with interest.

The Plan also pays the Authority any other amount owed by the Plan to the Authority pursuant to the term of the lease or any other matter arising under the lease including, but not limited to, amounts paid or costs incurred by the Sponsor to cure the Plan's default under or other failure to comply with the lease.

All additional costs associated with the arrangement are billed back to the Authority dollar for dollar as part of the annual assessment.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2019 and 2018

Total lease expense for the years ending December 31, 2019 and 2018 was \$279,508 and \$272,027, respectively. The following is a summary of the future minimum lease payments under this operating lease obligation:

	Amount
Years:	
2020	\$ 286,632
2021	294,729
2022	303, 163
2023	311,951
2024	159,373
	\$ 1,355,848

The Plan exercised its option to extend the lease for an additional five years commencing on June 1, 2019. The additional five year term contains the same terms, conditions and provisions as the original term.

#### (9) Related-Party Transactions

The Plan invests certain cash in a money market fund, the People's United Bank Short-Term Investment Fund, which is sponsored by the Plan's custodial bank. The total value of funds held at December 31, 2019 and 2018 was \$1,198,283 and \$515,799 respectively.

### (10) Net Pension Liability

The components of the net pension liability of the System as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, is as follows:

		2019	2018
Total pension liability	\$	734,985,262	712,596,410
Fiduciary net position	- 3	716,200,538	607,676,792
Plan's net pension liability	\$	18,784,724	104,919,618
Fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability		97.4 %	85.3 %

### (a) Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2019 and update procedures were used to roll forward the total pension liability forward from the valuation date (1/1/19) to the measurement date (12/31/19). The following actuarial assumptions were applied to the periods included in the measurement for 2019 and 2018.

- Inflation 3.0%
- Salary Increases 4.5%

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2019 and 2018

- Investment rate of return 7.25%, net of plan investment expense
- Cost-of-living increases 3.0% on a maximum base of \$14,000
- Mortality

### 2019:

- Healthy RP 2014 at 2006 Table Healthy Employees (sex-distinct) projected with MP 2018 Generational Mortality. Post-retirement the RP 2014 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) projected with MP 2018 Generational Mortality
- Disabled-RP 2014 at 2006 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) projected with MP 2018
   Generational Mortality set-forward 2 years. Mortality for accidental disability is assumed to be 50% from the same cause as the disability.

#### 2018

- Healthy RP 2000Table (sex-distinct) projected from 2000 with Scale BB and Generational Mortality. Post-retirement the RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) projected with Scale BB Generational Mortality.
- Disabled-RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) projected with Scale BB, a base year
  of 2000 and Generational Mortality set-forward 2 years. Mortality for accidental disability is
  assumed to be 50% from the same cause as the disability.
- Long-term Expected Rate of Return.
  - The long-term expected rate of return on plan investments was determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The best estimates of geometric long-term expected real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table.

Long-term	
expected real	
rate of return	

(continued)

	Tate Of It	etarri .	
Asset class	2019*	2018*	
Domestic equity	4.92 %	5.35 %	
International equity	5.30	5.72	
Fixed income	2.18	2.53	
Real estate	5.17	5.20	
Private equity	7.49	8.20	

<sup>\*</sup> amounts are net of inflation assumption of 2.36% and 2.23%, respectively

23

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2019 and 2018

### (b) Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 was 7.25%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on those assumptions, the Plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on the plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

### (c) Change in Benefit Terms

In 2018 there were two changes to plan provisions resulting in a \$4.9 million reduction of the net pension liability due to a decision by the Contributory Retirement Appeal Board, vacation buybacks are currently not included in pensionable earnings when estimating the projected benefit payments, resulting in a reduction of the net pension liability totaling \$7.9 million. Also, as of July 1, 2017, the COLA base was increased from \$13,000 to \$14,000, increasing the net pension liability by \$3.0 million.

### (d) Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, calculated using the discount rate of 7.25% as well as what the net pension liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one-percentage point lower or one-percentage point higher than the current rate:

			2019	
		1% decrease (6.25%)	Current discount rate (7.25%)	1% increase (8.25%)
Plan's net pension liability (asset)	S	102,414,013	18,784,724	(51,963,886)
			2018	
		1% decrease (6.25%)	Current discount rate (7,25%)	1% increase (8.25%)
Plan's net pension liability (asset)	\$	188,969,819	104,919,618	35,765,365

24

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2019 and 2018

## (11) Subsequent Event

On March 11, 2020, an outbreak of the novel strain of coronavirus known as COVID-19 was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization. While much is still being learned, this outbreak is expected to affect the global economy as financial markets have declined. Management is not yet able to quantify the impact but is continuing to monitor returns and investments.

Required Supplementary Information (Uneddood) Schedule of Changes in Net Primition Liability and Related Retics

	2019	2018	2017	2016	2015	2014	2013
Total persion initially.  Service could intend  Chingly of benefit terms  Liference: between expected and actual experiency.  Chingly of accumptions  Binvaller paymonts.  Other	17.529,341 51,754,212 15,434 (13,789,423) (35,377,806) 2,277,198	18,774,303 49,569,214 (4,891,422) 748,729 (33,648,705) 561,839	16,410,306 47,341,133 (1,474,367) (31,000,590) 269,347	15,920,199 44,961,249 2,591,721 (1,478,780) (28,430,589) (173,330)	14,875 543 41 100.193 (13,94,649) 24,097,914 (25,457,593) 351,309	13,055 819 40,955,953 1,929,282 (24,498,178) 141,411	12.515,848 28.659,898 (23,147,453) 439,351
Not change in total penasen irebety	22.388.852	39,114,108	31,554,019	33,390,470	52.632.317	31.583.692	28-467,654
Total pension leadity – beginning of year	712,596,410	883,482,302	E51,927,383	618,536,913	568,904,596	534,320,904	505,853,250
Total pension listkilly - end of year (a)	734,985,262	712,590,410	683,482,862	651,927,188	613,536,913	585,304,596	534,830,004
Change in Risusary net postore Contributions — emissions Contributions — emissione Text investment income (basi Benedits postment Administrative expenses Other	12,029,090 12,576,329 118,23,705 (35,377,808) (1,25,774) 2,277,798	13.043,059 11,559,077 (31,212,130) (33,648,705) (1,182,153) 561,889	18,362,26E 11,242,327 92,226,863 (31,000,590) (1,148,892) 269,347	13,552,303 10,869,015 -42,565,124 (28,430,589) (1,189,467) -(173,330)	10,845,396 9,947,598 (4,572,336) (26,457,593) (1,188,190) 351,309	11,146,319 9,627,879 31,932,249 (24,495,178) (1,267,785) 141,411	11,900,380 9,112,191 65,690,757 (23,147,453) (626,935) 489,361
Not change in fiduction not position	100.528.746	(40.878,943)	84,950,312	36,963,656	(11:071.816)	27.001,295	68.226.367
Fiduciary net posbon – beginning of year	807,676,792	648,555,735	583,605,422	526,621,766	537,695,582	510,634,287	447,407,980
Finitionly hel postinin – end of ying (b)	710,200,538	607,676,792	648,555,735	563,605,422	528,621,766	537,105,582	510,634,287
Wer persion liability - and of year (a)-(b)	8 16,784,724	104,919,618	34,926,567	88 321,961	91,915,147	28,209,014	23,686,617
Fiduciary mit position as a percentage of the total pieces intaking	97.3%	85.8%	14.0%	86.5%	35.1%	195.0%	95.0%
Covered employee payroll Net person employee payroll	# 179.261,835 45.8%	114,541,433 91.6%	110,173,417 31.7%	105,443,915	59,190,553 52.7%	29.9%	90,041,646 26.3%

Note: This is nearly is intended to present 10 years of data. Additional years will be presented when available

#### Notes to Schedule:

Burnett Chancus

2019 Crist school adjustments increased, resulting in an increased net person liability toking \$3.0 million. Additionally, version buybacks were no longer includable in personable immings, resulting it in decreased net pension habity toking \$7.0 million.

#### Changes of Assumptions

- 2015 The modifiely assumption was charged to the PPDIA at 2005 Table Healthy Employees (New Addition by Man Microbial Commissional Ministry The with Avail, Historium and Gashity assumption was the incident assumption in the incident as a supplication in the incident assumption in the incident as a supplication in the incident a
- 2010. The minimum retriement age increased to ege 60 for post W20/2009 hives, resulting to a decreased net previous subsety-totaling \$1.5 million.
- 2012 DisCount rate decreased from 7 (25% to 7.25%, resulting in an increased net person initially foliating \$34.1 million

26

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
Schedule of Investment Returns

	2019	2018	2017	2016	2015	2014	2013
Annual money-weighted rate of return, net of investment expense*	19.64 %	(4.83)%	16.51%	8.14 %	(0.82)%	6.36%	14.80%
*This calculation uses a mid-month assumption for	all cash flows.						
Note: This schedule is intended to present 10 year available.	ars of data. Additiona	years will be presen	ited when				

## MASSACHUSETT'S PORT AUTHORITY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM Required Supplementary information (Unsudited)

Schedule of Contributions

		2019	2018	2017	2016	2015	2014	2013	2012	2011	2010
Actualisty determined contribution. Actual contribution in relation to actualisty determined.	\$	12,029,098	13,043,069	13,362,268	13,552,303	10,845,396	11/146,319	11.960,386	9.594,044	5 709,827	4,923,844
contribution	-	12,029,098	18,043,069	13,352,268	13,552,303	10,845,396	71,146,319	11,980,386	9,594,044	5,709,827	4,923,844
Contribution deficiency (excess)	\$					-					
Covered-employee payroll Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll	\$	119 261,835 10 1%	114,541,433 11,496	110.173,417 12.1%	106,443,913 12,796	99,190,358 10,996	94,339,891 11,896	90 041,646 13,3%	87 476,195 11 0%	85,941,169 6 8%	89,949,806 5.5%

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

Notes to the Schedule of Contributions

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

#### Valuation date:

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of January 1, 18 months prior to the end of the fiscal year in which contributions are reported. The January 1, 2017 valuation established the rate for the fiscal year 2018 contribution and the January 1, 2018 valuation established the fiscal year 2019 contribution. The following assumptions were used for the periods included in the funding for 2019 and 2018:

Actuanal cost method: Frozen Entry Age Normal

Amortization method:

Asset valuation method: 5-year smoothed market

Inflation: Salary Increases: 4.5%

investment rate of return: 7.25%, net of plan investment expense

Retirement benefits: Depending on age at retirement and "Group" classification 0,1%-2,5% per year of service times

highest three year average salary. A five year average salary is used for those hired after April 1, 2012.

20 year level, closed

Post-retirement cost of living increases: The cost-of-living base is assumed to be \$14,000. Annual cost of living increases are assumed to

be 3.0% of the lesser of the base or annual benefits.

Withdrawal prior to retirement: The rates shown at the following sample ages illustrate the withdrawal assumption:

Rate of withdrawal						
	Age	Groups 1 and 2	Groups 4			
	26	2,00 %	0.50 %			
	30	2.00	0.50			
	35	2,00	0.50			
	40	1,50	0.40			
	45	1:50	0.10			
	50	1.00	N/A			
	55	1.00	N/A			

Groups discussed above include the following categories of employees:

Group 1 includes general employees including clerical, administrative and technical workers, laborers and all others not otherwise classified.

Group 2 includes airport gate guards and maritime port officers.

Group 4 includes firefighters, licensed electricians, first - and second class stationary engineers, watch engineers, steam firemen, utility technicians and their supervisors.

Healthy-RP 2000 Table (sex distinct) projected from 2000 with Scale BB and Generational Mortality

Post-retirement the RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) projected with Scale BB Generational Mortality

Disabled-RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) and Generational Mortality set-forward 2 years. Mortality for accidental disability is assumed to be 50% from the same cause as the disability.

See accompanying independent auditors' report.

Mortality:

Other Supplementary Information
Schedule of Administrative Expenses
December 31, 2019 and 2018

		2019	2018
Personnel services:			
Staff salaries	\$	413,838	407,967
Board member stipend		21,650	22,500
Benefits	-	129,783	134,342
Total personnel services	-	565,271	564,809
Professional services			
Actuarial		42,796	49,683
Audit		78,500	75,000
Legal counsel	1	71,815	67,739
Total professional services		193,111	192,422
Communication;			
Printing		18,442	15,055
Postage		26,462	21,273
Education and training		31,264	23,021
Member services		21,015	23,950
Total communication	1	97,183	83,299
Miscellaneous:			
General and administrative		45,414	35,836
Rent and other		279,508	272,027
Technological support	_	35,287	33,760
Total miscellaneous	_	360,209	341,623
Total administrative expenses	s	1,215,774	1,182,153

Other Supplementary Information

Schedule of Investment Expenses and Payments to Consultants

December 31, 2019 and 2018

		2019	2018
Schedule of investment expenses:			
Investment management fees	S	2,343,631	2,040,287
Investment consultant fees		141,761	139,105
Custodial fees	-	41,561	40,931
Total investment expenses	\$	2,526,953	2,220,323
Schedule of payments to consultants*,			
Independent auditors	S	78,500	75,000
Actuary		42,796	49,683
Legal	7-	71,815	67,739
Total payments to consultants	\$_	193,111	192,422

These payments are presented for analytical purposes; each amount is already included in schedules
of administrative or investment expenses.



Financial Statements, Required Supplementary Information, and Other Supplementary Information

December 31, 2018 and 2017

(With Independent Auditors' Report Thereon)

Financial Statements, Required Supplementary Information, and Other Supplementary Information

December 31, 2018 and 2017

### **Table of Contents**

	Page(s
Independent Auditors' Report	1–2
Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)	3–9
Financial Statements:	
Statements of Fiduciary Net Position	10
Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position	-11
Notes to Financial Statements	12-24
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)	
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios	25
Schedule of Investment Returns	26
Schedule of Contributions	27
Notes to the Schedule of Contributions	28
Other Supplementary Information	
Schedule of Administrative Expenses	29
Schedule of Investment Expenses and Payments to Consultants	30



KPMG LTP Two Financial Center 80 South Street Boston, MA 02111

### Independent Auditors' Report

The Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System Board:

### Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System (the Plan) as of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, **which collectively comprise the Plan's** basic financial statements for the years then ended as listed in the accompanying table of contents.

### Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

#### Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

#### Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Plan as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the changes in its financial position for the years then ended in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.





#### Other Matters

#### Required Supplementary Information

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that the management's discussion and analysis on pages 3 through 9 and the supplementary schedules of changes in net pension liability and related ratios, investment returns, contributions and notes to the schedule of contributions on pages 25 through 28 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance on provide any assurance.

### Other Supplementary Information

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively comprise the Plan's basic financial statements. The schedules of administrative expenses and investment expenses and payments to consultants on pages 29 and 30 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The schedules of administrative expenses and investment expenses and payments to consultants are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedules of administrative expenses and investment expenses and payments to consultants are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

### Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated April 22, 2019 on our consideration of the Plan's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the Plan's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.



Boston, Massachusetts April 22, 2019

Required Supplementary Information

### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2018 and 2017 (Unaudited)

This section presents Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System's (MPAERS or the Plan) financial activity and performance as of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. The MD&A is unaudited and is intended to serve as an introduction to the Plan's basic financial statements, as well as to offer readers of the Plan's financial statements a narrative view and analysis of MPAERS' financial activities.

### **Financial Highlights**

The fiduciary net position of the Plan as of December 31, 2018 totaled \$607.7 million, a \$40.9 million, or 6,3% decrease, due to negative returns in most major asset classes. Fiduciary net position is the residual of the Plan's assets in excess of the Plan's liabilities as of the date of the Statements of Fiduciary Net Position. The Plan's assets are held in trust to meet future benefit payments.

**Total Plan "additions" of \$**(5.1) million, comprised of \$26.1 million in contributions and transfers, and \$(31.2) million in investment losses, were realized for the year ended December 31, 2018. In comparison, the Plan experienced total additions of \$118.6 million and \$67.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The decrease in 2018 is due to investment losses in most major asset classes, and the increase in 2017 Plan additions is due to investment gains in all major asset classes.

For the plan year ended December 31, 2018, total Plan deductions were \$35.8 million, an increase of \$2.1 million, or 6.3% over the last year, and are comprised of \$33.7 million in benefit payments, \$937,000 in transfers and withdrawals and \$1.2 million in administrative expenses. This \$2.1 million increase is primarily due to new retirements. This is as compared to total deductions of \$33.7 million and \$30.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

For reporting purposes in accordance with the Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB), as of December 31, 2018, the Plan's fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability was 85.3%. As required by the Plan's charter, for funding purposes the Plan uses the Frozen-Entry-Age-Normal actuarial method which differs from that prescribed by GASB. Under the Frozen-Entry-Age-Normal method, the funded ratio of the plan as of January 1, 2018, was 92.8%.

### Overview of the Financial Statements

The basic financial statements consist of the: (1) Statements of Fiduciary Net Position; (2) Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position; (3) Notes to the Financial Statements; (4) Required Supplementary Information; and (5) Other Supplementary Information.

The Statements of Fiduciary Net Position report the Plan's assets, liabilities, and net position restricted for pensions at the end of the fiscal year calculated using the following formula. Assets – Liabilities = Net position restricted for pensions. The Statements of Fiduciary Net Position report the financial position of the Plan at a given point in time, in this case, December 31. Over time, the increase or decrease in fiduciary net position serves as a useful indicator of the Plan's financial health.

Required Supplementary Information

### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2018 and 2017 (Unaudited)

The Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position report additions to and deductions from the Plan during the fiscal year. The formula here is: Additions – Deductions = Net Increase (Decrease) in Plan Fiduciary Net Position. The Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position report activity occurring over a specific period of time, in this case, the year beginning January 1 and ending December 31.

The Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the Plan's financial statements.

The Required Supplementary Information following the Notes to the Financial Statements consists of the schedules of changes in net pension liability and related ratios, investment returns, contributions and notes to schedule of contributions.

Other Supplementary Information details schedules of administrative expenses, investment expenses, and payments to consultants.

These statements and schedules are prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, including the accounting and financial reporting requirements found in GASB Statement No. 67.

### **Financial Analysis**

Total assets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 were \$608.5 million and \$649.4 million, respectively, and were comprised of cash and cash equivalents; investments; accrued interest and accrued dividends receivables; and contributions due from Plan members, the Plan sponsor and other systems. Total assets decreased by \$40.9 million or 6.3% from \$649.4 million as of December 31, 2017, due to investment losses in most major asset classes. Total assets increased by \$84.9 million or 15.0% from \$564.5 million between 2016 and 2017 due to investment gains in all major asset classes.

Total liabilities as of December 31, 2018 were approximately \$816,000 and total liabilities as of December 31, 2017 were approximately \$881,000. Total liabilities for 2018 were primarily comprised of payables for investment management fees, refunds to members, and payables to other state retirement plans. In 2017 total liabilities were also primarily comprised of payables for investment management fees, refunds to members and payables to other state retirement plans.

Total fiduciary net position held in trust for pension benefits totaled \$607.7 million which represents a decrease of \$40.9 million or 6.3% over 2017. Fiduciary net position increased by \$85.0 million or 15.1% between 2016 and 2017. The decrease in 2018 is due to investment losses in most major asset classes. The increase in 2017 is due to investment gains in all major asset classes.

Required Supplementary Information

### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2018 and 2017 (Unaudited)

Contract of the second	A	information	

		_	2018	2017	Total \$ change	Total % change
Assets:						
Cash and	cash equivalents	\$	515,799	1,508,453	(992,654)	(65.8)%
Investmen	nts		605,931,824	646,081,039	(40,149,215)	(6.2)
Receivabl	es	_	2,045,028	1,847,126	197,902	10.7
	Total assets		608,492,651	649,436,618	(40,943,967)	(6.3)
Liabilities:						
Payables		-	815,859	880,883	(65,024)	(7.4)
	Total liabilities		815,859	880,883	(65,024)	(7.4)
	Fiduciary net position	\$_	607,676,792	648,555,735	(40,878,943)	(6.3)%

### Condensed financial information

	2017	2016	Total \$ change	Total % change
\$	1,508,453	1,327,084	181,369	13.7 %
	646,081,039	561,549,966	84,531,073	15.1
	1,847,126	1,669,755	177,371	10.6
_	649,436,618	564,546,805	84,889,813	15.0
-	880,883	941,383	(60,500)	(6.4)
	880,883	941,383	(60,500)	(6.4)
\$	648,555,735	563,605,422	84,950,313	15.1 %
	\$	\$ 1,508,453 646,081,039 1,847,126 649,436,618 880,883 880,883	\$ 1,508,453	\$ 1,508,453

### Revenues - Additions to Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Additions to MPAERS' Fiduciary net position include plan member and plan sponsor contributions, transfers from other retirement systems and net investment gains. Contributions, net transfers and net investment gains for plan year 2018 totaled approximately \$(5.1) million as compared to a net addition of approximately \$118.6 million in 2017.

Required Supplementary Information

### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2018 and 2017 (Unaudited)

In 2018, member contributions increased by approximately \$317,000 or 2.8% due to the addition of new employees and the accrual of outstanding prior service buybacks. In 2017, member contributions increased by approximately \$583,000 or 5.5% also due to the addition of new employees and the accrual of outstanding prior service buybacks.

Plan sponsor contributions of \$13.0 million decreased by \$319,000 or 2.4%, compared to a decrease of \$190,000 or 1.4% in 2017. The decrease in 2018 and 2017 are due to the decrease in the Annual Required Employer Contribution (ARC) as determined by the Plan's actuary. Fluctuations in plan sponsor contributions are partially due to the incremental accrual by the Plan's actuary of market gains and losses over multiple years as well as changes to actuarial assumptions including mortality and interest rates.

Net investment income for the year ending December 31, 2018 was \$(31.2) million representing a \$123.4 million or 133.8% decrease from 2017. The decrease in investment income in 2018 is the result of investment losses in most major asset classes. Net investment income for the year ending December 31, 2017 was \$92.2 million representing a \$49.7 million or 116.7% increase from 2016. The increase in net investment gains in 2017 is the result of investment gains in all major asset classes.

Additions		2018	2017	Total \$ change	Total % change
Plan member contributions	S	11,559,077	11,242,327	316,750	2.8 %
Plan sponsor contribution		13,043,069	13,362,268	(319, 199)	(2.4)
Net transfers		1,499,370	1,780,786	(281,416)	(15.8)
Net investment gain (loss)	-	(31,212,130)	92,225,853	(123,437,983)	(133.8)
Total additions	S	(5,110,614)	118,611,234	(123,721,848)	(104.3)%

### **Condensed financial information**

Additions		2017	2016	Total \$ change	Total % change
Plan member contributions	S	11,242,327	10,659,615	582,712	5.5 %
Plan sponsor contribution		13,362,268	13,552,303	(190,035)	(1.4)
Net transfers		1,780,786	1,052,567	728,219	69.2
Net investment gain	-	92,225,853	42,565,124	49,660,729	116.7
Total additions	S	118,611,234	67,829,609	50,781,625	74.9 %

Required Supplementary Information

### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2018 and 2017 (Unaudited)

### Expenses - Deductions from Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Deductions to the Plan include the payment of pension benefits to members and beneficiaries, refunds of contributions to inactive members, transfers of member contributions to other Massachusetts public retirement plans and the cost of administration. For plan year 2018, the total deductions were \$35.8 million, an increase of \$2.1 million or 6.3% over 2017. For plan year 2017, the total deductions were \$33.7 million, an increase of \$2.8 million or 9.1% over 2016.

Retirement benefit payments totaled \$33.7 million, an increase of approximately \$2.6 million or 8.5%. In 2017 retirement benefit payments totaled \$31.0 million, an increase of approximately \$2.6 million or 9.0% from the previous year. The increases in 2018 and 2017 are primarily due to new retirements and to a lesser extent are also due to pension increases also known as cost-of-living adjustments in those respective years.

For plan year 2018, withdrawals by inactive members totaled approximately \$667,000, a decrease of approximately \$387,000 or 36.7%. For plan year 2017, withdrawals by inactive members totaled approximately \$1.0 million, an increase of approximately \$505,000 or 92.0%. The decrease in 2018 is due to a decrease in inactive members withdrawing their contributions from the Plan. The increase in 2017 is due to an increase in inactive members withdrawing their contributions from the Plan. Transfers to other Massachusetts public retirement systems totaled approximately \$270,000, a decrease of approximately \$187,000 or 40.9% from 2017. This is compared to a \$219,000 or 32.4% decrease in transfers from 2016 to 2017. Year to year changes in transfer rates can be attributed to variations in public sector workforce movement between Massport and other government employers.

In 2018, administrative expenses totaled approximately \$1.2 million, an increase of approximately \$33,000 or 2.9%, and in 2017 administrative expenses totaled approximately \$1.1 million, a decrease of approximately \$41,000 or 3.4%. The increase in administrative expenses for 2018 are due to increases in staff benefit costs, rent and equipment fees. The decrease in administrative expenses for 2017 is primarily attributable to a decrease in legal expenses.

### Condensed financial information

Deductions		2018	2017	Total \$ change	Total % change
Retirement benefits Withdrawals by inactive	\$	33,648,705	31,000,590	2,648,115	8,5 %
members Transfers to other state retiremen	nt	667,246	1,053,876	(386,630)	(36.7)
plans		270,225	457,563	(187,338)	(40.9)
Administrative expenses	1.5	1,182,153	1,148,892	33,261	2.9
Total deductions	S_	35,768,329	33,660,921	2,107,408	6.3 %

Required Supplementary Information

### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2018 and 2017 (Unaudited)

		Condensed fina	ncial information		
Deductions		2017	2016	Total \$ change	Total % change
Retirement benefits Withdrawals by inactive	\$	31,000,590	28,430,589	2,570,001	9.0 %
members Transfers to other state retirement		1,053,876	548,846	505,030	92.0
plans		457,563	677,051	(219,488)	(32.4)
Administrative expenses		1,148,892	1,189,467	(40,575)	(3.4)
Total deductions	\$_	33,660,921	30,845,953	2,814,968	9.1 %

### Changes in Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Changes in fiduciary net position as of December 31, 2018 were \$(40.9) million, which represents a decrease of \$125.8 million or 148.1%. This decrease is primarily the result of investment losses. Changes in fiduciary net position as of December 31, 2017 were \$85.0 million, which represents an increase of \$48.0 million or 129.7%. This increase is primarily the result of investment gains in all major asset classes.

	*)	Condensed finan	cial information		
Changes in plan fiduciary net position		2018	2017	Total \$ change	Total % change
Total additions Total deductions	\$	(5,110,614) 35,768,329	118,611,234 33,660,921	(123,721,848) 2,107,408	(104.3)% 6.3
Change in plan fiduciary net position	\$	(40,878,943)	84,950,313	(125,829,256)	(148.1)%
Changes in plan fiduciary net	(	Condensed financ	ial information	Total	Total
position	1	2017	2016	\$ change	% change
Total additions Total deductions	\$	118,611,234 33,660,921	67,829,609 30,845,953	50,781,625 2,814,968	74.9 % 9.1
Change in plan fiduciary net position	<b>s_</b>	84,950,313	36,983,656	47,966,657	129.7 %

### **Overall Financial Position of MPAERS**

Due to investment losses in most major asset classes the Plan has experienced a decrease in its investment portfolio for the year ending December 31, 2018. Management believes the Plan still remains well funded and able to meet its obligations. As plan sponsor, the Massachusetts Port Authority bears the investment risk.

Required Supplementary Information

### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2018 and 2017 (Unaudited)

When plan net position declines, the plan sponsor is statutorily obligated to offset the losses to fund the Plan's annual assessment. Management anticipates a modest increase in employer contributions in 2019.

### MPAERS Replacement Plan and Trust

The MPAERS Board established the MPAERS Replacement Plan and Trust (the Replacement Plan) in 2012 to comply with Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Code. The Replacement Plan will provide benefits that cannot be provided under a qualified plan due to the limits of Section 415 on contributions and benefits. In 2018 and 2017, the benefits paid from the Replacement Plan totaled \$0 and \$2,923, respectively.

#### Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide an overview of MPAERS' finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report should be addressed to Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System, One Harborside Drive, Suite 200S, East Boston, MA 02128.

### Statements of Fiduciary Net Position

December 31, 2018 and 2017

	2018	2017
Assets: Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 515,799	1,508,453
Investments, at fair value: Common stocks Commingled funds: Domestic equity Fixed income International equity	18,248,156 137,899,235 198,094,021 160,499,569	20,705,711 163,228,990 180,972,384 199,877,038
Real estate Private Equity	47,518,467 43,672,376	45,235,196 36,061,720
Total investments, at fair value	605,931,824	646,081,039
Receivables: Plan member contributions Accrued interest and dividends Other state retirement plans Receivable for securities sold Other	460,809 26,421 1,444,192 92,794 20,812	447,012 16,677 1,334,241 49,196
Total receivables	2,045,028	1,847,126
Total plan assets	608,492,651	649,436,618
Liabilities: Payables to other state retirement plans Payable for securities purchased Other payables	475,628 14,507 325,724	474,465 — 406,418
Total plan liabilities	815,859	880,883
Net position restricted for pensions	\$ 607,676,792	648,555,735

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position Fiscal years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

		2018	2017
Additions: Contributions:			
Plan members Plan sponsor	\$	11,559,077 13,043,069	11,242,327 13,362,268
Total contributions	12	24,602,146	24,604,595
Intergovernmental: Transfers from other state retirement plans Section 3(8)(c) transfers, net		533,054 966,316	935,825 844,961
Net intergovernmental		1,499,370	1,780,786
Investment income (loss): Interest and dividends Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value of investments Less management and related fees		14,324,757 (43,316,564) (2,220,323)	8,786,621 85,607,631 (2,168,399)
Net investment income (loss)		(31,212,130)	92,225,853
Total additions	1	(5,110,614)	118,611,234
Deductions: Retirement benefits Withdrawals by terminated employees Transfers to other state retirement plans Administrative expenses		33,648,705 667,246 270,225 1,182,153	31,000,590 1,053,876 457,563 1,148,892
Total deductions		35,768,329	33,660,921
Change in fiduciary net position		(40,878,943)	84,950,313
Net position restricted for pensions: Beginning of year		648,555,735	563,605,422
End of year	\$_	607,676,792	648,555,735
	- 12		

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2018 and 2017

### (1) Plan Description

The Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System (the Plan) is a single employer plan established on July 18, 1978, effective January 1, 1979, by enactment of Chapter 487 (an amendment to Chapter 32) of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts to provide retirement benefits for substantially all employees of the Massachusetts Port Authority (the Authority), and incidental benefits for their surviving spouses, beneficiaries and contingent annuitants. Prior to this enactment, Authority employees were members of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Contributory Retirement System and the funding of the pension liability was on a "pay-as-you-go" method. Pursuant to this enactment, the employees' then present rights and benefits were transferred to the new retirement system. The Plan is a contributory defined benefit plan to which the Authority and its employees contribute such amounts as are necessary to provide assets sufficient to meet benefits to be paid to plan participants. The Plan is administered by the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System Board (the Board), consisting of five members including one ex-officio member, two elected members, one member appointed by the Massachusetts Port Authority and one member appointed by the four board members.

At January 1, 2018 and 2017, the Plan's membership consisted of:

	2018	2017
Retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits	826	779
Terminated employees entitled to benefits but not yet		
receiving them	66	72
Current members:		
Active	1,288	1,268
Inactive	142	136_
Total membership	2,322	2,255

Benefits are paid by the Plan from plan assets available for plan benefits. Plan participants are entitled at normal retirement age to benefit payments based upon length of service and earnings levels. Vesting occurs after 10 years of service.

Benefits to participants who retired prior to January 1, 1979 are paid by the Massachusetts State Board of Retirement. The Massachusetts State Board of Retirement is reimbursed for all such benefits paid after December 31, 1978 as these benefits represent obligations of the Plan.

Under Chapter 32, Section 3(8) (c), of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts (Chapter 32), the Plan is reimbursed for benefits paid to participants entitled to receive benefits for previous participation in other Massachusetts Chapter 32 plans. The Plan is also obligated to pay a proportionate share of benefits to participants entitled to receive benefits for subsequent participation in other Massachusetts Chapter 32 plans.

Also under Chapter 32, for members leaving the Authority's employment to work for other Massachusetts governmental units, the Plan transfers their accumulated account balances and creditable service to the

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2018 and 2017

retirement system of the new employer. Other such retirement systems are in turn required to make comparable transfers to the Plan for employees coming to work for the Authority.

Optional payment methods may be elected, including the contingent annultant method which provides for reduced payments during the life of the plan participant and continued payments to the participant's beneficiary after the death of the participant.

### (2) Contributions Required and Contributions Made

Contributions are made by the Authority based on amounts required to be funded as determined by annual actuarial valuations and are designed to fund the Plan on a level cost basis, as a percentage of pay, over the average remaining working lifetime of the active participants and to fund operating costs of the Plan. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, the Authority was required and did contribute to the Plan \$13,043,069, \$13,362,268 and \$13,552,303, respectively. The Authority bears the risk that plan assets might decline due to fluctuations in the market value of the Plan's investments and contributions by the Authority will increase.

Employees who became members prior to January 1, 1975 contribute 5% of their regular compensation through payroll deductions. Employees whose membership commenced on or after January 1, 1975 but prior to January 1, 1984 contribute 7%. Those employees whose membership began on or after January 1, 1984 but prior to July 1, 1996 contribute 8%. Employees hired after July 1, 1996 contribute 9% of their regular compensation. Employees who are hired after December 31, 1978 contribute an additional 2% of regular compensation over \$30,000. These contributions accumulate and, subject to certain restrictions set forth in Chapter 32, are refundable to employees upon termination of employment by the Authority or payable to another retirement system should the employee transfer to another government unit covered by Chapter 32 of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

Contributions totaling \$24,602,146 (\$13,043,069 employer and \$11,559,077 employee) and \$24,604,595 (\$13,362,268 employer and \$11,242,327 employee) were recognized by the Plan for plan years 2018 and 2017, respectively.

### (3) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

### (a) Basis of Accounting

These financial statements have been prepared with an "economic resources" measurement focus on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with generally accepted governmental accounting principles.

#### (b) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on deposit, and highly liquid short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2018 and 2017

### (c) Investment Valuation

Investments are reported at fair value. Securities traded on a national or international securities exchange are valued at the last reported sales price on the last business day of the plan year; investments traded on a national securities exchange for which no sale was reported on that date and investments in common and preferred stocks traded in over-the-counter markets are valued at the mean of the last reported bid and asked prices, or the last reported bid price. Mutual funds and commingled funds, including real estate and private equity investments, are valued based on net asset value (NAV) or unit value at year-end. Changes in fair value are included in investment income (loss) in the statement of changes in fiduciary net position.

#### (d) Contributions

Employer contributions are recognized when legally due. Member contributions are recognized by the Plan as compensation is earned by the Authority's employees.

#### (e) Retirement Benefits

Retirement benefits and refunds are recorded when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the Plan.

#### (f) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of additions and deductions during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from estimates. Fair values of real estate and private equity holdings are generally estimated absent readily available market values, and such estimates may be materially different than values that would have been used if a ready market existed.

### (g) Other

Purchases and sales of securities are reflected on a trade-date basis. Gain or loss on sales of securities is based on average cost.

Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date. Interest income is recorded as earned on an accrual basis. Income from venture capital limited partnerships is recorded using the equity method of accounting.

The Plan presents in its Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position the net appreciation (depreciation) in the fair value of its investments, which consists of the net realized gains and losses during the year and the change in unrealized appreciation and depreciation during the year on those investments.

### (h) Investment Policy

The provisions of Massachusetts General Laws (M.G.L.) Chapter 32, Section 23(2) and the Board approved investment policy govern the Plan's investment practice.

14

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2018 and 2017

Diversification is attained through varied investment management styles that comply with Massachusetts state law. This is accomplished through the retention of investment managers that adhere to M.G.L. Chapter 32, Section 23(3), the "Prudent Person" rule:

The Plan has retained an investment consultant to work with the Board in a fiduciary capacity to assure that strategic investment diversification is attained, to employ investment managers with expertise in their respective asset classes, and to closely monitor the implementation and performance of the respective investment strategies.

The Plan is currently invested in stocks (domestic and international), fixed income securities (domestic and international), real estate and private equity.

The target allocation for each major asset class is summarized in the following table:

Asset class	Target allocation
Domestic equity	27.50 %
International equity	27.50
Fixed income	30.00
Real estate	7.50
Private equity	7,50
Total	100,00 %

The Board's current rebalancing policy states that "The Board shall rebalance to the established targets during the quarter following the quarter ended whenever the asset class allocation falls outside the allowable ranges."

### (4) Deposit and Investment Risks

The following discusses the Plan's exposure to common deposit and investment risks related to custodial credit, credit, concentration of credit, interest rate and foreign currency risks as of December 31, 2018 and 2017

### (a) Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a failure of a depository financial institution, the Plan deposits may not be returned. Investment securities are exposed to custodial credit risk if the securities are uninsured, are not registered in the name of the Plan and are held by either the depository financial institution or the depository financial institution's trust department or agent but not in the Plan's name.

Although there is no Plan-wide policy for custodial credit risk associated with deposits, the Plan's investments are held by the Plan's custodian and registered in the Plan's name. All of the Plan's securities are held by the Plan's custodial bank in the Plan's name, except for investments in mutual and commingled funds, real estate properties, and limited partnerships, which by their nature, are not required to be categorized. Investments in the Short-Term Investment Funds (STIF) are held in an

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2018 and 2017

SEC-registered pooled fund that is managed by the master custodian bank. The fair value of the position in the pool equals the value of the pool shares.

### (b) Credit Risk

Credit risk exists when there is a possibility the issuer or other counterparty to an investment may be unable to fulfill its obligations.

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the System's fixed income investments totaled \$198,094,021 and \$180,972,384, respectively. These investments are split between two commingled funds. Both funds are not rated.

There are no Plan-wide policy limitations for credit risk exposures within the portfolio. The Plan's two fixed income investments are managed in accordance with an investment contract that is specific as to permissible credit quality ranges and the average credit quality of the overall portfolio.

### (c) Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss that may be attributed to the magnitude of a government's investment in a single issuer. The Plan has no investments, at fair value, that exceed 5% of the Plan's total investments as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 other than pooled investments.

### (d) Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. This risk is managed within the portfolio using the effective duration methodology. It is widely used in the management of fixed income portfolios in that it quantifies to a much greater degree the risk of interest rate changes. While there are no Plan-wide policy limitations as to the degree of interest rate risk taken, the Plan's one actively managed fixed income portfolio has guidelines which specify that the average duration of the Portfolio ranges between plus or minus 1.5 years of the average duration of the Bloomberg Barclays US Aggregate Bond Index. The other fixed income portfolio is in a passive index fund and the investment objective of this fund is to match the return of the Bloomberg Barclays US Aggregate Bond Index. It is believed that the reporting of effective duration found in the tables below quantifies to the fullest extent possible the interest rate risk of the Plan's fixed income assets.

### Interest rate sensitivity – effective duration December 31, 2018

	.,	Fair value	Effective duration (in yrs.)
Fixed income:			
Commingled fund - actively managed	\$	138,441,932	5.43
Commingled fund - passively managed		59,652,089	5.88
Total	S	198,094,021	

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2018 and 2017

### Interest rate sensitivity – effective duration December 31, 2017

	Fair value	duration (in yrs.)
Fixed income:		
Commingled fund - actively managed	\$ 127,430,349	6.26
Commingled fund – passively managed	53,542,035	5.98
Total	\$ 180,972,384	

### (e) Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely impact the fair value of an investment. From time to time, the Plan's external managers may or may not hedge the portfolio's foreign currency exposures with currency forward contracts depending on their views on a specific foreign currency relative to the U.S. dollar. While there are no Plan-wide policy limitations related to foreign currency risk, the Plan will not manage currency as a separate asset class or enter into speculative currency positions in its portfolios, except as it relates to specific cross-hedging activity, which may be permitted in certain investment manager guidelines. While the System has no investments denominated in foreign currencies, the following represents the investments denominated in U.S. dollars that can be subject to fluctuations in foreign currencies:

Currency		2018	2017
International equity pooled funds (various currencies)	S	160,499,569	199,877,038

#### (f) Rate of Return

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the annual money weighted rate of return on plan-investments, net of plan investment expenses was -4.83% and 16.51%, respectively. The money weighted rate of return expresses investment performance net of investment expenses adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

### (g) Fair Value Hierarchy

GAAP establishes a fair value hierarchy for investments that prioritizes inputs used to measure fair value into three levels.

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for assets or liabilities;

Level 2 – observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted in active markets, but corroborated by market data;

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2018 and 2017

Level 3 - unobservable inputs that are used when little or no market data is available.

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs and the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs. In determining fair value, the Plan utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible.

Investments held through commingled funds for which fair value is estimated using net asset values (NAVs) as a practical expedient are not categorized in the fair value hierarchy.

The Plan uses an independent pricing source to determine the fair value of investments at quoted market prices.

The Plan has the following fair value measurements as of December 31, 2018 and 2017:

			201	8	
		Fair Value	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
investments by fair value level.					
Equities	\$_	18,248,156	18,248,156		
		18,248,156	18,248,156		
Investments measured at NAV:					
Commingled equity funds					
Large Cap		117,238,685			
Small Cap		20,660,550			
International		160,499,569			
Commingled fixed income funds:					
Aggregate		59,652,089			
Core Bond	-	138,441,932			
		496,492,825			
Other investments at fair value:					
PRIT real estate fund		47,518,467			
PRIT private equity		43,672,376			
		91,190,843			
Total investments	\$	605,931,824	18,248,156		
	. 10				

18

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2018 and 2017

		201	7	
	Fair Value	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
Investments by fair value level.				
Equities \$	20,705,711	20,705,711		-
	20,705,711	20,705,711		-
Investments measured at NAV: Commingled equity funds				
Large Cap	140,507,796			
Small Cap	22,721,194			
International	199,877,038			
Commingled fixed income funds:				
Aggregate	53,542,035			
Core Bond	127,430,349			
	544,078,412			
Other investments at fair value				
PRIT real estate fund	45, 235, 196			
PRIT private equity	36,061,720			
	81,296,916			
Total investments \$	646,081,039	20,705,711		

The Plan categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. Equity securities classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in active markets for those securities. The Plan has no securities classified in Level 2 or Level 3.

The PRIT real estate and private equity funds are external investment pools that are not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission, but are subject to oversight by the Pension Reserves Investment Management Board (the PRIM Board). The PRIM Board was created by legislation to provide general supervision of the investments and management of PRIT. The PRIT real estate and private equity funds are not rated funds. The fair value of the PRIT real estate and private equity funds are based on unit value as reported by management of the PRIT funds. The PRIT funds issue separately available audited financial statements with a year-end of June 30. The Plan is required to provide a 24 hour redemption notice for the PRIT Real Estate fund. The PRIT Private Equity fund is not redeemable until notified by the PRIM Board.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2018 and 2017

The following represents the significant investment strategies and terms on which the Plan may redeem investments for those investments measured at the NAV (or its equivalent) as a practical expedient:

	investments Measured at NAV					
	2018	2017	Redemption Frequency	Redemption Notice Period		
Commingled equity funds  Commingled fixed income	298,398,804	363,106,028	Daily to Thrice Monthly	1-30 days		
funds	198,094,021	180,972,384	Daily	1-30 days		

- 1 Commingled equity funds: This type includes 5 funds that invest primarily in U.S. large and small cap equity funds and international equity funds.
- 2 Commingled fixed income funds: This type includes 2 fixed income funds that invest in U.S. corporate bonds, U.S. government bonds, U.S. asset-backed securities and foreign bonds.

### (5) Operating Expenses

The Plan's administrative expenses as shown on the Statements of Changes in Plan Fiduciary Net Position are borne by the Plan and financed with investment income. These expenses include personnel and professional services, member communication and education, and other miscellaneous administrative expenses. Operating expenses are billed back to the Authority dollar for dollar as part of the annual assessment.

### (6) General Termination Policy

Under Chapter 465, Section 25 of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts, in the event of dissolution of the Authority by the General Court, participants of the Plan who do not transfer to or enter service in a governmental plan in which a contributory retirement system was established under Chapter 32 shall continue as a member of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System and shall be entitled to benefits as outlined in the Plan. Effective upon the date of dissolution of the Authority, or default of its obligations under Chapter 32 of the General Laws, benefits to be paid to participants would become obligations of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

20

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2018 and 2017

### (7) Legally Required Reserve Accounts

The balances in the Plan's legally required reserves at December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

All reserve accounts are funded at levels required by state statute.

	2018	2017	Purpose
Annuity Savings Fund	\$ 119,612,177	116,637,422	Active members' contribution balance
Annuity Reserve Fund	44,892,825	42,168,584	Retired members' contribution account
Pension Reserve Fund	335,107,166	368,944,414	Remaining net assets
Pension Fund	108,036,376	120,785,366	Amounts appropriated to fund retirement benefits
Military Service Fund	28,248	19,949	Amount appropriated to fund military service time
	\$ 607,676,792	648,555,735	

### (8) Operating Lease

The Plan entered into an operating lease with the Authority on June 1, 2014. The initial term of the lease is 5 years with an option term of 5 years commencing on June 1, 2019. The Plan pays a base rent of \$32.61 per rentable square foot of 2,832 totaling approximately \$7,696 per month and \$92,352 per year. The base rent is subject to escalation annually each October 1st in the term beginning on October 1, 2014 in an amount equal to the greater of (i) 100% of CPI and (ii) 3%.

During the term of the lease, the Plan pays an operating fee for the costs incurred by the Authority's support services to the Plan. The operating fee is \$5,851 per calendar month or \$70,212 per year. The fee is adjusted 5% each October 1st during the term.

The Plan also pays the Authority \$6,338 per calendar month or \$76,060 per year which represents the annualized level of debt service of the tenant fit-out costs amortized over 10 years with interest at 5.2%. The cost to fit out the Plan's space was \$592,114 and \$760,600 with interest.

The Plan also pays the Authority any other amount owed by the Plan to the Authority pursuant to the term of the lease or any other matter arising under the lease including, but not limited to, amounts paid or costs incurred by the Sponsor to cure the Plan's default under or other failure to comply with the lease.

All additional costs associated with the arrangement are billed back to the Authority dollar for dollar as part of the annual assessment.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2018 and 2017

Total lease expense for the years ending December 31, 2018 and 2017 was \$272,027 and \$264,907, respectively. The following is a summary of the future minimum lease payments under this operating lease obligation:

46.150	_	Amount
Years: 2019	\$	92,030
Total	\$	92,030

Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2018, the Plan exercised its option to extend the lease for an additional five years commencing on June 1, 2019. The additional five year term contains the same terms, conditions and provisions as the original term.

### (9) Related-Party Transactions

The Plan invests certain cash in a money market fund, the People's United Bank Short-Term Investment Fund, which is sponsored by the Plan's custodial bank. The total value of funds held at December 31, 2018 and 2017 was \$515,799 and \$1,508,453 respectively.

#### (10) Net Pension Liability

The components of the net pension liability of the System as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, is as follows:

	2018	2017
Total pension liability	\$ 712,596,410	683,482,302
Ficuciary net position	607,676,792	648,555,735
Plan's net pension liability	\$ 104,919,618	34,926,567
Ficuciary net position as a percentate of the total pension liability	85,3 %	94,9 %

### (a) Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2018 and update procedures were used to roll forward the total pension liability forward from the valuation date (1/1/18) to the measurement date (12/31/18). The following actuarial assumptions were applied to the periods included in the measurement for 2018 and 2017

- Inflation 3.0%
- Salary increases 4.5%
- Investment rate of return 7.25%, net of plan investment expense
- Cost-of-living increases 3.0% on a maximum base of \$14,000

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2018 and 2017

### Mortality:

- Healthy RP 2000 Table (sex-distinct) projected with Scale BB and Generational Mortality.
   Post-retirement the RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) projected with Scale BB Generational Mortality.
- Disabled-RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) and Generational Mortality set-forward 2 years. Mortality for accidental disability is assumed to be 50% from the same cause as the disability.

### Long-term Expected Rate of Return.

The long-term expected rate of return on pian investments was determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The best estimates of geometric long-term expected real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

	Long-term expected real rate of return			
Asset class	2018*	2017*		
Domestic equity	5.35 %	5.01 %		
International equity	5.72	5.21		
Fixed income	2.53	2.34		
Real estate	5,20	5.20		
Private equity	8 20	7.68		

amounts are net of inflation assumption of 2.23 % and 2.32%, respectively

#### (b) Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 was 7,25%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate, Based on those assumptions, the Plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on the plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2018 and 2017

### (c) Change in Benefit Terms

There were two changes to plan provisions resulting in a \$4.9 million reduction of the net pension liability.

In 2018, due to a decision by the Contributory Retirement Appeal Board, vacation buybacks are currently not included in pensionable earnings when estimating the projected benefit payments, resulting in a reduction of the net pension liability totaling \$7.9 million. Also, as of July 1, 2017, the COLA base was increased from \$13,000 to \$14,000, increasing the net pension liability by \$3.0 million.

### (d) Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, calculated using the discount rate of 7.25% as well as what the net pension liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one-percentage point lower or one-percentage point higher than the current rate:

			2018	
		1% decrease (6.25%)	Current discount rate (7.25%)	1% increase (8.25%)
Plan's net pension liability (asset)	s	188,969,819	104,919,618	35,765,365
			2017	
		1% decrease (6.25%)	Current discount rate (7.25%)	1% increase (8.25%)
Plan's net pension liability (asset)	s	116,065,406	34,926,567	(31,953,936)

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios

		2018	2017	2016	2015	2014
Total pension liability.		3,-0.7		100000000000000000000000000000000000000		
Service cost	3	16,774,393	16,419,396	15,920,199	14,875,343	13,055,819
Interest		49,569,214	47,341,133	44,961,249	41,160,193	40,955,958
Change of benefit terms		(4,891,422)	-	_	_	-
Differences between expected and actual		ala sis	24 PR 1 PART		44 994 9494	4 000 000
experience		748,729	(1,474,367)	2,591,721	(1,394,849)	1,929,282
Change of assumptions Benefits payments		(33,648,705)	(31,000,590)	(1,478,780) (28,430,589)	24,097,914 (26,457,593)	(24,498,778)
Other		561,899	269,347	(173,330)	351,309	141,411
	-					
Net change in total pension liability		29,114,108	31,554,919	33,390,470	52,632,317	31,583,692
Total pension liability - beginning of year		683,482,302	651,927,383	618,536,913	565,904,596	534,320,904
Total pension liability - end of year (a)		712,596,410	683,482,302	651,927,383	618,536,913	565,904,598
Change in fiduciary net position:						
Contributions - employer		13,043,069	13,362,268	13,552,303	10,845,396	11,146,319
Contributions - employees		11,559,077	11,242,327	10,659,615	9,947,598	9,827,879
Net investment income (loss)		(31,212,130)	92,225,853	42,565,124	(4,572,336)	31,932,249
Benefits payments		(33,648,705)	(31,000,590)	(28,430,589)	(26,457,593)	(24,498,778)
Administrative expenses		(1,182,153)	(1,148,892)	(1,189,467)	(1,188,190)	(1,287,785)
Other	1,00	561,899	269,347	(173,330)	351,309	141,411
Net change in fiduciary net position		(40,878,943)	84,950,313	36,983,656	(11,073,816)	27,061,295
Fiduciary net position - beginning of year	٠.	648,555,735	563,605,422	526,621,766	537,695,582	510,634,287
Fiduciary net position - end of year (b)		607,676,792	648,555,735	563,605,422	526,621,766	537,695,582
Net pension liability - end of year		230-42-5				
(a)-(b)	5	104,919,618	34,926,567	88,321,961	91,915,147	28,209,014
Fiduciary net position as a percentage of the						
total pension liability		85,3%	94.9%	86.5%	85.1%	95,0%
Covered-employee payroli	\$	114,541,433	110,173,417	106,443,913	99,190,353	94,339,891
Net pension liability as a percentage of				100		
covered-employee payroll		91.6%	31.7%	83.0%	92.7%	29.9%
Maria mana dalam d	100	A PROPERTY AND	de la companya de	at the second		

Note: This achedule is intended to present 10 years of data. Additional years will be presented when available.

See accompanying independent auditors' report.

### Notes to Schedule:

Benefit Changes

2018: Cost-of-living adjustments increased, resulting in an increased net pension liability totaling \$3.0 million. Additionally, vacation buybacks were no longer includable in pensionable earnings, resulting in a decreased net pension liability totaling \$7.9 million.

Changes of Assumptions

2016: The minimum retirement age increased to age 60 for post 9/30/2009 hires, resulting in a decreased net pension liability totaling \$1.5 million,

2015: Discount rate decreased from 7.625% to 7.25%, resulting in an increased net pension liability totaling \$24.1 million.

### Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited) Schedule of Investment Returns

		2018	2017	2016	2015	2014
	al money-weighted rate of return, net of sebnent expense*	(4.83)%	16.51 %	8,14%	(0.82)%	6,36%
*This	calculation uses a mid-month assumption for	all cash flows.				
Note	This schedule is intended to present 10 years available.	ara of data. Additional	years will be preser	nted when		

#### MASSACHUSETTS PORT AUTHORITY EMPLOYEES

### Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

### Schedule of Contributions

	-	2016	2017	2016	2015	2014	2013	2012	2011	2010	2009
Actuarially determined contribution Actual contribution in relation to actuarially determines	\$	13,043,089	13,382,268	13,552,303	10,845,396	11,148,319	11,960,386	9,594,044	5,709,827	4,923,844	7,820,768
contribution	_	13,043,059	13,362,268	13,552,303	10,845,396	11,146,319	11,980,386	9,594,044	5,709,827	4,923,844	7,620,768
Contribution deficiency (excess)	\$_										
Covered-employee payroll Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payrol	\$	114,541,433	110,173,417 12.1%	108,443,913 12.7%	99,190,353 10.9%	94,339,891	90,041,646 13.3%	87,476,195 11.0%	85,941,169 8.6%	89,949,808 5.5%	89,704,131 8.5%

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited) Notes to the Schedule of Contributions

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates;

Valuation date:

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of January 1, 18 months prior to the end of the fiscal year in which contributions are reported. The January 1, 2017 valuation established the rate for the fiscal year 2018 contribution and the January 1, 2018 valuation established the fiscal year 2019 contribution. The following assumptions were used for the periods included in the funding for 2018 and 2017:

Frozen Entry Age Normal 20 year level, closed Asset valuation method: 5-year smoothed market

3 inflation: Salary Increases:

Investment rate of return: 7.25%, net of plan investment expense for 2018 and 7.25%, net of plan investment expense for 2017

Retirement benefits: Depending on age at retirement and "Group" classification 0.1%-2.5% per year of service times

highest three year average salary. A five year average salary is used for those hired afte April 1, 2012

Post-retirement cost of living increases: The cost-of-living base is assumed to be \$14,000. Annual cost of living increases are assumed to be 3.0% of the lesser of the base or annual benefits.

Withdrawal prior to retirement: The rates shown at the following sample ages illustrate the withdrawal assumption:

Rate of w	thdrawai	
Age	Groups 1 and 2	Groups 4
25	2.00 %	0.50 %
30	2.00	0.50
35	2.00	0.50
40	1.50	0.40
45	1.50	0.10
50	1.00	N/A
55	1.00	N/A

Groups discussed above include the following categories of employees:

Group 1 includes general employees including clerical, administrative and technical workers laborers and all others not otherwise classified.

Group 2 includes airport gate guards and maritime port officers.

Group 4 includes firefighters, licensed electricians, first – and second class stationary engineers, watch engineers, steam firemen, utility technicians and their supervisors

Healthy-RP 2000 Table (sex distinct) projected with Scale BB and Generational Mortality. Post-retirement the RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) projected with Scale BE Mortality

Generational Mortality

Disabled-RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) and Generational Mortality set-form 2 years. Mortality for accidental disability is assumed to be 50% from the same cause as the disability.

Other Supplementary Information Schedule of Administrative Expenses

December 31, 2018 and 2017

2018	2017
\$ 407,967 22,500 134,342	405,797 19,375 129,075
564,809	554,247
49,683 75,000 67,739	43,725 70,000 84,365
192,422	198,090
15,055 21,273 23,021 23,950	11,975 18,772 31,370 18,764
83,299	80,881
35,836 272,027 33,760	18,243 264,907 32,524
341,623	315,674
\$ 1,182,153	1,148,892
\$	\$ 407,967 22,500 134,342 564,809 49,683 75,000 67,739 192,422 15,055 21,273 23,021 23,950 83,299 35,836 272,027 33,760 341,623

### Other Supplementary Information

### Schedule of Investment Expenses and Payments to Consultants

December 31, 2018 and 2017

	_	2018	2017
Schedule of investment expenses: Investment management fees Investment consultant fees Custodial fees	\$	2,040,287 139,105 40,931	1,989,251 136,230 42,918
Total investment expenses	s_	2,220,323	2,168,399
Schedule of payments to consultants*; Independent auditors Actuary Legal	\$	75,000 49,683 67,739	70,000 43,725 84,365
Total payments to consultants	\$	192,422	198,090

These payments are presented for analytical purposes; each amount is already included in schedules of administrative or investment expenses.



Financial Statements, Required Supplementary Information, and Other Supplementary Information

December 31, 2017 and 2016

(With Independent Auditors' Report Thereon)

Financial Statements, Required Supplementary Information, and Other Supplementary Information December 31, 2017 and 2016

### **Table of Contents**

	Page(s
Independent Auditors' Report	1-2
Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)	3–10
Financial Statements:	
Statements of Fiduciary Net Position	11
Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position	12
Notes to Financial Statements	13-25
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)	
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios	26
Schedule of Investment Returns	27
Schedule of Contributions	28
Notes to the Schedule of Contributions	29
Other Supplementary Information	
Schedule of Administrative Expenses	30
Schedule of Investment Expenses and Payments to Consultants	31



KPMG LTP Two Financial Center 80 South Street Boston, MA 02111

#### Independent Auditors' Report

The Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System Board:

#### Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System (the Plan) as of and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Plan's basic financial statements for the years then ended as listed in the accompanying table of contents.

#### Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

#### Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion

#### Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Plan as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the changes in its financial position for the years then ended in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.





#### Other Matters

#### Required Supplementary Information

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that the management's discussion and analysis on pages 3 through 10 and the supplementary schedules of changes in net pension liability and related ratios, investment returns, contributions and notes to the schedule of contributions on pages 26 through 29 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

#### Other Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively comprise the Plan's basic financial statements. The schedules of administrative expenses and investment expenses and payments to consultants on pages 30 and 31 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The schedules of administrative expenses and investment expenses and payments to consultants are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedules of administrative expenses and investment expenses and payments to consultants are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

### Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated April 27, 2018 on our consideration of the Plan's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the Plan's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.



Boston, Massachusetts April 27, 2018

Required Supplementary Information
Management's Discussion and Analysis
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(Unaudited)

This section presents Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System's (MPAERS or the Plan) financial activity and performance as of and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. The MD&A is unaudited and is intended to serve as an introduction to the Plan's basic financial statements, as well as to offer readers of the Plan's financial statements a narrative view and analysis of MPAERS' financial activities.

#### **Financial Highlights**

The fiduciary net position of the Plan as of December 31, 2017 totaled \$648.6 million, a \$85.0 million, or 15.1% increase, due to positive returns in all major asset classes. Fiduciary net position is the residual of the Plan's assets in excess of the Plan's liabilities as of the date of the Statements of Fiduciary Net Position. The Plan's assets are held in trust to meet future benefit payments.

Total Plan "additions" of \$118.6 million, comprised of \$26.4 million in contributions and transfers, and \$92.2 million in investment gains, were realized for the year ended December 31, 2017. In comparison, the Plan experienced total additions of \$67.8 million and \$17.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The increase in 2017 is due to investment gains in all major asset classes, and the increase in 2016 Plan additions is also due to investment gains in the global equity markets.

For the plan year ended December 31, 2017, total Plan deductions were \$33.6 million, an increase of \$2.8 million, or 9.1% over the last year, and are comprised of \$31.0 million in benefit payments, \$1.5 million in transfers and withdrawals and \$1.1 million in administrative expenses. This \$2.8 million increase is due to new retirements and an increase in withdrawals. This is as compared to total deductions of \$30.8 million and \$28.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

For reporting purposes in accordance with the Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB), as of December 31, 2017, the Plan's fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability was 94.9%. As required by the Plan's charter, for funding purposes the Plan uses the Frozen-Entry-Age-Normal actuarial method which differs from that prescribed by GASB. Under the Frozen-Entry-Age-Normal method, the funded ratio of the plan as of January 1, 2017, was 92.7%.

### Overview of the Financial Statements

The basic financial statements consist of the: (1) Statements of Fiduciary Net Position; (2) Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position; (3) Notes to the Financial Statements; (4) Required Supplementary Information; and (5) Other Supplementary Information.

The Statements of Fiduciary Net Position report the Plan's assets, liabilities, and net position restricted for pensions at the end of the fiscal year calculated using the following formula: Assets — Liabilities = Net position restricted for pensions. The Statements of Fiduciary Net Position report the financial position of the Plan at a given point in time, in this case, December 31. Over time, the increase of decrease in fiduciary net position serves as a useful indicator of the Plan's financial health.

Required Supplementary Information Management's Discussion and Analysis December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Unaudited)

The Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position report additions to and deductions from the Plan during the fiscal year. The formula here is: Additions – Deductions = Net Increase (Decrease) in Plan Fiduciary Net Position. The Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position report activity occurring over a specific period of time, in this case, the year beginning January 1 and ending December 31.

The Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the Plan's financial statements.

The Required Supplementary Information following the Notes to the Financial Statements consists of the schedules of changes in net pension liability and related ratios, investment returns, contributions and notes to schedule of contributions.

Other Supplementary Information details schedules of administrative expenses, investment expenses, and payments to consultants.

These statements and schedules are prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, including the accounting and financial reporting requirements found in GASB Statement No. 67

#### **Financial Analysis**

Total assets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 were \$649.4 million and \$564.5 million, respectively, and were comprised of cash and cash equivalents; investments; accrued interest and accrued dividends receivables; and contributions due from Plan members, the Plan sponsor and other systems. Total assets increased by \$84.9 million or 15.0% from \$564.5 million as of December 31, 2016, due to investment gains in all major asset classes. Total assets increased by \$37.2 million or 7.1% from \$527.3 million between 2015 and 2016 due to investment gains in the global equity markets.

Total liabilities as of December 31, 2017 were approximately \$881,000 and total liabilities as of December 31, 2016 were approximately \$941,000. Total liabilities for 2017 were primarily comprised of payables for investment management fees, refunds to members, and payables to other state retirement plans. In 2016 total liabilities were primarily comprised of payables for investment management fees, refunds to members and payables to other state retirement plans as well.

Total fiduciary net position held in trust for pension benefits totaled \$648.6 million which represents an increase of \$85.0 million or 15.1% over 2016, Fiduciary net position increased by \$37.0 million or 7.0% between 2015

Required Supplementary Information Management's Discussion and Analysis December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Unaudited)

and 2016. The increase in 2017 is due to investment gains in all major asset classes. The increase in 2016 is also attributed to investment gains in the global equity asset classes.

		Condensed finar	icial information		
	ı	2017	2016	Total \$ change	Total % change
	\$	1,508,453	1,327,084	181,369	13.7 %
7		and the same of the same of			15.1
	-	1,047,120	1,009,700	177,071	10.6
Total assets	-	649,436,618	564,546,805	84,889,813	15.0
	-	880,883	941,383	(60,500)	(6.4)
Total liabilities		880,883	941,383	(60,500)	(6.4)
Fiduciary net position	\$_	648,555,735	563,605,422	84,950,313	15.1 %
		Condensed finar	ncial information	7.40	(****
	Į,	2016	2015	\$ change	Total % change
				-	
	\$	1,327,084	998,540	328,544	32.9 %
					7.0
5		1,009,700	1,700,007	(35,802)	(2.2)
Total assets	J.	564,546,805	527,320,463	37,226,342	7.1
Total assets		500000			
Total assets		564,546,805 941,383	527,320,463 698,697	242,686	7.1 34.7
	NO COLUMN TO COL	ash equivalents \$ s s Total assets  Total llabilities  Fiduciary net position \$ ash equivalents \$	2017	ash equivalents \$ 1,508,453	2017   2016   \$ change

### Revenues - Additions to Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary net position \$

Additions to MPAERS' Fiduciary net position include plan member and plan sponsor contributions, transfers from other retirement systems and net investment gains. Contributions, net transfers and net investment gains

5

526,621,766

563,605,422

(Continued)

36,983,656

7.0 %

Required Supplementary Information Management's Discussion and Analysis December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Unaudited)

for plan year 2017 totaled approximately \$118.6 million as compared to a net addition of approximately \$67.8 million in 2016.

In 2017, member contributions increased by approximately \$583,000 or 5.5% due to the addition of new employees and the accrual of outstanding prior service buybacks. In 2016, member contributions increased by approximately \$712,000 or 7.2% also due to the addition of new employees and the accrual of outstanding prior service buybacks,

Plan sponsor contributions of \$13.4 million decreased by \$190,000 or 1.4%, compared to an increase of \$2.7 million or 25.0% in 2016. The decrease in 2017 is due to a decrease in the Annual Required Employer Contribution (ARC) as determined by the Plan's actuary, and the 2016 increase is due to an increase in the ARC as determined by the Plan's actuary. Fluctuations in plan sponsor contributions are partially due to the incremental accrual by the Plan's actuary of market gains and losses over multiple years as well as changes to actuarial assumptions including mortality and interest rates.

Net investment income for the year ending December 31, 2017 was \$92.2 million representing a \$49.7 million or 116.7% increase from 2016. The increase in investment income in 2017 is the result of investment gains in all major asset classes. Net investment income for the year ending December 31, 2016 was \$42.6 million representing a \$47.1 million or 1,030.9% increase from 2015. The increase in net investment gains in 2016 is the result of investment gains in global equities.

		Condensed fina	incial information		
Additions		2017	2016	Total \$ change	Total % change
Plan member contributions Plan sponsor contribution Net transfers	\$	11,242,327 13,362,268 1,780,786	10,659,615 13,552,303 1,052,567	582,712 (190,035) 728,219	5.5 % (1.4) 69.2
Net investment gain (loss)	-	92,225,853	42,565,124	49,660,729	116.7
Total additions	\$	118.611.234	67.829.609	50.781.625	74.9 %

Required Supplementary Information Management's Discussion and Analysis December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Unaudited)

#### Condensed financial information

Additions		2016	2015	Total \$ change	Total % change
Plan member contributions	\$	10,659,615	9,947,598	712,017	7.2 %
Plan sponsor contribution		13,552,303	10,845,396	2,706,907	25,0
Net transfers		1,052,567	1,511,432	(458,865)	(30.4)
Net investment gain (loss)		42,565,124	(4,572,336)	47,137,460	1,030,9
Total additions	\$_	67,829,609	17,732,090	50,097,519	282.5 %

#### Expenses - Deductions from Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Deductions to the Plan include the payment of pension benefits to members and beneficiaries, refunds of contributions to inactive members, transfers of member contributions to other Massachusetts public retirement plans and the cost of administration. For plan year 2017, the total deductions were \$33.7 million, an increase of \$2.8 million or 9.1% over 2016. For plan year 2016, the total deductions were \$30.8 million, an increase of \$2.0 million or 7.1% over 2015.

Retirement benefit payments totaled \$31.0 million, an increase of approximately \$2.6 million or 9.0%. In 2016 retirement benefit payments totaled \$28.4 million, an increase of approximately \$2.0 million or 7.5% from the previous year. The increases in 2017 and 2016 are due to new retirements and pension increases also known as cost-of-living adjustments in those respective years.

For plan year 2017, withdrawals by inactive members totaled approximately \$1.0 million, an increase of approximately \$505,000 or 92.0%. For plan year 2016, withdrawals by inactive members totaled approximately \$549,000, a decrease of approximately \$162,000 or 22.8%. The increase in 2017 is due to an increase in inactive members requesting withdrawals for their contributions from the Plan. In 2016, the decrease in withdrawals is due to a decrease in inactive member refund requests. Transfers to other Massachusetts public retirement systems totaled approximately \$458,000, a decrease of approximately \$219,000 or 32.4% from 2016. This is compared to a \$228,000 or 50.8% increase in transfers from 2015 to 2016. Year to year changes in transfer rates can be attributed to variations in public sector workforce movement between Massport and other government employers.

In 2017, administrative expenses totaled approximately \$1.1 million, a decrease of approximately \$41,000 or 3.4%, and in 2016 administrative expenses totaled approximately \$1.2 million, a nominal increase of approximately \$1,300 or 0.1%. The decrease in administrative expenses for 2017 is primarily attributable to a

Required Supplementary Information Management's Discussion and Analysis December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Unaudited)

decrease in legal expenses. The 2016 nominal increase in administrative expenses is primarily attributable to a slight increase in personnel and miscellaneous expenses.

		Condensed fina	ncial information		
Deductions		2017	2016	Total \$ change	Total % change
Retirement benefits Withdrawals by inactive	\$	31,000,590	28,430,589	2,570,001	9.0 %
members Transfers to other state retirement		1,053,876	548,846	505,030	92.0
plans Administrative expenses		457,563 1.148,892	677,051 1,189,467	(219,488) (40,575)	(32.4) (3.4)
Total deductions	\$_	33,660,921	30,845,953	2,814,968	9.1 %

		Condensed fina	ncial information		
Deductions		2016	2015	Total \$ change	Total % change
Retirement benefits Withdrawals by inactive	\$	28,430,589	26,457,593	1,972,996	7.5 %
members Transfers to other state retirement		548,846	711,061	(162,215)	(22,8)
plans		677,051	449,062	227,989	50.8
Administrative expenses	-	1,189,467	1,188,190	1,277	0.1
Total deductions	\$_	30,845,953	28,805,906	2,040,047	7.1 %

B

Required Supplementary Information Management's Discussion and Analysis December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Unaudited)

#### Changes in Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Changes in fiduciary net position as of December 31, 2017 totaled \$85.0 million, which represents an increase of \$48.0 million or 129.7%. This increase is primarily the result of investment gains. Changes in fiduciary net position as of December 31, 2016 totaled \$37.0 million, which represents an increase of \$48.0 million or 434.0%. This increase is also primarily the result of investment gains in the global equity market in 2016.

		Condensed finan	cial information		
Changes in plan fiduciary net position	2 22	2017	2016	Total \$ change	Total % change
Total additions Total deductions	\$	118,611,234 33,660,921	67,829,609 30,845,953	50,781,625 2,814,968	74.9 % 9.1
Change in plan fiduciary net position	5_	84,950,313	36,983,656	47,966,657	129.7 %
Changes in plan fiduciary net position		Condensed finan	cial information	Total \$ change	Total % change
Total additions Total deductions	s	67,829,609 30,845,953	17,732,090 28,805,906	50,097,519 2,040,047	282.5 % 7.1
Change in plan fiduciary net position	19	36,983,656	(11,073,816)	48,057,472	434.0 %

### **Overall Financial Position of MPAERS**

Due to investment gains in all major asset classes the Plan has experienced an increase in its investment portfolio for the year ending December 31, 2017. Management believes the Plan remains well funded and able to meet its obligations. As plan sponsor, the Massachusetts Port Authority bears the investment risk. When plan net position declines, the plan sponsor is statutorily obligated to offset the losses to fund the Plan's annual assessment. Management anticipates a modest increase in employer contributions in 2018.

Required Supplementary Information
Management's Discussion and Analysis
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(Unaudited)

#### MPAERS Replacement Plan and Trust

The MPAERS Board established the MPAERS Replacement Plan and Trust (the Replacement Plan) in 2012 to comply with Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Code. The Replacement Plan will provide benefits that cannot be provided under a qualified plan due to the limits of Section 415 on contributions and benefits. In 2017 and 2016, the benefits paid from the Replacement Plan totaled \$2,923 and \$6,688, respectively.

### Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide an overview of MPAERS' finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report should be emailed to retirement@massport.com or addressed to Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System, One Harborside Drive, Suite 200S, East Boston, MA 02128.

Statements of Fiduciary Net Position December 31, 2017 and 2016

-	2017	2016
-	4 500 450	4 207 704
5	1,508,453	1,327,084
	20,705,711	19,915,653
	163,228,990	149,789,502
	180,972,384	161,430,470
	199,877,038	156,829,015
	45,235,196	41,718,497
	36,061,720	31,866,829
1.0	646,081,039	561,549,966
		4.5
		391,441
		11,608
	1,334,241	1,101,427
	40.400	148,630
-	49,196	16,649
	1,847,126	1,669,755
1.0	649,436,618	564,546,805
	474,465	473,898
	-	137,558
	406,418	329,927
	880,883	941,383
S	648,555,735	563,605,422
	\$	\$ 1,508,453 20,705,711 163,228,990 180,972,384 199,877,038 45,235,196 36,061,720 646,081,039 447,012 16,677 1,334,241 49,196 1,847,126 649,436,618 474,465 406,418 880,883

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position Fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

		2017	2016
Additions: Contributions: Plan members Plan sponsor	\$	11,242,327 13,362,268	10,659,615 13,552,303
Total contributions		24,604,595	24,211,918
Intergovernmental Transfers from other state retirement plans Section 3(8)(c) transfers, net		935,825 844,961	511,384 541,183
Net intergovernmental		1,780,786	1,052,567
Investment income (loss): Interest and dividends Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value of investments Less management and related fees		8,786,621 85,607,631 (2,168,399)	8,578,165 35,975,658 (1,988,699)
Net investment income (loss)		92,225,853	42,565,124
Total additions		118,611,234	67,829,609
Deductions: Retirement benefits Withdrawals by terminated employees Transfers to other state retirement plans Administrative expenses		31,000,590 1,053,876 457,563 1,148,892	28,430,589 548,846 677,051 1,189,467
Total deductions		33,660,921	30,845,953
Net increase in flduciary net position		84,950,313	36,983,656
Net position restricted for pensions: Beginning of year		563,605,422	526,621,766
End of year	\$_	648,555,735	563,605,422

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and 2016

### (1) Plan Description

The Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System (the Plan) is a single employer plan established on July 18, 1978, effective January 1, 1979, by enactment of Chapter 487 (an amendment to Chapter 32) of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts to provide retirement benefits for substantially all employees of the Massachusetts Port Authority (the Authority), and incidental benefits for their surviving spouses, beneficiaries and contingent annuitants. Prior to this enactment, Authority employees were members of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Contributory Retirement System and the funding of the pension liability was on a "pay-as-you-go" method. Pursuant to this enactment, the employees' then present rights and benefits were transferred to the new retirement system. The Plan is a contributory defined benefit plan to which the Authority and its employees contribute such amounts as are necessary to provide assets sufficient to meet benefits to be paid to plan participants. The Plan is administered by the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System Board (the Board), consisting of five members including one ex-officio member, two elected members, one member appointed by the Massachusetts Port Authority and one member appointed by the four board members.

At January 1, 2017 and 2016, the Plan's membership consisted of:

	2017	2016
Retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits	779	749
Terminated employees entitled to benefits but not yet		
receiving them	72	78
Current members:		
Active	1,268	1,245
Inactive	136	115
Total membership	2,255	2,187

Benefits are paid by the Plan from plan assets available for plan benefits. Plan participants are entitled at normal retirement age to benefit payments based upon length of service and earnings levels. Vesting occurs after 10 years of service.

Benefits to participants who retired prior to January 1, 1979 are paid by the Massachusetts State Board of Retirement. The Massachusetts State Board of Retirement is reimbursed for all such benefits paid after December 31, 1978 as these benefits represent obligations of the Plan.

Under Chapter 32, Section 3(8) (c), of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts (Chapter 32), the Plan is reimbursed for benefits paid to participants entitled to receive benefits for previous participation in other Massachusetts Chapter 32 plans. The Plan is also obligated to pay a proportionate share of benefits to participants entitled to receive benefits for subsequent participation in other Massachusetts Chapter 32 plans.

Also under Chapter 32, for members leaving the Authority's employment to work for other Massachusetts governmental units, the Plan transfers their accumulated account balances and creditable service to the

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and 2016

retirement system of the new employer. Other such retirement systems are in turn required to make comparable transfers to the Plan for employees coming to work for the Authority.

Optional payment methods may be elected, including the contingent annuitant method which provides for reduced payments during the life of the plan participant and continued payments to the participant's beneficiary after the death of the participant.

#### (2) Contributions Required and Contributions Made

Contributions are made by the Authority based on amounts required to be funded as determined by annual actuarial valuations and are designed to fund the Plan on a level cost basis, as a percentage of pay, over the average remaining working lifetime of the active participants and to fund operating costs of the Plan. For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, the Authority was required and did contribute to the Plan \$13,362,268, \$13,552,303 and \$10,845,396, respectively. The Authority bears the risk that plan assets might decline due to fluctuations in the market value of the Plan's investments and contributions by the Authority will increase.

Employees who became members prior to January 1, 1975 contribute 5% of their regular compensation through payroll deductions. Employees whose membership commenced on or after January 1, 1975 but prior to January 1, 1984 contribute 7%. Those employees whose membership began on or after January 1, 1984 but prior to July 1, 1996 contribute 8%. Employees hired after July 1, 1996 contribute 9% of their regular compensation. Employees who are hired after December 31, 1978 contribute an additional 2% of regular compensation over \$30,000. These contributions accumulate and, subject to certain restrictions set forth in Chapter 32, are refundable to employees upon termination of employment by the Authority or payable to another retirement system should the employee transfer to another government unit covered by Chapter 32 of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

Contributions totaling \$24,604,595 (\$13,362,268 employer and \$11,242,327 employee) and \$24,211,918 (\$13,552,303 employer and \$10,659,615 employee) were recognized by the Plan for plan years 2017 and 2016, respectively

### (3) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

#### (a) Basis of Accounting

These financial statements have been prepared with an "economic resources" measurement focus on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with generally accepted governmental accounting principles.

### (b) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on deposit, and highly liquid short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and 2016

#### (c) Investment Valuation

Investments are reported at fair value. Securities traded on a national or international securities exchange are valued at the last reported sales price on the last business day of the plan year; investments traded on a national securities exchange for which no sale was reported on that date and investments in common and preferred stocks traded in over-the-counter markets are valued at the mean of the last reported bid and asked prices, or the last reported bid price. Mutual funds and commingled funds, including real estate and private equity investments, are valued based on net asset value (NAV) or unit value at year-end. Changes in fair value are included in investment income (loss) in the statement of changes in fiduciary net position.

#### (d) Contributions

Employer contributions are recognized when legally due. Member contributions are recognized by the Plan as compensation is earned by the Authority's employees.

#### (e) Retirement Benefits

Retirement benefits and refunds are recorded when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the Plan.

#### (f) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of additions and deductions during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from estimates. Fair values of real estate and private equity holdings are generally estimated absent readily available market values, and such estimates may be materially different than values that would have been used if a ready market existed.

### (g) Other

Purchases and sales of securities are reflected on a trade-date basis. Gain or loss on sales of securities is based on average cost.

Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date. Interest income is recorded as earned on an accrual basis. Income from venture capital limited partnerships is recorded using the equity method of accounting.

The Plan presents in its Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position the net appreciation (depreciation) in the fair value of its investments, which consists of the net realized gains and losses during the year and the change in unrealized appreciation and depreciation during the year on those investments.

#### (h) Investment Policy

The provisions of Massachusetts General Laws (M.G.L.) Chapter 32, Section 23(2) and the Board approved investment policy govern the Plan's investment practice.

15

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and 2016

Diversification is attained through varied investment management styles that comply with Massachusetts state law. This is accomplished through the retention of investment managers that adhere to M.G.L. Chapter 32, Section 23(3), the "Prudent Person" rule.

The Plan has retained an investment consultant to work with the Board in a fiduciary capacity to assure that strategic investment diversification is attained, to employ investment managers with expertise in their respective asset classes, and to closely monitor the implementation and performance of the respective investment strategies.

The Plan is currently invested in stocks (domestic and international), fixed income securities (domestic and international), real estate and private equity.

The target allocation for each major asset class is summarized in the following table:

Asset class	Target allocation
Domestic equity	27.50 %
International equity	27:50
Fixed income	30.00
Real estate	7 50
Private equity	7,50
Total	100.00 %

The Board's current rebalancing policy states that "The Board shall rebalance to the established targets during the quarter following the quarter ended whenever the asset class allocation falls outside the allowable ranges."

### (4) Deposit and Investment Risks

The following discusses the Plan's exposure to common deposit and investment risks related to custodial credit, credit, concentration of credit, interest rate and foreign currency risks as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.

### (a) Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a failure of a depository financial institution, the Plan deposits may not be returned. Investment securities are exposed to custodial credit risk if the securities are uninsured, are not registered in the name of the Plan and are held by either the depository financial institution or the depository financial institution's trust department or agent but not in the Plan's name.

Although there is no Plan-wide policy for custodial credit risk associated with deposits, the Plan's investments are held by the Plan's custodian and registered in the Plan's name. All of the Plan's securities are held by the Plan's custodial bank in the Plan's name, except for investments in mutual and commingled funds, real estate properties, and limited partnerships, which by their nature, are not required to be categorized. Investments in the Short-Term Investment Funds (STIF) are held in an

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and 2016

SEC-registered pooled fund that is managed by the master custodian bank. The fair value of the position in the pool equals the value of the pool shares.

#### (b) Credit Risk

Credit risk exists when there is a possibility the issuer or other counterparty to an investment may be unable to fulfill its obligations.

For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the System's fixed income investments totaled \$180,972,384 and \$161,430,470, respectively. These investments are split between two commingled funds. Both funds are not rated.

There are no Plan-wide policy limitations for credit risk exposures within the portfolio. The Plan's two fixed income investments are managed in accordance with an investment contract that is specific as to permissible credit quality ranges and the average credit quality of the overall portfolio.

#### (c) Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss that may be attributed to the magnitude of a government's investment in a single issuer. The Plan has no investments, at fair value, that exceed 5% of the Plan's total investments as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 other than pooled investments.

### (d) Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. This risk is managed within the portfolio using the effective duration methodology. It is widely used in the management of fixed income portfolios in that it quantifies to a much greater degree the risk of interest rate changes. While there are no Plan-wide policy limitations as to the degree of interest rate risk taken, the Plan's one actively managed fixed income portfolio has guidelines which specify that the average duration of the Portfolio ranges between plus or minus 1.5 years of the average duration of the Bloomberg Barclays US Aggregate Bond Index. The other fixed income portfolio is in a passive index fund and the investment objective of this fund is to match the return of the Bloomberg Barclays US Aggregate Bond Index. It is believed that the reporting of effective duration found in the tables below quantifies to the fullest extent possible the interest rate risk of the Plan's fixed income assets.

### Interest rate sensitivity – effective duration December 31, 2017

		Fair value	Effective duration (in yrs.)
Fixed income:			
Commingled fund – actively managed	S	127,430,349	6.26
Commingled fund – passively managed		53,542,035	5.98
Total	\$	180,972,384	

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and 2016

### Interest rate sensitivity – effective duration December 31, 2016

		Fair value	duration (in yrs.)
Fixed income:			
Commingled fund – actively managed	\$	113,608,733	5.02
Commingled fund – passively managed	_	47,821,737	5.89
Total	\$	161,430,470	

### (e) Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely impact the fair value of an investment. From time to time, the Plan's external managers may or may not hedge the portfolio's foreign currency exposures with currency forward contracts depending on their views on a specific foreign currency relative to the U.S. dollar. While there are no Plan-wide policy limitations related to foreign currency risk, the Plan will not manage currency as a separate asset class or enter into speculative currency positions in its portfolios, except as it relates to specific cross-hedging activity, which may be permitted in certain investment manager guidelines. While the System has no investments denominated in foreign currencies, the following represents the investments denominated in U.S. dollars that can be subject to fluctuations in foreign currencies:

Currency	 2017	2016
International equity pooled funds (various currencies)	\$ 199,877,038	156,829,015

#### (f) Rate of Return

For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the annual money weighted rate of return on plan investments, net of plan investment expenses was 16.51% and 8.14%, respectively. The money weighted rate of return expresses investment performance net of investment expenses adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

### (g) Fair Value Hierarchy

GAAP establishes a fair value hierarchy for investments that prioritizes inputs used to measure fair value into three levels:

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for assets or liabilities;

Level 2 – observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted in active markets, but corroborated by market data.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and 2016

Level 3 - unobservable inputs that are used when little or no market data is available.

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs and the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs. In determining fair value, the Plan utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible.

Investments held through commingled funds for which fair value is estimated using net asset values (NAVs) as a practical expedient are not categorized in the fair value hierarchy.

The Plan uses an independent pricing source to determine the fair value of investments at quoted market prices.

The Plan has the following fair value measurements as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

		2017							
		Fair Value	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3				
Investments by fair value Level									
Equities	\$_	20,705,711	20,705,711						
		20,705,711	20,705,711		_ ^				
Investments measured at NAV:									
Commingled equity funds:									
Large Cap		140,507,796							
Small Cap		22,721,194							
International		199,877,038							
Commingled fixed income funds									
Aggregate		53,542,035							
Core Bond	-	127,430,349							
	1.2	544,078,412							
Other investments at fair value									
PRIT real estate fund		45,235,196							
PRIT private equity	-	36,061,720							
		81,296,916							
Total investments	5	646,081,039	20,705,711		_				

19

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and 2016

	2016							
		Fair Value	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3			
Investments by fair value Level:								
Equities	\$_	19,915,653	19,915,653		-			
		19,915,653	19,915,653					
Investments measured at NAV								
Commingled equity funds:								
Large Cap		131,201,737						
Small Cap		18,587,765						
International		156,829,015						
Commingled fixed income funds:								
Aggregate		47,821,737						
Core Bond	į.	113,608,733						
	1	468,048,987						
Other investments at fair value:								
PRIT real estate fund		41,718,497						
PRIT private equity	Į,	31,866,829						
		73,585,326						
Total investments	\$	561,549,966	19,915,653		_			
	_							

The Plan categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. Equity securities classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in active markets for those securities. The Plan has no securities classified in Level 2 or Level 3.

The PRIT real estate and private equity funds are external investment pools that are not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission, but are subject to oversight by the Pension Reserves Investment Management Board (the PRIM Board). The PRIM Board was created by legislation to provide general supervision of the investments and management of PRIT. The PRIT real estate and private equity funds are not rated funds. The fair value of the PRIT real estate and private equity funds are based on unit value as reported by management of the PRIT funds. The PRIT funds issue separately available audited financial statements with a year-end of June 30. The Plan is required to provide a 24 hour redemption notice for the PRIT Real Estate fund. The PRIT Private Equity fund is not redeemable until notified by the PRIM Board.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and 2016

The following represents the significant investment strategies and terms on which the Plan may redeem investments for those investments measured at the NAV (or its equivalent) as a practical expedient:

	Investments Measured at NAV							
	2017	2016	Redemption Frequency	Redemption Notice Period				
Commingled equity funds Commingled fixed income	363,106,028	306,618,517	Daily to Thrice Monthly	1-30 days				
funds	180,972,384	161,430,470	Daily	1-30 days				

<sup>1</sup> Commingled equity funds. This type includes 4 funds that invest primarily in U.S. large and small cap equity funds and international equity funds.

### (5) Operating Expenses

The Plan's administrative expenses as shown on the Statements of Changes in Plan Fiduciary Net Position are borne by the Plan and financed with investment income. These expenses include personnel and professional services, member communication and education, and other miscellaneous administrative expenses. Operating expenses are billed back to the Authority dollar for dollar as part of the annual assessment.

#### (6) General Termination Policy

Under Chapter 465, Section 25 of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts, in the event of dissolution of the Authority by the General Court, participants of the Plan who do not transfer to or enter service in a governmental plan in which a contributory retirement system was established under Chapter 32 shall continue as a member of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System and shall be entitled to benefits as outlined in the Plan. Effective upon the date of dissolution of the Authority, or default of its obligations under Chapter 32 of the General Laws, benefits to be paid to participants would become obligations of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

<sup>2</sup> Commingled fixed income funds: This type includes 2 fixed income funds that invest in U.S. corporate bonds, U.S. government bonds, U.S. asset-backed securities and foreign bonds.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and 2016

### (7) Legally Required Reserve Accounts

The balances in the Plan's legally required reserves at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

All reserve accounts are funded at levels required by state statute

	2017	2016	Purpose
Anuity Savings Fund	\$ 116,637,422	113,945,543	Active members' contribution balance
Annuity Reserve Fund	42,168,584	38,956,540	Retired members' contribution account
Pension Reserve Fund	368,944,414	279,236,112	Amounts appropriated to fund future retirement benefits
Pension Fund	120,785,366	131,450,940	Remaining net assets
Military Service Fund	19,949	16,287	Amount appropriated to fund military service time
	\$ 648,555,735	563,605,422	

#### (8) Operating Lease

The Plan entered into an operating lease with the Authority on June 1, 2014. The Initial term of the lease is 5 years with an option term of 5 years commencing on June 1, 2019. The Plan pays a base rent of \$32.61 per rentable square foot of 2,832 totaling approximately \$7,696 per month and \$92,352 per year. The base rent is subject to escalation annually each October 1st in the term beginning on October 1, 2014 in an amount equal to the greater of (i) 100% of CPI and (ii) 3%.

During the term of the lease, the Plan pays an operating fee for the costs incurred by the Authority's support services to the Plan. The operating fee is \$5,851 per calendar month or \$70,212 per year. The fee is adjusted 5% each October 1st during the term.

The Plan also pays the Authority \$6,338 per calendar month or \$76,060 per year which represents the annualized level of debt service of the tenant fit-out costs amortized over 10 years with interest at 5.2%. The cost to fit out the Plan's space was \$592,114 and \$760,600 with interest.

The Plan also pays the Authority any other amount owed by the Plan to the Authority pursuant to the term of the lease or any other matter arising under the lease including, but not limited to, amounts paid or costs incurred by the Sponsor to cure the Plan's default under or other failure to comply with the lease.

All additional costs associated with the arrangement are billed back to the Authority dollar for dollar as part of the annual assessment

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and 2016

Total lease expense for the years ending December 31, 2017 and 2016 was \$264,907 and \$255,697, respectively. The following is a summary of the future minimum lease payments under this operating lease obligation:

Years:	_	Amount
2018	\$	271,167
2019		92,030
Total	\$	363,197

### (9) Related-Party Transactions

The Plan invests certain cash in a money market fund, the People's United Bank Short-Term Investment Fund, which is sponsored by the Plan's custodial bank. For plan year 2015, cash was invested in the State Street Bank and Trust Company Short-Term Investment Fund sponsored by the Plan's former custodial bank. The total value of funds held at December 31, 2017 and 2016 was \$1,508,453 and \$1,327,084 respectively.

### (10) Net Pension Liability

The components of the net pension liability of the System as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, is as follows:

	-	2017	2016
Total pension liability Fiduciary net position	\$	683,482,302 648,555,735	651,927,383 563,605,422
Plan's net pension liability	\$	34,926,567	88,321,961
Fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability		94.9%	86 5%

## (a) Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2017 and update procedures were used to roll forward the total pension liability forward from the valuation date (1/1/17) to the measurement date (12/31/17). The following actuarial assumptions were applied to the periods included in the measurement for 2017 and 2016:

- Inflation 3.0%
- Salary increases 4.5%
- Investment rate of return 7.25%, net of plan investment expense
- Cost-of-living increases 3.0% on a maximum base of \$14,000

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and 2016

### Mortality:

- Healthy RP 2000 Table (sex-distinct) projected with Scale BB and Generational Mortality.
   Post-retirement the RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) projected with Scale BB Generational Mortality.
- Disabled-RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) and Generational Mortality set-forward 2 years. Mortality for accidental disability is assumed to be 50% from the same cause as the disability.

### Long-term Expected Rate of Return.

The long-term expected rate of return on plan investments was determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The best estimates of geometric long-term expected real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

	expected real rate of return				
Asset class	2017*	2016*			
Domestic equity	5.01 %	5.10 %			
International equity	5.21	5.29			
Fixed income	2.34	2,38			
Real estate	5.20	4.90			
Private equity	7.68	7.90			

\* amounts are net of inflation assumption of 2,32%

## (b) Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 was 7.25%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on those assumptions, the Plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on the plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and 2016

### (c) Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, calculated using the discount rate of 7.25% as well as what the net pension liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one-percentage point lower or one-percentage point higher than the current rate:

		2017	
	1% decrease (6.25%)	Current discount rate (7.25%)	1% increase (8.25%)
Plan's net pension liability (asset)	\$ 116,065,406	34,926,567	(31,953,936)
		2016	
	1% decrease (6.25%)	Current discount rate (7.25%)	1% increase (8.25%)
Plan's net pension liability	\$ 166,751,848	88,321,961	23,780,095

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios

		2017	2016	2015	2014	2013
Total pension liability: Service cost	\$	16,419,396	15,920,199	14,875,343	13.055.819	12,515,848
Interest	*	47,341,133	44,961,249	41,160,193	40,955,958	38,659,898
Differences between expected and actual experience Change of assumptions Benefits payments Other		(1,474,367) (31,000,590) 269,347	2,591,721 (1,478,780) (28,430,589) (173,330)	(1,394,649) 24,097,914 (26,457,593) 351,309	1,929,282 (24,498,778) 141,411	(23,147,453) 439,361
Net change in total pension liability		31,554,919	33,390,470	52,632,317	31,583,692	28,467,654
Total pension liability – beginning of year		651,927,383	618,536,913	565,904,596	534,320,904	505,853,250
Total pension liability – end of year (a)		683,482,302	651,927,383	618,536,913	565,904,596	534,320,904
Change in fiduciary net position: Contributions - employer Contributions - employees Net investment income (loss) Benefits payments: Administrative expenses Other		13,362,268 11,242,327 92,225,853 (31,000,590) (1,148,892) 269,347	13,552,303 10,659,615 42,565,124 (28,430,589) (1,189,467) (173,330)	10,845,396 9,947,598 (4,572,336) (26,457,593) (1,188,190) 351,309	11,146,319 9,627,879 31,932,249 (24,498,778) (1,287,785) 141,411	11,960,386 9,112,191 65,690,757 (23,147,453) (828,935) 439,361
Net change in fiduciary net position		84,950,313	36,983,656	(11,073,816)	27,061,295	63,226,307
Fiduciary net position - beginning of year		563,605,422	526,621,766	537,695,582	510,634,287	447,407,980
Fiduciary net position - end of year (b)		648,555,735	563,605,422	526,621,766	537,695,582	510,634,287
Net pension liability – end of year (a)-(b)	s	34,926,567	88,321,961	91,915,147	28,209,014	23,686,617
Fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability		94.9%	86.5%	85.1%	95.0%	95.6%
Covered-employee payroll	S	110,173,417	106,443,913	99,190,353	94,339,891	90,041,646
Net pension liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll		31.7%	83.0%	92.7%	29.9%	26.3%

Note: This schedule is intended to present 10 years of data. Additional years will be presented when available

See accompanying independent auditors' report.

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited) | Schedule of Investment Returns

	2017	2016	2015	2014	2013
Annual money-weighted rate of return, net of investment expense	16,51 %	8.14%	(0.82)%	6.36%	14.80%
*This calculation uses a mid-month assumption for	all cash flows				

Note: This schedule is intended to present 10 years of data. Additional years will be presented when

See accompanying independent auditors' report.

# MASSACHUSETTS PORT AUTHORITY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM Regured Supplementary information (Unaudited) Schedule of Conhibitions

	2017	2016	2015	2014	2013	2012	2011	2010	2009	2008
Actuarially determined contribution Actual contribution in relation to actuariatly determined	\$ 13,362,268	13,552,303	10,845,396	11,146,319	11 960 386	9,594,044	5,789,827	4,923,844	7,620 768	400.730
contribution	13,362,268	13,552,303	10.845,396	11,146,319	11,960 386	9,594,044	5,709,827	4,923,844	7,620.768	400,730
Contribution deficiency (excess)	\$ -									
Coverad employee payroll Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll	110.173,417	106,443,313 12.7%	99.190,353	94,339,891 11.8%	90 041 646 13 3%	87,476,195 11.0%	85,941,169 6,6%	89,949,806 5,5%	89,704 131 8.5%	85 120 260 0.5%

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

Notes to the Schedule of Contributions

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

#### Valuation date:

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of January 1, 18 months prior to the end of the fiscal year in which contributions are reported. The January 1, 2016 valuation established the rate for the fiscal year 2017 contribution and the January 1, 2017 valuation established the fiscal year 2018 contribution. The following assumptions were used for the periods included in the funding for 2017 and 2016:

Actuarial cost method: Frozen Entry Age Normal Amortization method: 20 year level, closed Asset valuation method: 5-year smoothed market

Inflation:

4.5% Salary increases:

7.25%, net of plan investment expense for 2017 and 7.25%, net of plan investment expense for 2016 investment rate of return:

Retirement benefits: Depending on age at retirement and "Group" classification 0.1%-2.5% per year of service times highest three year average salary, A five year average salary is used for those hired after April 1, 2012

The cost-of-living base is assumed to be \$14,000. Annual cost of living increases are assumed to be 3.0% of the lesser of the base or annual benefits. Post-retirement cost of living increases:

Withdrawal prior to retirement: The rates shown at the following sample ages illustrate the withdrawal assumption:

Rate of w	ithdrawal	
Age	Groups 1 and 2	Groups 4
25	2.00 %	0.50 %
30	2.00	0.50
35	2.00	0.50
40	1.50	0.40
46	1,50	0.40
50	1.00	N/A
55	1.00	N/A

Groups discussed above include the following categories of employees: Group 1 includes general employees including clerical, administrative and technical workers, laborers and all others not otherwise classified.

Group 2 includes airport gate guards and maritime port officers.

Group 4 includes firefighters, licensed electricians, first – and second class stationary engineers, watch engineers, steam firemen, utility technicians and their supervisors.

Healthy-RP 2000 Table (sex distinct) projected with Scale BB and Generational Mortality. Post-retirement the RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) projected with Scale BB

Generational Mortality

Disabled-RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) and Generational Mortality set-forward 2 years. Mortality for accidental disability is assumed to be 50% from the same cause as the disability.

See accompanying independent auditors' report.

Mortality:

Other Supplementary Information Schedule of Administrative Expenses December 31, 2017 and 2016

		2017	2016
Personnel services Staff salaries Board member stipend Benefits	\$.	405,797 19,375 129,075	404,233 15,000 125,262
Total personnel services		554,247	544,495
Professional services: Actuarial Audit Legal counsel		43,725 70,000 84,365	37,325 65,000 162,230
Total professional services		198,090	264,555
Communication: Printing Postage Education and training Member services		11,975 18,772 31,370 18,764	14,710 19,650 24,021 18,038
Total communication		80,881	76,419
Miscellaneous: General and administrative Rerit and other Technological support		18,243 264,907 32,524	16,957 255,697 31,344
Total miscellaneous	_	315,674	303,998
Total administrative expenses	S	1,148,892	1,189,467

See accompanying independent auditors' report.

Other Supplementary Information
Schedule of Investment Expenses and Payments to Consultants
December 31, 2017 and 2016

	 2017	2016
Schedule of investment expenses: Investment management fees Investment consultant fees Custodial fees	\$ 1,989,251 136,230 42,918	1,798,977 133,467 56,255
Total investment expenses	\$ 2,168,399	1,988,699
Schedule of payments to consultants* Independent auditors Actuary Legal	\$ 70,000 43,725 84,365	65,000 37,325 162,230
Total payments to consultants	\$ 198,090	264,555

These payments are presented for analytical purposes; each amount is already included in schedules of administrative or investment expenses.

See accompanying independent auditors' report.



Financial Statements, Required Supplementary Information, and Other Supplementary Information

December 31, 2016 and 2015

(With Independent Auditors' Report Thereon)

Financial Statements, Required Supplementary Information, and Other Supplementary Information December 31, 2016 and 2015

### **Table of Contents**

	Page(s)
Independent Auditors' Report	1–2
Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)	3-10
Financial Statements:	
Statements of Fiduciary Net Position	11
Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position	12
Notes to Financial Statements	13-26
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)	
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios	27
Schedule of Investment Returns	28
Schedule of Contributions	29
Notes to the Schedule of Contributions	30
Other Supplementary Information	
Schedule of Administrative Expenses	31
Schedule of Investment Expenses and Payments to Consultants	32



KPMG I.I P Two Financial Center 80 South Street Boston, MA 02111

### **Independent Auditors' Report**

The Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System Board:

### Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System (the Plan) as of and for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, as listed in the accompanying table of contents.

#### Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

#### Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

#### Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the fiduciary net position of the Plan as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the changes in fiduciary net position for the years then ended in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.





### Emphasis of Matters

Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncement

As discussed in note 3(i) to the financial statements, in 2016, the Plan adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

#### Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that the Management's Discussion and Analysis on pages 3 through 10 and the supplementary schedules of changes in net pension liability and related ratios, investment returns, contributions and notes to the schedule of contributions on pages 27 through 30 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance on provide any assurance.

#### Other Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the Plan's basic financial statements. The schedules of administrative expenses and investment expenses and payments to consultants on pages 31 and 32 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The schedules of administrative expenses and investment expenses and payments to consultants are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedules of administrative expenses and investment expenses and payments to consultants are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated April 26, 2017 on our consideration of the Plan's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the Plan's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

KPMG LLP

Boston, Massachusetts April 26, 2017

Required Supplementary Information

### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2016 and 2015 (Unaudited)

This section presents Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System's (MPAERS or the Plan) financial activity and performance as of and for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. The MD&A is unaudited and is intended to serve as an introduction to the Plan's basic financial statements, as well as to offer readers of the Plan's financial statements a narrative view and analysis of MPAERS' financial activities.

### **Financial Highlights**

The fiduciary net position of the Plan as of December 31, 2016 totaled \$563.6 million, a \$37.0 million, or 7.0% increase, due to positive returns in most major asset classes. Fiduciary net position is the residual of the Plan's assets in excess of the Plan's liabilities as of the date of the Statements of Fiduciary Net Position. The Plan's assets are held in trust to meet future benefit payments.

Total Plan "additions" of \$67.8 million, comprised of \$25.2 million in contributions and transfers, and \$42.6 million in investment gains, were realized for the year ended December 31, 2016. In comparison, the Plan experienced total additions of \$17.7 million and \$53.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The increase in 2016 is due to investment gains in most major asset classes, and the decrease in 2015 Plan additions is due to investment losses in the global equity markets.

For the plan year ended December 31, 2016, total Plan deductions were \$30.8 million, an increase of \$2.0 million, or 7.1% over the last year, and are comprised of \$28.4 million in benefit payments, \$1.2 million in transfers and withdrawals and \$1.2 million in administrative expenses. This \$2.0 million increase is due to new retirements and an increase in transfers. This is as compared to total deductions of \$28.8 million and \$26.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

For reporting purposes in accordance with the Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB), as of December 31, 2016, the Plan's fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability was 86.5%. As required by the Plan's charter, for funding purposes the Plan uses the Frozen-Entry-Age-Normal actuarial method which differs from that prescribed by GASB. Under the Frozen-Entry-Age-Normal method, the funded ratio of the plan as of January 1, 2016, was 92.1%.

### Overview of the Financial Statements

The basic financial statements consist of the: (1) Statements of Fiduciary Net Position; (2) Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position, (3) Notes to the Financial Statements, (4) Required Supplementary Information; and (5) Other Supplementary Information.

The Statements of Fiduciary Net Position report the Plan's assets, liabilities, and net position restricted for pensions at the end of the fiscal year calculated using the following formula: Assets — Liabilities = Net position restricted for pensions. The Statements of Fiduciary Net Position report the financial position of the Plan at a given point in time, in this case, December 31. Over time, the increase or decrease in fiduciary net position serves as a useful indicator of the Plan's financial health.

Required Supplementary Information

#### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2016 and 2015 (Unaudited)

The Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position report additions to and deductions from the Plan during the fiscal year. The formula here is: Additions – Deductions = Net Increase (Decrease) in Plan Fiduciary Net Position. The Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position report activity occurring over a specific period of time, in this case, the year beginning January 1 and ending December 31.

The Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the Plan's financial statements.

The Required Supplementary Information following the Notes to the Financial Statements consists of the schedules of changes in net pension liability and related ratios, investment returns, contributions and notes to schedule of contributions.

Other Supplementary Information details schedules of administrative expenses, investment expenses, and payments to consultants.

These statements and schedules are prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, including the accounting and financial reporting requirements found in GASB Statement No. 67

#### **Financial Analysis**

Total assets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 were \$564.5 million and \$527.3 million, respectively, and were comprised of cash and cash equivalents; investments; accrued interest and accrued dividends receivables; and contributions due from Plan members, the Plan sponsor and other systems. Total assets increased by \$37.2 million or 7.1% from \$527.3 million as of December 31, 2015, due to investment gains in most major asset classes. Total assets decreased by \$11.4 million or 2.1% from \$538.7 million between 2014 and 2015 due to investment losses in the global equity markets.

Total liabilities as of December 31, 2016 were approximately \$941,000 and total liabilities as of December 31, 2015 were approximately \$699,000. Total liabilities for 2016 were primarily comprised of payables for investment management fees, refunds to members, and payables to other state retirement plans. In 2015 total liabilities were primarily comprised of payables for investment management fees, refunds to members and payables to other state retirement plans as well.

Total fiduciary net position held in trust for pension benefits totaled \$563,6 million which represents an increase of \$37.0 million or 7.0% over 2015. Fiduciary net position decreased by \$11.1 million or 2.1% between 2014

Required Supplementary Information

### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2016 and 2015 (Unaudited)

and 2015. The increase in 2016 is due to investment gains in most major asset classes. The decrease in 2015 is attributed to investment losses in the global equity asset classes.

			Condensed final	ncial information		
			2016	2015	Total \$ change	Total % change
Assets:						
Cash and	cash equivalents	5	1,327,084	998,540	328,544	32.9 %
Investmen	nts		561,549,966	524,615,366	36,934,600	7.0
Receivabl	es		1,669,755	1,706,557	(36,802)	(2.2)
	Total assets		564,546,805	527,320,463	37,226,342	7.1
Liabilities:						
Payables			941,383	698,697	242,686	34.7
	Total liabilities		941,383	698,697	242,686	34.7
	Fiduciary net position	\$	563,605,422	526,621,766	36,983,656	7.0 %

		Condensed iman	Cial milorination		
		2015	2014	Total \$ change	Total % change
Assets:					
Cash and	cash equivalents	\$ 998,540	1,059,747	(61,207)	(5.8)%
Investmen	nts	524,615,366	536,100,794	(11,485,428)	(2.1)
Receivabl	es	1,706,557	1,528,264	178,293	11.7
	Total assets	527,320,463	538,688,805	(11,368,342)	(2.1)
Liabilities:					
Payables		698,697	993,223	(294,526)	(29.7)
	Total liabilities	698,697	993,223	(294,526)	(29.7)
	Fiduciary net position	\$ 526,621,766	537,695,582	(11,073,816)	(2.1)%
			-		

#### Revenues - Additions to Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Additions to MPAERS' Fiduciary net position include plan member and plan sponsor contributions, transfers from other retirement systems and investment income. Contributions, net transfers and net investment gains for

5

Required Supplementary Information

#### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2016 and 2015 (Unaudited)

plan year 2016 totaled approximately \$67.8 million as compared to a net addition of approximately \$17.7 million in 2015.

In 2016, member contributions increased by approximately \$712,000 or 7.2% due to the addition of new employees and the accrual of outstanding prior service buybacks. In 2015, member contributions increased by approximately \$320,000 or 3.3% also due to the addition of new employees and the accrual of outstanding prior service buybacks.

Plan sponsor contributions of \$13.6 million increased by \$2.7 million or 25.0%, compared to a decrease of \$301,000 or 2.7% in 2015. The increase in 2016 is due to an increase in the Annual Required Employer Contribution (ARC) as determined by the Plan's actuary, and the 2015 decrease is due to a decrease in the ARC as determined by the Plan's actuary. Fluctuations in plan sponsor contributions are partially due to the incremental accrual by the Plan's actuary of market gains and losses over multiple years as well as changes to actuarial assumptions including mortality and interest rates.

Net investment income for the year ending December 31, 2016 was \$42.6 million representing a \$47.1 million or 1,030.9% increase from 2015. The increase in investment income in 2016 is the result of investment gains in most major asset classes. Net investment income for the year ending December 31, 2015 was (\$4.6) million representing a \$36.5 million or 114.3% decrease from 2014. The decrease in investment income in 2015 is the result of investment losses in global equities.

		Condensed fina	ancial information	Total	Total
Additions		2016	2015	\$ change	% change
Plan member contributions	\$	10,659,615	9,947,598	712,017	7.2 %
Plan sponsor contribution		13,552,303	10,845,396	2,706,907	25.0
Net transfers		1,052,567	1,511,432	(458,865)	(30.4)
Net investment gain (loss)	_	42,565,124	(4,572,336)	47,137,460	1,030.9
Total additions	\$_	67,829,609	17,732,090	50,097,519	282.5 %

Required Supplementary Information

#### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2016 and 2015 (Unaudited)

#### Condensed financial information

Additions		2015	2014	Total \$ change	Total % change
Plan member contributions	S	9,947,598	9,627,879	319,719	3.3 %
Plan sponsor contribution		10,845,396	11.146,319	(300,923)	(2.7)
Net transfers		1,511,432	1,102,398	409,034	37.1
Net investment gain (loss)		(4,572,336)	31,932,249	(36,504,585)	(114.3)
Total additions	\$_	17,732,090	53,808,845	(36,076,755)	(67.0)%

#### Expenses - Deductions from Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Deductions to the Plan include the payment of pension benefits to members and beneficiaries, refunds of contributions to inactive members, transfers of member contributions to other Massachusetts public retirement plans and the cost of administration. For plan year 2016, the total deductions were \$30.8 million, an increase of \$2.0 million or 7.1% over 2015. For plan year 2015, the total deductions were \$28.8 million, an increase of \$2.1 million or 7.7% over 2014.

Retirement benefit payments totaled \$28.4 million, an increase of approximately \$2.0 million or 7.5%. In 2015 retirement benefit payments totaled \$26.5 million, an increase of approximately \$2.0 million or 8.0% from the previous year. The increases in 2016 and 2015 are due to new retirements and pension increases also known as cost-of-living adjustments in those respective years.

For plan year 2016, withdrawals by terminated employees totaled approximately \$549,000, a decrease of approximately \$162,000 or 22.8%. For plan year 2015, withdrawals by terminated employees totaled approximately \$711,000, an increase of approximately \$55,000 or 8.5%. The decrease in 2016 is due to a decrease in inactive members requesting withdrawals for their contributions from the Plan. In 2015, the increase in withdrawals is due to an increase in inactive member refund requests. Transfers to other Massachusetts public retirement systems totaled approximately \$677,000, an increase of approximately \$228,000 or 50.8% from 2015. This is compared to a \$144,000 or 47.1% increase in transfers from 2014 to 2015. Year to year changes in transfer rates can be attributed to variations in public sector workforce movement between Massport and other government employers.

In 2016, administrative expenses totaled approximately \$1.2 million, a nominal increase of approximately \$1,300 or 0.1%, and in 2015 administrative expenses totaled approximately \$1.2 million, a decrease of approximately \$100,000 or 7.7%. The slight increase in administrative expenses for 2016 is attributable to

Required Supplementary Information

### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2016 and 2015 (Unaudited)

personnel and miscellaneous expenses. The 2015 decrease in administrative expenses is primarily attributable to a decrease in professional services including legal fees and technology costs.

Condensed	financial	information
Condensed	Hillantia	momation

Deductions	4	2016	2015	Total \$ change	Total % change
Retirement benefits	\$	28,430,589	26,457,593	1,972,996	7.5 %
Withdrawals by terminated employees		548,846	711,061	(162,215)	(22.8)
Transfers to other state retiremen plans	t	677,051	449,062	227,989	50.8
Administrative expenses	_	1,189,467	1,188,190	1,277	0.1
Total deductions	\$	30,845,953	28,805,906	2,040,047	7.1 %

Condensed	financial	information
-----------	-----------	-------------

	2015	2014	Total \$ change	Total % change
\$	26,457,593	24,498,778	1,958,815	8.0 %
	711,061	655,654	55,407	8.5
t _	449,062 1,188,190	305,333 1,287,785	143,729 (99,595)	47_1 (7_7)
\$_	28,805,906	26,747,550	2,058,356	7.7 %
	t _	\$ 26,457,593 711,061 If 449,062 1,188,190	\$ 26,457,593 24,498,778 711,061 655,654 t 449,062 305,333 1,188,190 1,287,785	z015         z014         \$ change           \$ 26,457,593         24,498,778         1,958,815           711,061         855,654         55,407           #         449,062         305,333         143,729           1,188,190         1,287,785         (99,595)

8

Required Supplementary Information

#### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2016 and 2015 (Unaudited)

#### Changes in Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Changes in fiduciary net position as of December 31, 2016 were \$37.0 million, which represents an increase of \$48.0 million or 434.0%. This increase is primarily the result of investment gains as compared to investment losses in the prior year. Changes in fiduciary net position as of December 31, 2015 were (\$11.1) million, which represents a decrease of \$38.1 million or 140.9%. This decrease is primarily the result of investment losses in the global equity market in 2015.

	C	Condensed financ	cial information		
Changes in plan fiduciary net position		2016	2015	Total \$ change	Total % change
Total additions Total deductions	\$	67,829,609 30,845,953	17,732,090 28,805,906	50,097,519 2,040,047	282.5 % 7.1
Change in plan fiduciary net position	s_	36,983,656	(11,073,816)	48,057,472	(434,0)%
Changes in plan fiduciary net position		Condensed finance	cial information	Total \$ change	Total % change
Total additions Total deductions	S	17,732,090 28,805,906	53,808,845 26,747,550	(36,076,755) 2,058,356	(67.0)% 7.7
Change in plan fiduciary net position	\$	(11,073,816)	27,061,295	(38,135,111)	(140.9)%

#### **Overall Financial Position of MPAERS**

Due to investment gains in most major asset classes the Plan has experienced an increase in its investment portfolio for the year ending December 31, 2016. Management believes the Plan remains well funded and able to meet its obligations. However, management acknowledges that the investment losses from prior years, coupled with assumption changes, including mortality and interest rates, will result in increased employer contributions going forward. As plan sponsor, the Massachusetts Port Authority bears the investment risk. When plan net position declines, the plan sponsor is statutorily obligated to offset the losses as part of its annual assessment.

Required Supplementary Information

#### Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2016 and 2015 (Unaudited)

#### MPAERS Replacement Plan and Trust

The MPAERS Board established the MPAERS Replacement Plan and Trust (the Replacement Plan) in 2012 to comply with Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Code, The Replacement Plan will provide benefits that cannot be provided under a qualified plan due to the limits of Section 415 on contributions and benefits. In 2016 and 2015, the benefits paid from the Replacement Plan totaled \$6,688 and \$6,298, respectively.

#### Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide an overview of MPAERS' finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report should be addressed to Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System, One Harborside Drive, Suite 200S, East Boston, MA 02128.

Statements of Fiduciary Net Position
December 31, 2016 and 2015

	-	2016	2015
Assets:  Cash and cash equivalents	5	1,327,084	998,540
Investments, at fair value: Common stocks Commingled funds:		19,915,653	17,080,593
Domestic equity Fixed income International equity Real estate Private Equity		149,789,502 161,430,470 156,829,015 41,718,497 31,866,829	133,515,933 164,285,646 130,305,111 49,322,099 30,105,984
Total investments, at fair value		561,549,966	524,615,366
Receivables: Plan member contributions Accrued interest and dividends Other state retirement plans Receivable for securities sold Other		391,441 11,608 1,101,427 148,630 16,649	303,476 14,893 1,360,676 5,556 21,956
Total receivables		1,669,755	1,706,557
Total plan assets		564,546,805	527,320,463
Liabilities: Payables to other state retirement plans Payable for securities purchased Other payables	-	473,898 137,558 329,927	325,112 373,585
Total plan liabilities		941,383	698,697
Net position restricted for pensions	\$	563,605,422	526,621,766

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position Fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

		2016	2015
Additions: Contributions:			
Plan members Plan sponsor	S	10,659,615 13,552,303	9,947,598 10,845,396
Total contributions		24,211,918	20,792,994
Intergovernmental: Transfers from other state retirement plans Section 3(8)(c) transfers, net		511,384 541,183	871,095 640,337
Net intergovernmental		1,052,567	1,511,432
Investment income (loss): Interest and dividends Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value of investments Less management and related fees		8,578,165 35,975,658 (1,988,699)	8,867,576 (11,403,723) (2,036,189)
Net investment income (loss)		42,565,124	(4,572,336)
Total additions		67,829,609	17,732,090
Deductions: Retirement benefits Withdrawals by terminated employees Transfers to other state retirement plans Administrative expenses		28,430,589 548,846 677,051 1,189,467	26,457,593 711,061 449,062 1,188,190
Total deductions		30,845,953	28,805,906
Net increase (decrease) in fiduciary net position		36,983,656	(11,073,816)
Net position restricted for pensions: Beginning of year		526,621,766	537,695,582
End of year	\$	563,605,422	526,621,766

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2016 and 2015

#### (1) Plan Description

The Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System (the Plan) is a single employer plan established on July 18, 1978, effective January 1, 1979, by enactment of Chapter 487 (an amendment to Chapter 32) of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts to provide retirement benefits for substantially all employees of the Massachusetts Port Authority (the Authority), and incidental benefits for their surviving spouses, beneficiaries and contingent annuitants. Prior to this enactment, Authority employees were members of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Contributory Retirement System and the funding of the pension liability was on a "pay-as-you-go" method. Pursuant to this enactment, the employees' then present rights and benefits were transferred to the new retirement system. The Plan is a contributory defined benefit plan to which the Authority and its employees contribute such amounts as are necessary to provide assets sufficient to meet benefits to be paid to plan participants. The Plan is administered by the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System Board (the Board).

At January 1, 2016 and 2015, the Plan's membership consisted of:

	2016	2015
Retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits	749	718
Terminated employees entitled to benefits but not yet receiving them	78	71
Current members:		
Active	1,245	1,191
Inactive	115	74
Total membership	2,187	2,054

Benefits are paid by the Plan from plan assets available for plan benefits. Plan participants are entitled at normal retirement age to benefit payments based upon length of service and earnings levels. Vesting occurs after 10 years of service.

Benefits to participants who retired prior to January 1, 1979 are paid by the Massachusetts State Board of Retirement. The Massachusetts State Board of Retirement is reimbursed for all such benefits paid after December 31, 1978 as these benefits represent obligations of the Plan.

Under Chapter 32, Section 3(8) (c), of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts (Chapter 32), the Plan is reimbursed for benefits paid to participants entitled to receive benefits for previous participation in other Massachusetts Chapter 32 plans. The Plan is also obligated to pay a proportionate share of benefits to participants entitled to receive benefits for subsequent participation in other Massachusetts Chapter 32 plans.

Also under Chapter 32, for members leaving the Authority's employment to work for other Massachusetts governmental units, the Plan transfers their accumulated account balances and creditable service to the retirement system of the new employer. Other such retirement systems are in turn required to make comparable transfers to the Plan for employees coming to work for the Authority.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2016 and 2015

Optional payment methods may be elected, including the contingent annuitant method which provides for reduced payments during the life of the plan participant and continued payments to the participant's beneficiary after the death of the participant.

#### (2) Contributions Required and Contributions Made

Contributions are made by the Authority based on amounts required to be funded as determined by annual actuarial valuations and are designed to fund the Plan on a level cost basis, as a percentage of pay, over the average remaining working lifetime of the active participants and to fund operating costs of the Plan For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, the Authority was required and did contribute to the Plan \$13,552,303, \$10,845,396 and \$11,146,319, respectively. The Authority bears the risk that plan assets might decline due to fluctuations in the market value of the Plan's investments and contributions by the Authority are expected to increase as part of its annual assessment.

Employees who became members prior to January 1, 1975 contribute 5% of their regular compensation through payroll deductions. Employees whose membership commenced on or after January 1, 1975 but prior to January 1, 1984 contribute 7%. Those employees whose membership began on or after January 1, 1984 but prior to July 1, 1996 contribute 8%. Employees hired after July 1, 1996 contribute 9% of their regular compensation. Employees who are hired after December 31, 1978 contribute an additional 2% of regular compensation over \$30,000. These contributions accumulate and, subject to certain restrictions set forth in Chapter 32, are refundable to employees upon termination of employment by the Authority or payable to another retirement system should the employee transfer to another government unit covered by Chapter 32 of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

Contributions totaling \$24,211,918 (\$13,552,303 employer and \$10,659,615 employee) and \$20,792,994 (\$10,845,396 employer and \$9,947,598 employee) were recognized by the Plan for plan years 2016 and 2015, respectively.

The annual contributions by the employer and employees represent 13.3% and 10.4%, respectively, of covered payroll for 2016 and 11.4% and 10.4%, respectively, for 2015. Covered payroll for funding purposes is \$102,262,879 for 2016 and \$95,475,718 for 2015.

#### (3) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

#### (a) Basis of Accounting

These financial statements have been prepared with an "economic resources" measurement focus on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with generally accepted governmental accounting principles

### (b) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on deposit, and highly liquid short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2016 and 2015

#### (c) Investment Valuation

Investments are reported at fair value. Securities traded on a national or international securities exchange are valued at the last reported sales price on the last business day of the plan year; investments traded on a national securities exchange for which no sale was reported on that date and investments in common and preferred stocks traded in over-the-counter markets are valued at the mean of the last reported bid and asked prices, or the last reported bid price. Mutual funds and commingled funds, including real estate and private equity investments, are valued based on net asset value (NAV) or unit value at year-end. Changes in fair value are included in investment income (loss) in the statement of changes in fiduciary net position.

#### (d) Contributions

Employer contributions are recognized when the employer has made formal commitments to provide the contributions. Member contributions are recognized by the Plan as compensation is earned by the Authority's employees.

#### (e) Retirement Benefits

Retirement benefits and refunds are recorded when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the Plan.

#### (f) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of additions and deductions during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from estimates. Fair values of real estate and private equity holdings are generally estimated absent readily available market values, and such estimates may be materially different than values that would have been used if a ready market existed.

#### (g) Other

Purchases and sales of securities are reflected on a trade-date basis. Gain or loss on sales of securities is based on average cost.

Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date. Interest income is recorded as earned on an accrual basis, Income from venture capital limited partnerships is recorded using the equity method of accounting.

The Plan presents in its Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position the net appreciation (depreciation) in the fair value of its investments, which consists of the net realized gains and losses during the year and the change in unrealized appreciation and depreciation during the year on those investments.

#### (h) Investment Policy

The provisions of Massachusetts General Laws (M.G.L.) Chapter 32, Section 23(2) and the Board approved investment policy govern the Plan's investment practice.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2016 and 2015

Diversification is attained through varied investment management styles that comply with Massachusetts state law. This is accomplished through the retention of investment managers that adhere to M.G.L. Chapter 32, Section 23(3), the "Prudent Person" rule.

The Plan has retained an investment consultant to work with the Board in a fiduciary capacity to assure that strategic investment diversification is attained, to employ investment managers with expertise in their respective asset classes, and to closely monitor the implementation and performance of the respective investment strategies.

The Plan is currently invested in stocks (domestic and international), fixed income securities (domestic and international), real estate and private equity.

The target allocation for each major asset class is summarized in the following table:

Asset class	Target allocation
Domestic equity	27.50 %
International equity	27.50
Fixed income	30.00
Real estate	7,50
Private equity	7.50
Total	100.00 %

The Board's current rebalancing policy states that "The Board shall rebalance to the established targets during the quarter following the quarter ended whenever the asset class allocation falls outside the allowable ranges."

#### (i) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The Plan adopted Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016. The scope of this statement is to improve financial reporting by clarifying the definition of fair value for financial reporting purposes, establishing general principles for measuring fair value, providing additional fair value application guidance, and enhancing disclosures about fair value measurements. The adoption of GASB 72 does not materially change the way MPAERS' assets are measured but instead serves to enhance disclosures.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2016 and 2015

#### (4) Deposit and Investment Risks

The following discusses the Plan's exposure to common deposit and investment risks related to custodial credit, concentration of credit, interest rate and foreign currency risks as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.

#### (a) Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a failure of a depository financial institution, the Plan deposits may not be returned. Investment securities are exposed to custodial credit risk if the securities are uninsured, are not registered in the name of the Plan and are held by either the depository financial institution or the depository financial institution's trust department or agent but not in the Plan's name.

Although there is no Plan-wide policy for custodial credit risk associated with deposits, the Plan's investments are held by the Plan's custodian and registered in the Plan's name. All of the Plan's securities are held by the Plan's custodial bank in the Plan's name, except for investments in mutual and commingled funds, real estate properties, and limited partnerships, which by their nature, are not required to be categorized. Investments in the Short-Term Investment Funds (STIF) are held in an SEC-registered pooled fund that is managed by the master custodian bank. The fair value of the position in the pool equals the value of the pool shares.

#### (b) Credit Risk

Credit risk exists when there is a possibility the issuer or other counterparty to an investment may be unable to fulfill its obligations.

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the System's fixed income investments totaled \$161,430,470 and \$164,285,646, respectively. These investments are split between two commingled funds. Both funds are not rated.

There are no Plan-wide policy limitations for credit risk exposures within the portfolio. The Plan's two fixed income investments are managed in accordance with an investment contract that is specific as to permissible credit quality ranges and the average credit quality of the overall portfolio.

#### (c) Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss that may be attributed to the magnitude of a government's investment in a single issuer. The Plan has no investments, at fair value, that exceed 5% of the Plan's total investments as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 other than pooled investments.

#### (d) Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. This risk is managed within the portfolio using the effective duration methodology. It is widely used in the management of fixed income portfolios in that it quantifies to a much greater degree the risk of interest rate changes. While there are no Plan-wide policy limitations as to the degree of interest rate risk taken, the Plan's one actively managed fixed income portfolio has guidelines which specify that the average duration of the Portfolio ranges between plus or minus 1.5 years of the average duration of the Barclays Capital US Aggregate Bond Index. The other fixed income portfolio is

17

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2016 and 2015

In a passive index fund and the investment objective of this fund is to match the return of the Barclays Capital US Aggregate Bond Index. It is believed that the reporting of effective duration found in the tables below quantifies to the fullest extent possible the interest rate risk of the Plan's fixed income assets.

### Interest rate sensitivity – effective duration December 31, 2016

		Fair value	Effective duration (in yrs.)
Fixed income:			
Commingled fund - actively managed	\$	113,608,733	5.02
Commingled fund - passively managed	-	47,821,737	5.89
Total	\$_	161,430,470	

#### Interest rate sensitivity – effective duration December 31, 2015

Fair value	duration (in yrs.)
\$ 114,816,694	5,68
49,468,952	5.65
\$ 164,285,646	
\$	\$ 114,816,694 49,468,952

#### (e) Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely impact the fair value of an investment. From time to time, the Plan's external managers may or may not hedge the portfolio's foreign currency exposures with currency forward contracts depending on their views on a specific foreign currency relative to the U.S. dollar. While there are no Plan-wide policy limitations related to foreign currency risk, the Plan will not manage currency as a separate asset class or enter into speculative currency positions in its portfolios, except as it relates to specific cross-hedging activity, which may be permitted in certain investment manager guidelines. While the System has no investments denominated in foreign currencies, the following represents the investments denominated in U.S. dollars that can be subject to fluctuations in foreign currencies.

Currency		2016	2015
International equity pooled funds (various currencies)	\$	156,829,015	130,305,111

18

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2016 and 2015

#### (f) Rate of Return

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the annual money weighted rate of return on plan investments, net of plan investment expenses was 8.14% and (0.82)%, respectively. The money weighted rate of return expresses investment performance net of investment expenses adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

#### (g) Fair Value Hierarchy

GAAP establishes a fair value hierarchy for investments that prioritizes inputs used to measure fair value into three levels:

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for assets or liabilities;

Level 2 – observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted in active markets, but corroborated by market data,

Level 3 - unobservable inputs that are used when little or no market data is available.

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs and the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs. In determining fair value, the Plan utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible.

Investments held through commingled funds for which fair value is estimated using net asset values (NAVs) as a practical expedient are not categorized in the fair value hierarchy.

The Plan uses an independent pricing source to determine the fair value of investments at quoted market prices.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2016 and 2015

The Plan has the following fair value measurements as of December 31, 2016 and 2015:

		201	6	
	Fair Value	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
Investments by fair value Level:				
Equities	\$ 19,915,653	19,915,653		
	19,915,653	19,915,653		
Investments measured at NAV				
Commingled equity funds:				
Large Cap	131,201,737			
Small Cap	18,587,765			
International	156,829,015			
Commingled fixed income funds:				
Aggregate	47,821,737			
Core Bond	113,608,733			
	468,048,987			
Other investments at fair value:				
PRIT real estate fund	41,718,497			
PRIT private equity	31,866,829			
	73,585,326			
Total investments	\$ 561,549,966	19,915,653		-

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2016 and 2015

			201	5	
		Fair value	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
Investments by fair value Level:					
Equities	\$_	17,080,593	17,080,593		
		17,080,593	17,080,593	<u> </u>	
nvestments measured at NAV: Commingled equity funds:					
Large Cap		116,883,716			
Small Cap		16,632,217			
International		130,305,111			
Commingled fixed income fund	S.				
Aggregate		49,468,952			
Core Bond	-	114,816,694			
	. 2	428, 106, 690			
Other investments at fair value:					
PRIT real estate fund		49,322,099			
PRIT private equity		30,105,984			
		79,428,083			
Total investments	5	524,615,366	17,080,593	- L	

The Plan categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. Equity securities classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in active markets for those securities. The Plan has no securities classified in Level 2 or Level 3.

The PRIT real estate and private equity funds are external investment pools that are not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission, but are subject to oversight by the Pension Reserves Investment Management Board (the PRIM Board). The PRIM Board was created by legislation to provide general supervision of the investments and management of PRIT. The PRIT real estate and private equity funds are not rated funds. The fair value of the PRIT real estate and private equity funds are based on unit value as reported by management of the PRIT funds. The PRIT funds issue separately available audited financial statements with a year-end of June 30. The Plan is required to provide a 24 hour redemption notice for the PRIT Real Estate fund. The PRIT Private Equity fund is not redeemable until notified by the PRIM Board

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2016 and 2015

The valuation method for investments measured at the NAV per share (or its equivalent) is presented on the following table:

	Investments Measured at NAV			
	2016	2015	Redemption Frequency	Redemption Notice Period
Commingled equity funds Commingled fixed income	306,618,517	263,821,044	Daily to Thrice Monthly	1-30 days
funds	161,430,470	164,285,646	Daily	1-30 days

- 1 Commingled equity funds: This type includes 4 funds that invest primarily in U.S. large and small cap equity funds and international equity funds.
- 2 Commingled fixed income funds: This type includes 2 fixed income funds that invest in U.S. corporate bonds, U.S. government bonds, U.S. asset-backed securities and foreign bonds.

### (5) Operating Expenses

The Plan's administrative expenses as shown on the Statements of Changes in Plan Fiduciary Net Position are borne by the Plan and financed with investment income. These expenses include personnel and professional services, member communication and education, and other miscellaneous administrative expenses. Operating expenses are billed back to the Authority dollar for dollar as part of the annual assessment.

#### (6) General Termination Policy

Under Chapter 465, Section 25 of the General Laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts, in the event of dissolution of the Authority by the General Court, participants of the Plan who do not transfer to or enter service in a governmental plan in which a contributory retirement system was established under Chapter 32 shall continue as a member of the Massachusetts Port Authority Employees' Retirement System and shall be entitled to benefits as outlined in the Plan. Effective upon the date of dissolution of the Authority, or default of its obligations under Chapter 32 of the General Laws, benefits to be paid to participants would become obligations of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2016 and 2015

#### (7) Legally Required Reserve Accounts

The balances in the Plan's legally required reserves at December 31, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

All reserve accounts are funded at levels required by state statute.

	2016	2015	Purpose
Anuity Savings Fund	\$ 113,945,54	3 110,772,752	Active members' contribution balance
Annuity Reserve Fund	38,956,54	0 36,477,892	Retired members' contribution account
Pension Reserve Fund	279,236,11	2 339,041,152	Amounts appropriated to fund future retirement benefits
Pension Fund	131,450,94	0 40,315,662	Remaining net assets
Military Service Fund	16,28	7 14,308	Amount appropriated to fund military service time
	\$ 563,605,42	2 526,621,766	

#### (8) Operating Lease

The Plan entered into an operating lease with the Authority on June 1, 2014. The initial term of the lease is 5 years with an option term of 5 years commencing on June 1, 2019. The Plan pays a base rent of \$32.61 per rentable square foot of 2,832 totaling approximately \$7,696 per month and \$92,352 per year. The base rent is subject to escalation annually each October 1st in the term beginning on October 1, 2014 in an amount equal to the greater of (i) 100% of CPI and (ii) 3%.

During the term of the lease, the Plan pays an operating fee for the costs incurred by the Authority's support services to the Plan. The operating fee is \$5,851 per calendar month or \$70,212 per year. The fee is adjusted 5% each October 1st during the term.

The Plan also pays the Authority \$6,338 per calendar month or \$76,060 per year which represents the annualized level of debt service of the tenant fit-out costs amortized over 10 years with interest at 5.2%. The cost to fit out the Plan's space was \$592,114 and \$760,600 with interest.

The Plan also pays the Authority any other amount owed by the Plan to the Authority pursuant to the term of the lease or any other matter arising under the lease including, but not limited to, amounts paid or costs incurred by the Sponsor to cure the Plan's default under or other failure to comply with the lease.

All additional costs associated with the arrangement are billed back to the Authority dollar for dollar as part of the annual assessment.

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2016 and 2015

Total lease expense for the years ending December 31, 2016 and 2015 was \$255,697 and \$246,907, respectively. The following is a summary of the future minimum lease payments under this operating lease obligation:

-	Amount
\$	263,978
	271,167
	92,030
\$	627,175

#### (9) Related-Party Transactions

The Plan invests certain cash in a money market fund, the People's United Bank Short-Term Investment Fund, which is sponsored by the Plan's custodial bank. For plan year 2015, cash was invested in the State Street Bank and Trust Company Short-Term Investment Fund sponsored by the Plan's former custodial bank. The total value of funds held at December 31, 2016 and 2015 was \$1,327,084 and \$998,540 respectively.

#### (10) Net Pension Liability

The components of the net pension liability of the System as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, is as follows:

	1.2	2016	2015
Total pension liability Fiduciary net position	\$	651,927,383 563,605,422	618,536,913 526,621,766
Plan's net pension liability	5	88,321,961	91,915,147
Fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability		86.5%	85.1%

#### (a) Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2016 and update procedures were used to roll forward the total pension liability forward from the valuation date (1/1/16) to the measurement date (12/31/16). The following actuarial assumptions were applied to the periods included in the measurement for 2016 and 2015:

- Inflation 3.0%
- Salary increases 4.5%
- Investment rate of return 7.25%, net of plan investment expense
- Cost-of-living increases 3.0% on a maximum base of \$13,000

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2016 and 2015

#### Mortality:

- Healthy RP 2000 Table (sex-distinct) projected with Scale BB and Generational Mortality.
   Post-retirement the RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) projected with Scale BB Generational Mortality.
- Disabled-RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) and Generational Mortality set-forward 2 years. Mortality for accidental disability is assumed to be 50% from the same cause as the disability.

#### Long-term Expected Rate of Return:

The long-term expected rate of return on plan investments was determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The best estimates of geometric long-term expected real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

	Long-term				
ŕ	expected real				
	rate of return				

	rate of re	eturn
Asset class	2016*	2015**
Domestic equity	5.10 %	5.32 %
International equity	5.29	5.52
Fixed income	2.38	2.33
Real estate	4.90	4,96
Private equity	7.90	8 19

<sup>\*</sup> amounts are net of inflation assumption of 2.32%

#### (b) Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 was 7.25% and 7.25%, respectively. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on those assumptions, the Plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected further benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on the plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

<sup>\*\*</sup> amounts are net of inflation assumption of 2.35%

Notes to Financial Statements December 31, 2016 and 2015

#### (c) Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, calculated using the discount rate of 7.25% as well as what the net pension liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one-percentage point lower or one-percentage point higher than the current rate:

			2016	
		1% decrease (6.25%)	Current discount rate (7.25%)	1% increase (8.25%)
Plan's net pension liability	\$	166,751,848	88,321,961	23,780,095
			2015	
		1% decrease (6.25%)	Current discount rate (7.25%)	1% increase (8.25%)
Plan's net pension liability	8	185,125,035	91,915,147	57,588,212

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios

		2016	2015	2014
Total pension liability Service cost Interest	s	15,920,199 44,961,249	14,875,343 41,160,193	13,055,819 40,955,958
Differences between expected and actual experience Change of assumptions Benefits payments Other		2,591,721 (1,478,780) (28,430,589) (173,330)	(1,394,849) 24,097,914 (26,457,593) 351,309	1,929,282 
Net change in total pension liability		33,390,470	52,632,317	31,583,692
Total pension liability – beginning of year		618,536,913	565,904,596	534,320,904
Total pension liability – end of year (a)		651,927,383	618,536,913	565,904,596
Change in fiduciary net position; Contributions – employer Contributions – employees Net investment income (loss) Benefits payments Administrative expenses Other		13,552,303 10,659,615 42,565,124 (28,430,589) (1,189,467) (173,330)	10,845,396 9,947,598 (4,572,336) (26,457,593) (1,188,190) 351,309	11,146,319 9,627,879 31,932,249 (24,498,778 (1,287,785
Net change in fiduciary net position		36,983,656	(11,073,816)	27,061,295
Fiduciary net position – beginning of year		526,621,766	537,695,582	510,634,287
Fiduciary net position – end of year (b)		563,605,422	526,621,766	537,695,582
Net pension liability – end of year (a)–(b)	\$	88,321,961	91,915,147	28,209,014
Fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability		86.5%	85.1%	95.0%
Covered-employee payroll	\$	106,443,913	99,190,353	94,339,891
Net pension liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll		83.0%	92.7%	29,9%

Note: This schedule is intended to present 10 years of data. Additional years will be presented when available.

See accompanying independent auditors' report.

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
Schedule of Investment Returns

		2016	2015	2014
	money-weighted rate of return, net of estment expense	8.14 %	(0.82)%	6.36 %
Note:	This schedule is intended to present 10 y available.	rears of data. Additional	years will be present	ted when
See ac	companying independent auditors' report.			

# MASSACHUSETTS PORT AUTHORITY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM Regured Supplementary information (Unaudited) Schedule of Conhibitions

		2016	2015	2014	2013	2012	2011	2010	2009	2008	2007
Actuarially determined contribution Actual contribution in relation to actuarially determined	\$	13,552,303	10,845,396	11,146,319	11,960,386	9,594,044	5,709,827	4,923,844	7,620,788	400 730	1,006,403
contribution		13.552.303	10,845,396	11,146,319	11,960,386	9,594,044	5,709,827	4,923,844	7,620,768	400.730	1.006,403
Contribution deficiency (excess)	\$	1			-						_
Covered employee payroll Contributions as a percentage of covered employee payroll	5	106,443,913 12,7 %	99 190,353 10,9 %	94,339,891 11,8 %	90,041,646 13.3 %	87 476 195 11 0 %	85,941,169 6,6 %	89,949,806 5.5 %	89,704,131 8.5 %	85,120,260 0.5 %	79.075.177 1.3 %

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

Notes to the Schedule of Contributions

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

#### Valuation date:

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of January 1, 18 months prior to the end of the fiscal year in which contributions are reported. The January 1, 2015 valuation established the rate for the fiscal year 2017 contribution and the January 1, 2016 valuation established the fiscal year 2017 contribution. The following assumptions were used for the periods included in the funding for 2016 and 2015;

Actuarial cost method: Frozen Entry Age Normal Amortization method: 20 year level, closed Asset valuation method: 5-year smoothed market

Inflation: 3 Salary increases: 4.5%

investment rate of return: 7.25%, net of plan investment expense for 2016 and 7.5%, net of plan investment expense for 2016

Retirement benefits: Depending on age at retirement and "Group" classification 0.1%-2.5% per year of service times highest three year average salary, A five year average salary is used for those hired after April 1, 2012

The cost-of-living base is assumed to be \$13,000. Annual cost of living increases are assumed to be 3.0% of the lesser of the base or annual benefits. Post-retirement cost of living increases:

Withdrawal prior to retirement: The rates shown at the following sample ages illustrate the withdrawal assumption:

Rate of	withdrawal	
Age	Groups 1 and 2	Groups 4
25	2.00 %	0.50 %
30	2.00	0.50
35	2.00	0.50
40	1,50	0.40
45	1,50	0.40
50	1.00	N/A
55	1.00	NVA

Groups discussed above include the following categories of employees:

Group 1 includes general employees including clerical, administrative and technical workers, laborers and all others not otherwise classified.

Group 2 includes Logan gate guards and maritime port officers.

Group 4 includes firefighters, licensed electricians, first – and second class stationary engineers, watch engineers, steam firemen, utility technicians and their supervisors.

Healthy-RP 2000 Table (sex distinct) projected with Scale BB and Generational Mortality. Post-retirement the RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) projected with Scale BB

Generational Mortality

Disabled-RP 2000 healthy annuitant Table (sex-distinct) and Generational Mortality set-forward 2 years. Mortality for accidental disability is assumed to be 50% from the same cause as the disability.

See accompanying independent auditors' report.

Mortality:

Other Supplementary Information Schedule of Administrative Expenses December 31, 2016 and 2015

		2016	2015
Personnel services: Staff salaries Board member stipend Benefits	\$.	404,233 15,000 125,262	389,774 15,161 114,709
Total personnel services		544,495	519,644
Professional services: Actuarial Audit Legal counsel		37,325 65,000 162,230	37,748 52,750 201,785
Total professional services		264,555	292,283
Communication: Printing Postage Education and training Member services		14,710 19,650 24,021 18,038	15,845 18,170 29,559 18,398
Total communication	_	76,419	81,972
Miscellaneous: General and administrative Rent and other Technological support		16,957 255,697 31,344	17,290 246,907 30,094
Total miscellaneous	_	303,998	294,291
Total administrative expenses	s	1,189,467	1,188,190

See accompanying independent auditors' report.

Other Supplementary Information

Schedule of Investment Expenses and Payments to Consultants

December 31, 2016 and 2015

	 2016	2015
Schedule of investment expenses: Investment management fees Investment consultant fees Custodial fees	\$ 1,798,977 133,467 56,255	1,840,135 132,500 63,554
Total investment expenses	\$ 1,988,699	2,036,189
Schedule of payments to consultants* Independent auditors Actuary Legal	\$ 65,000 37,325 162,230	52,750 37,748 201,785
Total payments to consultants	\$ 264,555	292,283

<sup>\*</sup> These payments are presented for analytical purposes, each amount is already included in schedules of administrative or investment expenses.

See accompanying independent auditors' report

